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Chapter 26 

New England Confederation 

Created 

The United Colonies of New England, commonly known as the 

New England Confederation, was a short-lived military 

alliance of the New England colonies of Massachusetts Bay, 

Plymouth, Saybrook (Connecticut), and New Haven formed in 

May 1643. Its primary purpose was to unite the Puritan 

colonies in support of the church, and for defense against the 

American Indians and the Dutch colony of New Netherland. It 

was the first milestone on the long road to colonial unity and 

was established as a direct result of a war that started between 

the Mohegan and Narragansett Indian tribes. 

Its charter provided for the return of fugitive criminals and 

indentured servants, and served as a forum for resolving inter-

colonial disputes. In practice, none of the goals were 

accomplished.  

The confederation was weakened in 1654 after Massachusetts 

refused to join an expedition against New Netherland during 

the First Anglo-Dutch War, although it regained importance 

during King Philip's War in 1675. It was dissolved after 

numerous colonial charters were revoked in the early 1680s.  

John Quincy Adams remarked at a meeting of the 

Massachusetts Historical Society on the 200th anniversary of 

the Confederation's founding:  
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The New England confederacy was destined to a life of less 

than forty years' duration. Its history, like that of other 

confederacies, presents a record of incessant discord-of 

encroachments by the most powerful party upon the weaker 

members, and of disregard, by all the separate members, of the 

conclusions adopted by the whole body. Still the main purpose 

of the union was accomplished. 

Treaty 

The colonies of New England were expanding and growing, and 

their contact was increasing with other European colonial 

settlements, as well as with surrounding Indian tribes. The 

New England colonial leaders, therefore, sought an alliance 

that would allow the colonies to coordinate a collective defense 

of New England. The New England leaders also felt that they 

were unique among the American colonies, and they hoped to 

band together to preserve their Puritan values. The treaty calls 

on the New England colonies to act as a nation, saying that 

they share a way of life and religion. This alliance was meant 

to be a perpetual mode of defense and communication among 

the colonies themselves and with any foreign entities.  

The treaty outlining the alliance contained the following 

clauses, in summary:  

• The colonies should form into a league of friendship 

with mutual military assurance. This relationship 

would ensure the communal safety and welfare of the 

colonies and preserve their Puritan way of life. 

• The New England colonies were to maintain their 

current territory. Their jurisdictions would remain 
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unfettered by the other members of the 

confederation, and any changes made would have to 

be agreed upon by the other members. 

• All members of the confederation were bound to each 

other if war occurred. This meant that they had to 

contribute to the war whatever they were capable of 

in terms of men and provisions. The colonies would 

also be obligated to provide a census of all their 

available men for militia. All men from 16 to 60 were 

to be considered eligible for service. Any gains from 

military conflict were to be divided in a just manner 

among the confederation. 

• If any member of the confederation came under 

attack, the other members must come to their aid 

without delay. This assistance would take place 

proportionally. Massachusetts Bay would be required 

to send 100 armed and supplied men, the other 

colonies 45 armed and supplied men or less, based 

on size and population. If a greater number of men 

or supplies is needed, then the commissioners of the 

Confederation would need to approve of the measure. 

• Two commissioners were to be chosen from each 

province to administer martial affairs. The 

commissioners were to meet once a year on the first 

Thursday in September, rotating the location among 

the colonies. 

• The commissioners would select a president from 

among themselves; he would not have any extra 

powers and would serve a purely administrative 

function. 

• Commissioners would have power to draft law and 

codes that would benefit the general welfare of the 
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Confederation. These laws would be to ensure 

friendly relations among the provinces and security 

for the Confederation. There was also to be 

cooperation between provinces in terms of the return 

of fugitives and runaway servants. 

• No member colony was to undertake any act of war 

or conflict without the consent of the others. This 

would be to prevent smaller provinces from being 

forced to engage in a war that they did not have the 

resources to fight. Any offensive war would need 

approval of six of the eight Commissioners. 

• Four Commissioners could make administrative 

decisions in extenuating circumstances, but any 

decision would have to be within bounds of the 

pledged men and resources. No decision concerning 

bills or levies could be made with less than six 

commissioners present. 

• If any member province of the Confederation were to 

break any of the clauses, then the remaining 

provinces' commissioners were to meet and decide 

upon any further action. 

The Massachusetts General Court and the commissioners from 

Saybrook Colony and New Haven Colony agreed to the treaty on 

May 19th, 1643. The General Court of the Plymouth Colony 

agreed to it on August 29.  

Signatories 

Massachusetts Bay 

• Increase Nowell, Secretary of the General Court 
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Saybrook Colony 

• John Haynes, Commissioner 

• Edward Hopkins, Commissioner 

New Haven Colony 

• Theophilus Eaton, Commissioner 

• Thomas Gregson, Commissioner 

Plymouth Colony 

• Edward Winslow, Commissioner 

• William Collier, Commissioner 

  



Chapter 27 

Kieft's War 

Kieft's War (1643–1645), also known as the Wappinger War, 

was a conflict between the colony of New Netherland and the 

Wappinger and Lenape Indians in what is now New York and 

New Jersey. It is named for Director-General of New Netherland 

Willem Kieft, who had ordered an attack without approval of 

his advisory council and against the wishes of the colonists. 

Dutch colonists attacked Lenape camps and massacred the 

inhabitants, which encouraged unification among the regional 

Algonquian tribes against the Dutch and precipitated waves of 

attacks on both sides. 

This was one of the earliest conflicts between settlers and 

Indians in the region. The Dutch West India Company was 

displeased with Kieft and recalled him, but he died in a 

shipwreck while returning to the Netherlands; Peter Stuyvesant 

succeeded him in New Netherland. Numerous Dutch settlers 

returned to the Netherlands because of the continuing threat 

from the Algonquians, and growth slowed in the colony.  

Background 

The Dutch West India Company appointed Kieft as director 

without obvious experience or qualifications for the job; he 

might have been appointed through family political 

connections. He arrived in New Netherland in April 1638. The 

Massachusetts Bay Colony, Plymouth Colony, Saybrook Colony, 

Mohegan Indians, and Narragansett Indians had defeated the 
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Dutch-allied Pequot tribe during the Pequot War (1636-1638), 

which eased the way for the English to take over the northern 

reaches of New Netherland along the Connecticut River. Peter 

Minuit had been a director-general of New Netherland, but he 

left two weeks before Kieft's arrival to establish New Sweden in 

the poorly developed southern reaches of the colony along the 

Delaware Valley.  

New Netherland had begun to flourish along the Hudson River. 

The Dutch West India Company ran the settlement chiefly for 

trading, with the director-general exercising unchecked 

corporate authority backed by soldiers. New Amsterdam and 

the other settlements of the Hudson Valley had developed 

beyond company towns into a growing colony. In 1640, the 

Company surrendered its trade monopoly on the colony and 

declared New Netherland a free-trade zone, and Kieft was 

suddenly governor of a booming economy.  

Skirmishing 

Kieft's first plan to reduce costs was to solicit tribute payments 

from the tribes living in the region. Long-time colonists warned 

him against this course, but he pursued it, nonetheless. Tribal 

chiefs rejected the idea. Pigs were stolen from the farm of 

David Pietersz. de Vries, so Kieft sent soldiers to raid a Raritan 

village on Staten Island, killing several people. The Raritan 

band retaliated by burning down de Vries' farmhouse and 

killing four of his employees, so Kieft offered bounty payments 

to rival tribes for the heads of Raritans. Colonists later 

determined that de Vries' pigs had been stolen by other 

colonists. In August 1641, a Weckquaesgeek Indian killed 

Claes Swits, an elderly Swiss immigrant who ran a public 
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house frequented by settlers and Indians alike in Turtle Bay, 

Manhattan. Another incident occurred at Achter Kol along the 

banks of the Hackensack River. Settlers and some 

Hackensacks had been drinking alcohol at a trading post when 

a conflict arose over a missing coat which ended in the death 

of the post's foreman.  

The colonists resisted Kieft's Indian initiatives, so he tried to 

use the Swits incident to build popular support for war. He 

created the Council of Twelve Men to advise him, and it was 

the first popularly elected body in the New Netherlands colony. 

The council was alarmed about the consequences of Kieft 's 

proposed crusade, as they had lived in peace with the Indians 

for nearly two decades, and they rejected his proposal to 

massacre the Weckquaesgeek village if the villagers refused to 

produce the Swits murderer.  

The Indians were far more numerous than the colonists and 

could easily take reprisals against their lives and property. 

They also supplied the furs and pelts that were the economic 

lifeblood of the colony. 

The council sought to dissuade Kieft from war, and they began 

to advise him on other matters, using the new Council to carry 

the interests of colonists to the corporate rulers. 

They called for establishing a permanent representative body to 

manage local affairs, and Kieft responded by dissolving the 

council and issuing a decree forbidding them to meet or 

assemble.  

Kieft sent a punitive expedition to attack the village of the 

Indian who had murdered Swits, but the militia got lost. He 
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then accepted the peace offerings of Weckquaesgeek elders. He 

then launched an attack on camps of refugee Weckquaesgeek 

and Tappan on February 23, 1643, two weeks after dissolving 

the council. Mahican and Mohawk Indians in the north had 

driven them south the year before, armed with guns traded by 

French and English colonists, and the Tappans sought 

protection from the Dutch. Kieft refused aid despite the 

company's previous guarantees to the tribes to provide it. The 

refugees made camp at Communipaw in Jersey City and lower 

Manhattan.  

Pavonia Massacre 

Colonists from New Netherland descended on the camps at 

Pavonia on February 25, 1643 and killed 120 Indians, 

including women and children. De Vries described the events 

in his journal:  

Infants were torn from their mother's breasts, and hacked to 

pieces in the presence of their parents, and pieces thrown into 

the fire and in the water, and other sucklings, being bound to 

small boards, were cut, stuck, and pierced, and miserably 

massacred in a manner to move a heart of stone. Some were 

thrown into the river, and when the fathers and mothers 

endeavored to save them, the soldiers would not let them come 

on land but made both parents and children drown. 

About 40 were killed in a similar attack the same night in the 

Massacre at Corlears Hook.  

Historians differ on whether Kieft had planned such a 

massacre or a more contained raid, but all sources agree that 
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he rewarded the soldiers for their deeds. The attacks united 

the Algonquian peoples in the surrounding areas against the 

Dutch.  

Two years of war 

The Dutch began to greatly further arm the Mohawk in 1643 as 

their allies.  

In the fall of 1643, a force of 1,500 Indians invaded New 

Netherland and killed many, including Anne Hutchinson, a 

chief figure in the Antinomian Controversy which ruptured the 

Massachusetts Bay Colony years earlier. The Indians destroyed 

villages and farms, the work of two decades of settlement, and 

Dutch forces killed 500 Weckquaesgeek Indians that winter in 

retaliation. New Amsterdam became crowded with destitute 

refugees, and the colonists increasingly resisted Kieft's rule. 

They flouted paying new taxes that he ordered, and many 

people began to leave by ship. Kieft hired Captain John 

Underhill, who recruited militia on Long Island to go against 

the Indians there and in Connecticut. His forces killed more 

than 1,000 Indians, including 500 to 700 in the Pound Ridge 

Massacre.  

The colonists wrote letters to the directors of the Dutch West 

India Company and the Dutch Republic requesting 

intervention, but they produced no result. Many then banded 

together to formally petition for the removal of Kieft, writing: 

"We sit here among thousands of wild and barbarian people, in 

whom neither consolation nor mercy can be found; we left our 

dear fatherland, and if God the Lord were not our comfort we 

would perish in our misery." For the next two years, the united 
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tribes harassed settlers throughout New Netherland. The 

sparse colonial forces were helpless to stop the attacks, but 

the Indians were too spread out to mount more effective 

strikes. The two sides finally agreed to a truce when the last of 

the 69 united tribes joined in August 1645.  

Outcome 

The Indian attacks caused many settlers to return to Europe, 

and the Dutch West India Company lost confidence in its 

ability to control its territory in the New World. They recalled 

Kieft to the Netherlands in 1647 to answer for his conduct, but 

he died in a shipwreck near Swansea, Wales. The company 

named Peter Stuyvesant as his successor, and he managed New 

Netherland until it was ceded to the English.  

  



Chapter 28 

Maryland Toleration Act 

The Maryland Toleration Act, also known as the Act 

Concerning Religion, was religious tolerance for Trinitarian 

Christians. It was passed on April 21, 1649, by the assembly of 

the Maryland colony, in St. Mary's City. It was the second law 

requiring religious tolerance in the British North American 

colonies and created one of the pioneer statutes passed by the 

legislative body of an organized colonial government to 

guarantee any degree of religious liberty. Specifically, the bill, 

now usually referred to as the Toleration Act, granted freedom 

of conscience to all Christians. (The colony which became 

Rhode Island passed a series of laws, the first in 1636, which 

prohibited religious persecution including against non-

Trinitarians; Rhode Island was also the first government to 

separate church and state.) Historians argue that it helped 

inspire later legal protections for freedom of religion in the 

United States. 

The Calvert family, who founded Maryland partly as a refuge 

for English Catholics, sought enactment of the law to protect 

Catholic settlers and those of other religions that did not 

conform to the dominant Anglicanism of Britain and her 

colonies.  

The Act allowed freedom of worship for all Trinitarian 

Christians in Maryland, but sentenced to death anyone who 

denied the divinity of Jesus. It was revoked in 1654 by William 

Claiborne, a Virginian who had been appointed as a 
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commissioner by Oliver Cromwell; he was an Anglican, a 

Puritan sympathizer, and strongly hostile to the Catholic 

Religion. When the Calverts regained control of Maryland, the 

Act was reinstated, before being repealed permanently in 1692 

following the events of the Glorious Revolution, and the 

Protestant Revolution in Maryland. As the first law on religious 

tolerance in the British North America, it influenced related 

laws in other colonies and portions of it were echoed in the 

writing of the First Amendment to the United States 

Constitution, which enshrined religious freedom in American 

law.  

Origin of the law 

The Maryland colony was founded by Cecil Calvert in 1634. 

Like his father George Calvert, who had originated the efforts 

that led to the colony's charter, Cecil Calvert was Catholic at a 

time when England was dominated by the Anglican Church. 

The Calverts intended the colony as a haven for Catholics 

fleeing England and as a source of income for themselves and 

their descendants. Many of Maryland's first settlers were 

Catholic, including at least two Catholic priests, one of whom 

became the earliest chronicler of the colony's history. But 

whatever Calvert's intentions, Maryland was a colony of an 

Anglican nation. Its charter had been granted by an Anglican 

king and seems to have assumed that the Church of England 

would be its official church. 

Anglican and later Puritan newcomers quickly came to 

outnumber the early Catholic settlers. Thus, by 1649 when the 

law was passed, the colonial assembly was dominated by 
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Protestants, and the law was in effect an act of Protestant 

tolerance for Catholics, rather than the reverse.  

From Maryland's earliest days, Cecil Calvert had enjoined its 

colonists to leave religious rivalries behind. Along with giving 

instructions on the establishment and defense of the colony, 

he asked the men he appointed to lead it to ensure peace 

between Protestants and Catholics. He also asked the Catholics 

to practice their faith as privately as possible, so as not to 

disturb that peace. 

The Ordinance of 1639, Maryland's earliest comprehensive law, 

expressed a general commitment to the rights of man, but did 

not specifically detail protections for religious minorities of any 

kind. Peace prevailed until the English Civil War, which opened 

religious rifts and threatened Calvert's control of Maryland. In 

1647, after the death of Governor Leonard Calvert, Protestants 

seized control of the colony. Cecil Calvert, 2nd Baron 

Baltimore, quickly regained power, but recognized that 

religious tolerance not specifically enshrined in law was 

vulnerable. This recognition was combined with the arrival of a 

group of Puritans whom Calvert had induced to establish 

Providence, now Annapolis, by guaranteeing their freedom of 

worship. Partially to confirm the promises he made to them, 

Calvert wrote the Maryland Toleration Act and encouraged the 

colonial assembly to pass it. They did so on April 21, 1649.  

Description 

The Maryland Toleration Act was an act of tolerance, allowing 

specific religious groups to practice their religion without being 

punished, but retaining the ability to revoke that right at any 
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time. It also granted tolerance to only Christians who believed 

in the Trinity. The law was very explicit in limiting its effects 

to Christians:  

... no person or persons ... professing to believe in Jesus 

Christ, shall from henceforth be anyways troubled, Molested or 

discountenanced for or in respect of his or her religion nor in 

the free exercise thereof within this Province ... 

• —  Maryland Toleration Act, 1649 

Settlers who blasphemed by denying the Trinity or the divinity 

of Jesus Christ could be punished by execution or the seizure 

of their lands. 

That meant that Jews, Unitarians, and other dissenters from 

Trinitarian Christianity who practiced their religions risked 

their lives. Any person who insulted the Virgin Mary, the 

apostles, or the evangelists could be whipped, jailed, or fined. 

Otherwise, Trinitarian Christians' right to worship was 

protected. The law outlawed the use of "heretic" and other 

religious insults against them.  

The law was used in at least one attempt to prosecute a non-

Christian. In 1658, a Jew named Jacob Lumbrozo was accused 

of blasphemy after saying that Jesus was not the son of God 

and that the miracles described in the New Testament were 

conjuring tricks. Lumbrozo did not deny having said such 

things but argued that he had only responded to questions 

asked of him. He was held for trial, but the case was later 

dismissed, and he was given full citizenship as a condition of 

the restoration of Calvert's rule following the English Civil 

War.  
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The law had its detractors, even among those groups protected 

by it. Puritans were concerned that the act and the proprietary 

government in general were royalist. They were also concerned 

that by swearing allegiance to Calvert, who was Catholic, they 

were being required to submit to the Pope, whom they 

considered to be the Antichrist. Some Anglicans also opposed 

the law, believing that the Church of England should be the 

colony's sole established church.  

Repeal and legacy 

In 1654, five years after its passage, the Act was repealed. Two 

years earlier the colony had been seized by Protestants 

following the execution of King Charles I of England and the 

outbreak of the English Civil War. In the early stages of that 

conflict, the colonial assembly of Maryland and its neighbors 

in Virginia had publicly declared their support for the King. 

Parliament appointed Protestant commissioners loyal to their 

cause to subdue the colonies, and two of them, the Virginian 

William Claiborne and Puritan leader Richard Bennett, took 

control of the colonial government in St. Mary's City in 1652. 

In addition to repealing the Maryland Toleration Act with the 

assistance of Protestant assemblymen, Claiborne and Bennett 

passed a new law barring Catholics from openly practicing 

their religion. Calvert regained control after making a deal with 

the colony's Protestants, and in 1657 the Act was again passed 

by the colonial assembly. This time, it would last more than 

thirty years, until 1692.  

Following the Glorious Revolution of 1688 in England, when 

the Catholic King James II of England was deposed and the 

Protestant William III ascended the throne, a rebellion of 
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Maryland Puritan Protestants overthrew Calvert's rule. They 

quickly rescinded the Toleration Act and banned public 

practice of Catholicism, and it would never be reinstated under 

colonial rule. In fact, the colony established the Church of 

England as its official church in 1702 and explicitly barred 

Catholics from voting in 1718. The Calvert family regained 

control over the colony in 1715, but only after Benedict Calvert 

converted to Protestantism. His political control remained 

tense enough that he did not risk an attempt to reinstate 

protections for Catholics. It took until the era of the American 

Revolution for religious tolerance or freedom to again become 

the practice in Maryland.  

While the law did not secure religious freedom, and while it 

included severe limitations, it was nonetheless a significant 

milestone. It predates the Enlightenment, which is generally 

considered to be when the idea of religious freedom took root, 

and stands as the first legal guarantee of religious tolerance in 

American and British history. 

Later laws ensuring religious tolerance and freedom, including 

the British Act of Toleration of 1689, the Holy Experiment in 

Pennsylvania, and laws concerning religion in other colonies 

such as South Carolina, may have been influenced by its 

example. 

According to historian Robert Brugger, "...the measure marked 

a notable departure from Old World oppression." It was not 

until the passage of the signed First Amendment to the 

Constitution over a century later that religious freedom was 

enshrined as a fundamental guarantee, but even that 

document echoes the Toleration Act in its use of the phrase, 
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"free exercise thereof". Thus, despite its lack of a full 

guarantee of religious freedom or broad-based tolerance, the 

law is, "a significant step forward in the struggle for religious 

liberty."  

Charles I of England 

Charles I (19 November 1600 – 30 January 1649) was King of 

England, Scotland, and Ireland from 27 March 1625 until his 

execution in 1649. He was born into the House of Stuart as the 

second son of King James VI of Scotland, but after his father 

inherited the English throne in 1603 (as James I), he moved to 

England, where he spent much of the rest of his life. He 

became heir apparent to the three kingdoms of England, 

Scotland, and Ireland in 1612 on the death of his elder brother 

Henry Frederick, Prince of Wales. An unsuccessful and 

unpopular attempt to marry him to the Spanish Habsburg 

princess Maria Anna culminated in an eight-month visit to 

Spain in 1623 that demonstrated the futility of the marriage 

negotiations. Two years later, he married the Bourbon princess 

Henrietta Maria of France.  

After his succession in 1625, Charles quarrelled with the 

Parliament of England, which sought to curb his royal 

prerogative. Charles believed in the divine right of kings, and 

was determined to govern according to his own conscience. 

Many of his subjects opposed his policies, in particular the 

levying of taxes without parliamentary consent, and perceived 

his actions as those of a tyrannical absolute monarch. His 

religious policies, coupled with his marriage to a Roman 

Catholic, generated antipathy and mistrust from Reformed 

religious groups such as the English Puritans and Scottish 
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Covenanters, who thought his views were too Catholic. He 

supported high church Anglican ecclesiastics such as Richard 

Montagu and William Laud, and failed to aid continental 

Protestant forces successfully during the Thirty Years' War. 

His attempts to force the Church of Scotland to adopt high 

Anglican practices led to the Bishops' Wars, strengthened the 

position of the English and Scottish parliaments, and helped 

precipitate his own downfall.  

From 1642, Charles fought the armies of the English and 

Scottish parliaments in the English Civil War. After his defeat 

in 1645, he surrendered to a Scottish force that eventually 

handed him over to the English Parliament (the "Long 

Parliament"). Charles refused to accept his captors' demands 

for a constitutional monarchy, and temporarily escaped 

captivity in November 1647. Re-imprisoned on the Isle of 

Wight, Charles forged an alliance with Scotland, but by the end 

of 1648 the Parliamentarian New Model Army had consolidated 

its control over England. Charles was tried, convicted, and 

executed for high treason in January 1649, after a show trial 

controlled by the Rump Parliament. The monarchy was 

abolished and the Commonwealth of England was established 

as a republic. The monarchy would be restored to Charles's 

son, Charles II, in 1660.  

Early life 

The second son of King James VI of Scotland and Anne of 

Denmark, Charles was born in Dunfermline Palace, Fife, on 19 

November 1600. At a Protestant ceremony in the Chapel Royal 

of Holyrood Palace in Edinburgh on 23 December 1600, he was 

baptised by David Lindsay, Bishop of Ross, and created Duke 
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of Albany, the traditional title of the second son of the King of 

Scotland, with the subsidiary titles of Marquess of Ormond, 

Earl of Ross and Lord Ardmannoch.  

James VI was the first cousin twice removed of Queen 

Elizabeth I of England, and when she died childless in March 

1603, he became King of England as James I. Charles was a 

weak and sickly infant, and while his parents and older 

siblings left for England in April and early June that year, due 

to his fragile health, he remained in Scotland with his father's 

friend Lord Fyvie, appointed as his guardian.  

By 1604, when Charles was three-and-a-half, he was able to 

walk the length of the great hall at Dunfermline Palace without 

assistance, and it was decided that he was strong enough to 

make the journey to England to be reunited with his family. In 

mid-July 1604, Charles left Dunfermline for England where he 

was to spend most of the rest of his life. In England, Charles 

was placed under the charge of Elizabeth, Lady Carey, the wife 

of courtier Sir Robert Carey, who put him in boots made of 

Spanish leather and brass to help strengthen his weak ankles. 

His speech development was also slow, and he retained a 

stammer for the rest of his life.  

In January 1605, Charles was created Duke of York, as is 

customary in the case of the English sovereign's second son, 

and made a Knight of the Bath. Thomas Murray, a presbyterian 

Scot, was appointed as a tutor. Charles learnt the usual 

subjects of classics, languages, mathematics and religion. In 

1611, he was made a Knight of the Garter.  

Eventually, Charles apparently conquered his physical 

infirmity, which might have been caused by rickets. He became 
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an adept horseman and marksman, and took up fencing. Even 

so, his public profile remained low in contrast to that of his 

physically stronger and taller elder brother, Henry Frederick, 

Prince of Wales, whom Charles adored and attempted to 

emulate. However, in early November 1612, Henry died at the 

age of 18 of what is suspected to have been typhoid (or 

possibly porphyria). Charles, who turned 12 two weeks later, 

became heir apparent. As the eldest surviving son of the 

sovereign, Charles automatically gained several titles 

(including Duke of Cornwall and Duke of Rothesay). Four years 

later, in November 1616, he was created Prince of Wales and 

Earl of Chester.  

Heir apparent 

In 1613, Charles's sister Elizabeth married Frederick V, 

Elector Palatine, and moved to Heidelberg. In 1617, the 

Habsburg Archduke Ferdinand of Austria, a Catholic, was 

elected king of Bohemia. The following year, the Bohemians 

rebelled, defenestrating the Catholic governors. In August 

1619, the Bohemian diet chose as their monarch Frederick V, 

who was leader of the Protestant Union, while Ferdinand was 

elected Holy Roman Emperor in the imperial election. 

Frederick's acceptance of the Bohemian crown in defiance of 

the emperor marked the beginning of the turmoil that would 

develop into the Thirty Years' War. 

The conflict, originally confined to Bohemia, spiralled into a 

wider European war, which the English Parliament and public 

quickly grew to see as a polarised continental struggle between 

Catholics and Protestants. In 1620, Charles's brother-in-law, 

Frederick V, was defeated at the Battle of White Mountain near 
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Prague and his hereditary lands in the Electoral Palatinate 

were invaded by a Habsburg force from the Spanish 

Netherlands. James, however, had been seeking marriage 

between the new Prince of Wales and Ferdinand's niece, 

Habsburg princess Maria Anna of Spain, and began to see the 

Spanish match as a possible diplomatic means of achieving 

peace in Europe.  

Unfortunately for James, negotiation with Spain proved 

generally unpopular, both with the public and with James's 

court. The English Parliament was actively hostile towards 

Spain and Catholicism, and thus, when called by James in 

1621, the members hoped for an enforcement of recusancy 

laws, a naval campaign against Spain, and a Protestant 

marriage for the Prince of Wales. James's Lord Chancellor, 

Francis Bacon, was impeached before the House of Lords for 

corruption. 

The impeachment was the first since 1459 without the king's 

official sanction in the form of a bill of attainder. The incident 

set an important precedent as the process of impeachment 

would later be used against Charles and his supporters: the 

Duke of Buckingham, Archbishop William Laud, and the Earl 

of Strafford. James insisted that the House of Commons be 

concerned exclusively with domestic affairs, while the members 

protested that they had the privilege of free speech within the 

Commons' walls, demanding war with Spain and a Protestant 

Princess of Wales. Charles, like his father, considered the 

discussion of his marriage in the Commons impertinent and an 

infringement of his father's royal prerogative. In January 1622, 

James dissolved Parliament, angry at what he perceived as the 

members' impudence and intransigence.  
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Charles and Buckingham, James's favourite and a man who 

had great influence over the prince, travelled incognito to 

Spain in February 1623 to try to reach agreement on the long-

pending Spanish match. In the end, however, the trip was an 

embarrassing failure. 

The Infanta thought Charles to be little more than an infidel, 

and the Spanish at first demanded that he convert to Roman 

Catholicism as a condition of the match. The Spanish insisted 

on toleration of Catholics in England and the repeal of the 

penal laws, which Charles knew would never be agreed by 

Parliament, and that the Infanta remain in Spain for a year 

after any wedding to ensure that England complied with all the 

terms of the treaty. A personal quarrel erupted between 

Buckingham and the Count of Olivares, the Spanish chief 

minister, and so Charles conducted the ultimately futile 

negotiations personally. When Charles returned to London in 

October, without a bride and to a rapturous and relieved 

public welcome, he and Buckingham pushed a reluctant King 

James to declare war on Spain.  

With the encouragement of his Protestant advisers, James 

summoned the English Parliament in 1624 so that he could 

request subsidies for a war. Charles and Buckingham 

supported the impeachment of the Lord Treasurer, Lionel 

Cranfield, 1st Earl of Middlesex, who opposed war on grounds 

of cost and who quickly fell in much the same manner as 

Bacon had. James told Buckingham he was a fool, and 

presciently warned his son Charles that he would live to regret 

the revival of impeachment as a parliamentary tool. An under-

funded makeshift army under Ernst von Mansfeld set off to 
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recover the Palatinate, but it was so poorly provisioned that it 

never advanced beyond the Dutch coast.  

By 1624, an increasingly ill James was finding it difficult to 

control Parliament. By the time of his death in March 1625, 

Charles and the Duke of Buckingham had already assumed de 

facto control of the kingdom.  

Early reign 

With the failure of the Spanish match, Charles and 

Buckingham turned their attention to France. On 1 May 1625 

Charles was married by proxy to the fifteen-year-old French 

princess Henrietta Maria in front of the doors of Notre Dame de 

Paris. Charles had seen Henrietta Maria in Paris while en route 

to Spain. The married couple met in person on 13 June 1625 

in Canterbury. Charles delayed the opening of his first 

Parliament until after the marriage was consummated, to 

forestall any opposition. Many members of the Commons were 

opposed to the king's marriage to a Roman Catholic, fearing 

that Charles would lift restrictions on Catholic recusants and 

undermine the official establishment of the reformed Church of 

England. Although he told Parliament that he would not relax 

religious restrictions, he promised to do exactly that in a 

secret marriage treaty with his brother-in-law Louis XIII of 

France. Moreover, the treaty loaned to the French seven 

English naval ships that would be used to suppress the 

Protestant Huguenots at La Rochelle in September 1625. 

Charles was crowned on 2 February 1626 at Westminster 

Abbey, but without his wife at his side because she refused to 

participate in a Protestant religious ceremony.  
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Distrust of Charles's religious policies increased with his 

support of a controversial anti-Calvinist ecclesiastic, Richard 

Montagu, who was in disrepute among the Puritans. In his 

pamphlet A New Gag for an Old Goose (1624), a reply to the 

Catholic pamphlet A New Gag for the New Gospel, Montagu 

argued against Calvinist predestination, the doctrine that 

salvation and damnation were preordained by God. Anti-

Calvinists—known as Arminians—believed that human beings 

could influence their own fate through the exercise of free will. 

Arminian divines had been one of the few sources of support 

for Charles's proposed Spanish marriage. With the support of 

King James, 

Montagu produced another pamphlet, entitled Appello 

Caesarem, in 1625 shortly after the old king's death and 

Charles's accession. To protect Montagu from the stricture of 

Puritan members of Parliament, Charles made the cleric one of 

his royal chaplains, increasing many Puritans' suspicions that 

Charles favoured Arminianism as a clandestine attempt to aid 

the resurgence of Catholicism.  

Rather than direct involvement in the European land war, the 

English Parliament preferred a relatively inexpensive naval 

attack on Spanish colonies in the New World, hoping for the 

capture of the Spanish treasure fleets. Parliament voted to 

grant a subsidy of £140,000, which was an insufficient sum for 

Charles's war plans. Moreover, the House of Commons limited 

its authorisation for royal collection of tonnage and poundage 

(two varieties of customs duties) to a period of one year, 

although previous sovereigns since Henry VI had been granted 

the right for life. In this manner, Parliament could delay 

approval of the rates until after a full-scale review of customs 
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revenue. The bill made no progress in the House of Lords past 

its first reading. Although no Parliamentary Act for the levy of 

tonnage and poundage was obtained, Charles continued to 

collect the duties.  

A poorly conceived and executed naval expedition against 

Spain under the leadership of Buckingham went badly, and the 

House of Commons began proceedings for the impeachment of 

the duke. In May 1626, Charles nominated Buckingham as 

Chancellor of Cambridge University in a show of support, and 

had two members who had spoken against Buckingham—

Dudley Digges and Sir John Eliot—arrested at the door of the 

House. The Commons was outraged by the imprisonment of two 

of their members, and after about a week in custody, both were 

released. On 12 June 1626, the Commons launched a direct 

protestation attacking Buckingham, stating, "We protest before 

your Majesty and the whole world that until this great person 

be removed from intermeddling with the great affairs of state, 

we are out of hope of any good success; and do fear that any 

money we shall or can give will, through his misemployment, 

be turned rather to the hurt and prejudice of this your 

kingdom than otherwise, as by lamentable experience we have 

found those large supplies formerly and lately given." Despite 

Parliament's protests, however, Charles refused to dismiss his 

friend, dismissing Parliament instead.  

Meanwhile, domestic quarrels between Charles and Henrietta 

Maria were souring the early years of their marriage. Disputes 

over her jointure, appointments to her household, and the 

practice of her religion culminated in the king expelling the 

vast majority of her French attendants in August 1626. Despite 

Charles's agreement to provide the French with English ships 
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as a condition of marrying Henrietta Maria, in 1627 he 

launched an attack on the French coast to defend the 

Huguenots at La Rochelle. The action, led by Buckingham, was 

ultimately unsuccessful. Buckingham's failure to protect the 

Huguenots—and his retreat from Saint-Martin-de-Ré—spurred 

Louis XIII's siege of La Rochelle and furthered the English 

Parliament's and people's detestation of the duke.  

Charles provoked further unrest by trying to raise money for 

the war through a "forced loan": a tax levied without 

parliamentary consent. In November 1627, the test case in the 

King's Bench, the "Five Knights' Case", found that the king had 

a prerogative right to imprison without trial those who refused 

to pay the forced loan. Summoned again in March 1628, on 26 

May Parliament adopted a Petition of Right, calling upon the 

king to acknowledge that he could not levy taxes without 

Parliament's consent, not impose martial law on civilians, not 

imprison them without due process, and not quarter troops in 

their homes. Charles assented to the petition on 7 June, but 

by the end of the month he had prorogued Parliament and re-

asserted his right to collect customs duties without 

authorisation from Parliament.  

On 23 August 1628, Buckingham was assassinated. Charles 

was deeply distressed. According to Edward Hyde, 1st Earl of 

Clarendon, he "threw himself upon his bed, lamenting with 

much passion and with abundance of tears". He remained 

grieving in his room for two days. In contrast, the public 

rejoiced at Buckingham's death, which accentuated the gulf 

between the court and the nation, and between the Crown and 

the Commons. Although the death of Buckingham effectively 

ended the war with Spain and eliminated his leadership as an 
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issue, it did not end the conflicts between Charles and 

Parliament. It did, however, coincide with an improvement in 

Charles's relationship with his wife, and by November 1628 

their old quarrels were at an end. Perhaps Charles's emotional 

ties were transferred from Buckingham to Henrietta Maria. She 

became pregnant for the first time, and the bond between them 

grew stronger. Together, they embodied an image of virtue and 

family life, and their court became a model of formality and 

morality.  

Personal rule 

Parliament prorogued 

In January 1629, Charles opened the second session of the 

English Parliament, which had been prorogued in June 1628, 

with a moderate speech on the tonnage and poundage issue. 

Members of the House of Commons began to voice opposition to 

Charles's policies in light of the case of John Rolle, a Member 

of Parliament whose goods had been confiscated for failing to 

pay tonnage and poundage. 

Many MPs viewed the imposition of the tax as a breach of the 

Petition of Right. When Charles ordered a parliamentary 

adjournment on 2 March, members held the Speaker, Sir John 

Finch, down in his chair so that the ending of the session 

could be delayed long enough for resolutions against 

Catholicism, 

Arminianism and tonnage and poundage to be read out and 

acclaimed by the chamber. The provocation was too much for 

Charles, who dissolved Parliament and had nine parliamentary 
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leaders, including Sir John Eliot, imprisoned over the matter, 

thereby turning the men into martyrs, and giving popular 

cause to their protest.  

Personal rule necessitated peace. Without the means in the 

foreseeable future to raise funds from Parliament for a 

European war, or the help of Buckingham, Charles made peace 

with France and Spain. The following eleven years, during 

which Charles ruled England without a Parliament, are 

referred to as the personal rule or the "eleven years' tyranny". 

Ruling without Parliament was not exceptional, and was 

supported by precedent. Only Parliament, however, could 

legally raise taxes, and without it Charles's capacity to acquire 

funds for his treasury was limited to his customary rights and 

prerogatives.  

Finances 

A large fiscal deficit had arisen in the reigns of Elizabeth I and 

James I. Notwithstanding Buckingham's short-lived campaigns 

against both Spain and France, there was little financial 

capacity for Charles to wage wars overseas. 

Throughout his reign Charles was obliged to rely primarily on 

volunteer forces for defence and on diplomatic efforts to 

support his sister, Elizabeth, and his foreign policy objective 

for the restoration of the Palatinate. England was still the least 

taxed country in Europe, with no official excise and no regular 

direct taxation. To raise revenue without reconvening 

Parliament, Charles resurrected an all-but-forgotten law called 

the "Distraint of Knighthood", in abeyance for over a century, 

which required any man who earned £40 or more from land 
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each year to present himself at the king's coronation to be 

knighted. Relying on this old statute, Charles fined individuals 

who had failed to attend his coronation in 1626.  

The chief tax imposed by Charles was a feudal levy known as 

ship money, which proved even more unpopular, and lucrative, 

than tonnage and poundage before it. Previously, collection of 

ship money had been authorised only during wars, and only on 

coastal regions. Charles, however, argued that there was no 

legal bar to collecting the tax for defence during peacetime and 

throughout the whole of the kingdom. Ship money, paid 

directly to the Treasury of the Navy, provided between 

£150,000 to £200,000 annually between 1634 and 1638, after 

which yields declined. Opposition to ship money steadily grew, 

but the 12 common law judges of England declared that the tax 

was within the king's prerogative, though some of them had 

reservations. The prosecution of John Hampden for non-

payment in 1637–38 provided a platform for popular protest, 

and the judges found against Hampden only by the narrow 

margin of 7–5.  

The king also derived money through the granting of 

monopolies, despite a statute forbidding such action, which, 

though inefficient, raised an estimated £100,000 a year in the 

late 1630s. One such monopoly was for soap, pejoratively 

referred to as "popish soap" because some of its backers were 

Catholics. Charles also raised funds from the Scottish nobility, 

at the price of considerable acrimony, by the Act of Revocation 

(1625), whereby all gifts of royal or church land made to the 

nobility since 1540 were revoked, with continued ownership 

being subject to an annual rent. In addition, the boundaries of 

the royal forests in England were restored to their ancient 
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limits as part of a scheme to maximise income by exploiting 

the land and fining land users within the reasserted 

boundaries for encroachment. The focus of the programme was 

disafforestation and sale of forest lands for conversion to 

pasture and arable farming, or in the case of the Forest of 

Dean, development for the iron industry. Disafforestation 

frequently caused riots and disturbances including those 

known as the Western Rising.  

Against the background of this unrest, Charles faced 

bankruptcy in mid-1640. The City of London, preoccupied with 

its own grievances, refused to make any loans to the king, as 

did foreign powers. In this extremity, in July Charles seized 

silver bullion worth £130,000 held in trust at the mint in the 

Tower of London, promising its later return at 8% interest to 

its owners. In August, after the East India Company refused to 

grant a loan, Lord Cottington seized the company's stock of 

pepper and spices and sold it for £60,000 (far below its market 

value), promising to refund the money with interest later.  

Religious conflicts 

Throughout Charles's reign, the English Reformation was 

constantly in the forefront of political debate. Arminian 

theology emphasised clerical authority and the individual's 

ability to reject or accept salvation, which opponents viewed as 

heretical and a potential vehicle for the reintroduction of 

Roman Catholicism. Puritan reformers thought Charles was too 

sympathetic to the teachings of Arminianism, which they 

considered irreligious, and opposed his desire to move the 

Church of England in a more traditional and sacramental 

direction. In addition, his Protestant subjects followed the 
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European war closely and grew increasingly dismayed by 

Charles's diplomacy with Spain and his failure to support the 

Protestant cause abroad effectively.  

In 1633, Charles appointed William Laud Archbishop of 

Canterbury. They initiated a series of reforms to promote 

religious uniformity by restricting non-conformist preachers, 

insisting the liturgy be celebrated as prescribed by the Book of 

Common Prayer, organising the internal architecture of English 

churches to emphasise the sacrament of the altar, and re-

issuing King James's Declaration of Sports, which permitted 

secular activities on the sabbath. The Feoffees for 

Impropriations, an organisation that bought benefices and 

advowsons so that Puritans could be appointed to them, was 

dissolved. Laud prosecuted those who opposed his reforms in 

the Court of High Commission and the Star Chamber, the two 

most powerful courts in the land. The courts became feared for 

their censorship of opposing religious views and unpopular 

among the propertied classes for inflicting degrading 

punishments on gentlemen. For example, in 1637 William 

Prynne, Henry Burton and John Bastwick were pilloried, 

whipped and mutilated by cropping and imprisoned indefinitely 

for publishing anti-episcopal pamphlets.  

When Charles attempted to impose his religious policies in 

Scotland he faced numerous difficulties. Although born in 

Scotland, Charles had become estranged from his northern 

kingdom; his first visit since early childhood was for his 

Scottish coronation in 1633. To the dismay of the Scots, who 

had removed many traditional rituals from their liturgical 

practice, Charles insisted that the coronation be conducted 

using the Anglican rite. In 1637, the king ordered the use of a 
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new prayer book in Scotland that was almost identical to the 

English Book of Common Prayer, without consulting either the 

Scottish Parliament or the Kirk. Although it had been written, 

under Charles's direction, by Scottish bishops, many Scots 

resisted it, seeing the new prayer book as a vehicle for 

introducing Anglicanism to Scotland. On 23 July, riots erupted 

in Edinburgh upon the first Sunday of the prayer book's usage, 

and unrest spread throughout the Kirk. 

The public began to mobilise around a reaffirmation of the 

National Covenant, whose signatories pledged to uphold the 

reformed religion of Scotland and reject any innovations that 

were not authorised by Kirk and Parliament. When the General 

Assembly of the Church of Scotland met in November 1638, it 

condemned the new prayer book, abolished episcopal church 

government by bishops, and adopted presbyterian government 

by elders and deacons.  

Bishops' Wars 

Charles perceived the unrest in Scotland as a rebellion against 

his authority, precipitating the First Bishops' War in 1639. 

Charles did not seek subsidies from the English Parliament to 

wage war, but instead raised an army without parliamentary 

aid and marched to Berwick-upon-Tweed, on the border of 

Scotland. 

Charles's army did not engage the Covenanters as the king 

feared the defeat of his forces, whom he believed to be 

significantly outnumbered by the Scots. In the Treaty of 

Berwick, Charles regained custody of his Scottish fortresses 

and secured the dissolution of the Covenanters' interim 
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government, albeit at the decisive concession that both the 

Scottish Parliament and General Assembly of the Scottish 

Church were called.  

The military failure in the First Bishops' War caused a 

financial and diplomatic crisis for Charles that deepened when 

his efforts to raise funds from Spain, while simultaneously 

continuing his support for his Palatine relatives, led to the 

public humiliation of the Battle of the Downs, where the Dutch 

destroyed a Spanish bullion fleet off the coast of Kent in sight 

of the impotent English navy.  

Charles continued peace negotiations with the Scots in a bid to 

gain time before launching a new military campaign. Because 

of his financial weakness, he was forced to call Parliament into 

session in an attempt to raise funds for such a venture. Both 

English and Irish parliaments were summoned in the early 

months of 1640. In March 1640, the Irish Parliament duly 

voted in a subsidy of £180,000 with the promise to raise an 

army 9,000 strong by the end of May. In the English general 

election in March, however, court candidates fared badly, and 

Charles's dealings with the English Parliament in April quickly 

reached stalemate. 

The earls of Northumberland and Strafford attempted to broker 

a compromise whereby the king would agree to forfeit ship 

money in exchange for £650,000 (although the cost of the 

coming war was estimated at around £1 million). Nevertheless, 

this alone was insufficient to produce consensus in the 

Commons. The Parliamentarians' calls for further reforms were 

ignored by Charles, who still retained the support of the House 

of Lords. Despite the protests of Northumberland, the Short 
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Parliament (as it came to be known) was dissolved in May 

1640, less than a month after it assembled.  

By this stage Strafford, Lord Deputy of Ireland since 1632, had 

emerged as Charles's right-hand man and together with Laud, 

pursued a policy of "Thorough" that aimed to make central 

royal authority more efficient and effective at the expense of 

local or anti-government interests. Although originally a critic 

of the king, Strafford defected to royal service in 1628 (due in 

part to Buckingham's persuasion), and had since emerged, 

alongside Laud, as the most influential of Charles's ministers.  

Bolstered by the failure of the English Short Parliament, the 

Scottish Parliament declared itself capable of governing 

without the king's consent, and in August 1640 the Covenanter 

army moved into the English county of Northumberland. 

Following the illness of the earl of Northumberland, who was 

the king's commander-in-chief, Charles and Strafford went 

north to command the English forces, despite Strafford being 

ill himself with a combination of gout and dysentery. The 

Scottish soldiery, many of whom were veterans of the Thirty 

Years' War, had far greater morale and training compared to 

their English counterparts. They met virtually no resistance 

until reaching Newcastle upon Tyne, where they defeated the 

English forces at the Battle of Newburn and occupied the city, 

as well as the neighbouring county of Durham.  

As demands for a parliament grew, Charles took the unusual 

step of summoning a great council of peers. By the time it met, 

on 24 September at York, Charles had resolved to follow the 

almost universal advice to call a parliament. After informing 

the peers that a parliament would convene in November, he 
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asked them to consider how he could acquire funds to 

maintain his army against the Scots in the meantime. They 

recommended making peace. A cessation of arms, although not 

a final settlement, was negotiated in the humiliating Treaty of 

Ripon, signed in October 1640. The treaty stated that the Scots 

would continue to occupy Northumberland and Durham and be 

paid £850 per day until peace was restored and the English 

Parliament recalled, which would be required to raise sufficient 

funds to pay the Scottish forces. Consequently, Charles 

summoned what later became known as the Long Parliament. 

Once again, Charles's supporters fared badly at the polls. Of 

the 493 members of the Commons returned in November, over 

350 were opposed to the king.  

Long Parliament 

Tensions escalate 

The Long Parliament proved just as difficult for Charles as had 

the Short Parliament. It assembled on 3 November 1640 and 

quickly began proceedings to impeach the king's leading 

counsellors of high treason. Strafford was taken into custody 

on 10 November; Laud was impeached on 18 December; John 

Finch, now Lord Keeper of the Great Seal, was impeached the 

following day, and he consequently fled to the Hague with 

Charles's permission on 21 December. To prevent the king from 

dissolving it at will, Parliament passed the Triennial Act, which 

required Parliament to be summoned at least once every three 

years, and permitted the Lord Keeper and 12 peers to summon 

Parliament if the king failed to do so. The Act was coupled with 

a subsidy bill, and so to secure the latter, Charles grudgingly 

granted royal assent in February 1641.  
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Strafford had become the principal target of the 

Parliamentarians, particularly John Pym, and he went on trial 

for high treason on 22 March 1641. However, the key allegation 

by Sir Henry Vane that Strafford had threatened to use the 

Irish army to subdue England was not corroborated and on 10 

April Pym's case collapsed. Pym and his allies immediately 

launched a bill of attainder, which simply declared Strafford 

guilty and pronounced the sentence of death.  

Charles assured Strafford that "upon the word of a king you 

shall not suffer in life, honour or fortune", and the attainder 

could not succeed if Charles withheld assent. Furthermore, 

many members and most peers were opposed to the attainder, 

not wishing, in the words of one, to "commit murder with the 

sword of justice". 

However, increased tensions and an attempted coup by royalist 

army officers in support of Strafford and in which Charles was 

involved began to sway the issue. The Commons passed the bill 

on 20 April by a large margin (204 in favour, 59 opposed, and 

230 abstained), and the Lords acquiesced (by 26 votes to 19, 

with 79 absent) in May. 

On 3 May, Parliament's Protestation attacked the "wicked 

counsels" of Charles's "arbitrary and tyrannical government". 

While those who signed the petition undertook to defend the 

king's "person, honour and estate", they also swore to preserve 

"the true reformed religion", parliament, and the "rights and 

liberties of the subjects". Charles, fearing for the safety of his 

family in the face of unrest, assented reluctantly to Strafford's 

attainder on 9 May after consulting his judges and bishops. 

Strafford was beheaded three days later.  
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Additionally in early May, Charles assented to an 

unprecedented Act that forbade the dissolution of the English 

Parliament without its consent. In the following months, ship 

money, fines in distraint of knighthood and excise without 

parliamentary consent were declared unlawful, and the Courts 

of Star Chamber and High Commission were abolished. All 

remaining forms of taxation were legalised and regulated by 

the Tonnage and Poundage Act. The House of Commons also 

launched bills attacking bishops and episcopacy, but these 

failed in the Lords.  

Charles had made important concessions in England, and 

temporarily improved his position in Scotland by securing the 

favour of the Scots on a visit from August to November 1641 

during which he conceded to the official establishment of 

presbyterianism. However, following an attempted royalist coup 

in Scotland, known as "The Incident", Charles's credibility was 

significantly undermined.  

Irish rebellion 

In Ireland, the population was split into three main socio-

political groups: the Gaelic Irish, who were Catholic; the Old 

English, who were descended from medieval Normans and were 

also predominantly Catholic; and the New English, who were 

Protestant settlers from England and Scotland aligned with the 

English Parliament and the Covenanters. Strafford's 

administration had improved the Irish economy and boosted 

tax revenue, but had done so by heavy-handedly imposing 

order. He had trained up a large Catholic army in support of 

the king and had weakened the authority of the Irish 

Parliament, while continuing to confiscate land from Catholics 
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for Protestant settlement at the same time as promoting a 

Laudian Anglicanism that was anathema to presbyterians. As a 

result, all three groups had become disaffected. Strafford's 

impeachment provided a new departure for Irish politics 

whereby all sides joined together to present evidence against 

him. In a similar manner to the English Parliament, the Old 

English members of the Irish Parliament argued that while 

opposed to Strafford they remained loyal to Charles. They 

argued that the king had been led astray by malign 

counsellors, and that, moreover, a viceroy such as Strafford 

could emerge as a despotic figure instead of ensuring that the 

king was directly involved in governance.  

Strafford's fall from power weakened Charles's influence in 

Ireland. The dissolution of the Irish army was unsuccessfully 

demanded three times by the English Commons during 

Strafford's imprisonment, until Charles was eventually forced 

through lack of money to disband the army at the end of 

Strafford's trial. Disputes concerning the transfer of land 

ownership from native Catholic to settler Protestant, 

particularly in relation to the plantation of Ulster, coupled 

with resentment at moves to ensure the Irish Parliament was 

subordinate to the Parliament of England, sowed the seeds of 

rebellion. When armed conflict arose between the Gaelic Irish 

and New English, in late October 1641, the Old English sided 

with the Gaelic Irish while simultaneously professing their 

loyalty to the king.  

In November 1641, the House of Commons passed the Grand 

Remonstrance, a long list of grievances against actions by 

Charles's ministers committed since the beginning of his reign 

(that were asserted to be part of a grand Catholic conspiracy of 
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which the king was an unwitting member), but it was in many 

ways a step too far by Pym and passed by only 11 votes – 159 

to 148. Furthermore, the Remonstrance had very little support 

in the House of Lords, which the Remonstrance attacked. The 

tension was heightened by news of the Irish rebellion, coupled 

with inaccurate rumours of Charles's complicity. Throughout 

November, a series of alarmist pamphlets published stories of 

atrocities in Ireland, which included massacres of New English 

settlers by the native Irish who could not be controlled by the 

Old English lords. Rumours of "papist" conspiracies circulated 

in England, and English anti-Catholic opinion was 

strengthened, damaging Charles's reputation and authority. 

The English Parliament distrusted Charles's motivations when 

he called for funds to put down the Irish rebellion; many 

members of the Commons suspected that forces raised by 

Charles might later be used against Parliament itself. Pym's 

Militia Bill was intended to wrest control of the army from the 

king, but it did not have the support of the Lords, let alone 

Charles. 

Instead, the Commons passed the bill as an ordinance, which 

they claimed did not require royal assent. The Militia 

Ordinance appears to have prompted more members of the 

Lords to support the king. In an attempt to strengthen his 

position, Charles generated great antipathy in London, which 

was already fast falling into lawlessness, when he placed the 

Tower of London under the command of Colonel Thomas 

Lunsford, an infamous, albeit efficient, career officer. When 

rumours reached Charles that Parliament intended to impeach 

his wife for supposedly conspiring with the Irish rebels, the 

king decided to take drastic action.  
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Five members 

Charles suspected, probably correctly, that some members of 

the English Parliament had colluded with the invading Scots. 

On 3 January 1642, Charles directed Parliament to give up five 

members of the Commons – Pym, John Hampden, Denzil 

Holles, William Strode and Sir Arthur Haselrig – and one peer – 

Lord Mandeville – on the grounds of high treason. When 

Parliament refused, it was possibly Henrietta Maria who 

persuaded Charles to arrest the five members by force, which 

Charles intended to carry out personally. However, news of the 

warrant reached Parliament ahead of him, and the wanted men 

slipped away by boat shortly before Charles entered the House 

of Commons with an armed guard on 4 January. Having 

displaced the Speaker, William Lenthall, from his chair, the 

king asked him where the MPs had fled. Lenthall, on his knees, 

famously replied, "May it please your Majesty, I have neither 

eyes to see nor tongue to speak in this place but as the House 

is pleased to direct me, whose servant I am here." Charles 

abjectly declared "all my birds have flown", and was forced to 

retire, empty-handed.  

The botched arrest attempt was politically disastrous for 

Charles. No English sovereign had ever entered the House of 

Commons, and his unprecedented invasion of the chamber to 

arrest its members was considered a grave breach of 

parliamentary privilege. In one stroke Charles destroyed his 

supporters' efforts to portray him as a defence against 

innovation and disorder.  

Parliament quickly seized London, and Charles fled the capital 

for Hampton Court Palace on 10 January, moving two days 
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later to Windsor Castle. After sending his wife and eldest 

daughter to safety abroad in February, he travelled 

northwards, hoping to seize the military arsenal at Hull. To his 

dismay, he was rebuffed by the town's Parliamentary governor, 

Sir John Hotham, who refused him entry in April, and Charles 

was forced to withdraw.  

English Civil War 

In mid-1642, both sides began to arm. Charles raised an army 

using the medieval method of commission of array, and 

Parliament called for volunteers for its militia. The 

negotiations proved futile, and Charles raised the royal 

standard in Nottingham on 22 August 1642. By then, Charles's 

forces controlled roughly the Midlands, Wales, the West 

Country and northern England. He set up his court at Oxford. 

Parliament controlled London, the south-east and East Anglia, 

as well as the English navy.  

After a few skirmishes, the opposing forces met in earnest at 

Edgehill, on 23 October 1642. Charles's nephew Prince Rupert 

of the Rhine disagreed with the battle strategy of the royalist 

commander Lord Lindsey, and Charles sided with Rupert. 

Lindsey resigned, leaving Charles to assume overall command 

assisted by Lord Forth. 

Rupert's cavalry successfully charged through the 

parliamentary ranks, but instead of swiftly returning to the 

field, rode off to plunder the parliamentary baggage train. 

Lindsey, acting as a colonel, was wounded and bled to death 

without medical attention. The battle ended inconclusively as 

the daylight faded.  
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In his own words, the experience of battle had left Charles 

"exceedingly and deeply grieved". He regrouped at Oxford, 

turning down Rupert's suggestion of an immediate attack on 

London. After a week, he set out for the capital on 3 November, 

capturing Brentford on the way while simultaneously 

continuing to negotiate with civic and parliamentary 

delegations. 

At Turnham Green on the outskirts of London, the royalist 

army met resistance from the city militia, and faced with a 

numerically superior force, Charles ordered a retreat. He 

overwintered in Oxford, strengthening the city's defences and 

preparing for the next season's campaign. Peace talks between 

the two sides collapsed in April.  

The war continued indecisively over the next couple of years, 

and Henrietta Maria returned to Britain for 17 months from 

February 1643. 

After Rupert captured Bristol in July 1643, Charles visited the 

port city and laid siege to Gloucester, further up the river 

Severn. His plan to undermine the city walls failed due to 

heavy rain, and on the approach of a parliamentary relief force, 

Charles lifted the siege and withdrew to Sudeley Castle. 

The parliamentary army turned back towards London, and 

Charles set off in pursuit. The two armies met at Newbury, 

Berkshire, on 20 September. Just as at Edgehill, the battle 

stalemated at nightfall, and the armies disengaged. In January 

1644, Charles summoned a Parliament at Oxford, which was 

attended by about 40 peers and 118 members of the Commons; 

all told, the Oxford Parliament, which sat until March 1645, 

was supported by the majority of peers and about a third of the 
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Commons. Charles became disillusioned by the assembly's 

ineffectiveness, calling it a "mongrel" in private letters to his 

wife.  

In 1644, Charles remained in the southern half of England 

while Rupert rode north to relieve Newark and York, which 

were under threat from parliamentary and Scottish Covenanter 

armies. Charles was victorious at the battle of Cropredy Bridge 

in late June, but the royalists in the north were defeated at the 

battle of Marston Moor just a few days later. The king 

continued his campaign in the south, encircling and disarming 

the parliamentary army of the Earl of Essex. Returning 

northwards to his base at Oxford, he fought at Newbury for a 

second time before the winter closed in; the battle ended 

indecisively. Attempts to negotiate a settlement over the 

winter, while both sides re-armed and re-organised, were again 

unsuccessful.  

At the battle of Naseby on 14 June 1645, Rupert's horsemen 

again mounted a successful charge against the flank of 

Parliament's New Model Army, but Charles's troops elsewhere 

on the field were pushed back by the opposing forces. Charles, 

attempting to rally his men, rode forward but as he did so, 

Lord Carnwath seized his bridle and pulled him back, fearing 

for the king's safety. Carnwath's action was misinterpreted by 

the royalist soldiers as a signal to move back, leading to a 

collapse of their position. The military balance tipped 

decisively in favour of Parliament. There followed a series of 

defeats for the royalists, and then the siege of Oxford, from 

which Charles escaped (disguised as a servant) in April 1646. 

He put himself into the hands of the Scottish presbyterian 

army besieging Newark, and was taken northwards to 
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Newcastle upon Tyne. After nine months of negotiations, the 

Scots finally arrived at an agreement with the English 

Parliament: in exchange for £100,000, and the promise of more 

money in the future, the Scots withdrew from Newcastle and 

delivered Charles to the parliamentary commissioners in 

January 1647.  

Captivity 

Parliament held Charles under house arrest at Holdenby House 

in Northamptonshire until Cornet George Joyce took him by 

threat of force from Holdenby on 3 June in the name of the 

New Model Army. By this time, mutual suspicion had developed 

between Parliament, which favoured army disbandment and 

presbyterianism, and the New Model Army, which was 

primarily officered by congregationalist Independents, who 

sought a greater political role. Charles was eager to exploit the 

widening divisions, and apparently viewed Joyce's actions as 

an opportunity rather than a threat. 

He was taken first to Newmarket, at his own suggestion, and 

then transferred to Oatlands and subsequently Hampton 

Court, while more ultimately fruitless negotiations took place. 

By November, he determined that it would be in his best 

interests to escape – perhaps to France, Southern England or 

to Berwick-upon-Tweed, near the Scottish border. He fled 

Hampton Court on 11 November, and from the shores of 

Southampton Water made contact with Colonel Robert 

Hammond, Parliamentary Governor of the Isle of Wight, whom 

he apparently believed to be sympathetic. Hammond, however, 

confined Charles in Carisbrooke Castle and informed 

Parliament that Charles was in his custody.  
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From Carisbrooke, Charles continued to try to bargain with the 

various parties. In direct contrast to his previous conflict with 

the Scottish Kirk, on 26 December 1647 he signed a secret 

treaty with the Scots. 

Under the agreement, called the "Engagement", the Scots 

undertook to invade England on Charles's behalf and restore 

him to the throne on condition that presbyterianism be 

established in England for three years.  

The royalists rose in May 1648, igniting the Second Civil War, 

and as agreed with Charles, the Scots invaded England. 

Uprisings in Kent, Essex, and Cumberland, and a rebellion in 

South Wales, were put down by the New Model Army, and with 

the defeat of the Scots at the Battle of Preston in August 1648, 

the royalists lost any chance of winning the war.  

Charles's only recourse was to return to negotiations, which 

were held at Newport on the Isle of Wight. On 5 December 

1648, Parliament voted by 129 to 83 to continue negotiating 

with the king, but Oliver Cromwell and the army opposed any 

further talks with someone they viewed as a bloody tyrant and 

were already taking action to consolidate their power. 

Hammond was replaced as Governor of the Isle of Wight on 27 

November, and placed in the custody of the army the following 

day. In Pride's Purge on 6 and 7 December, the members of 

Parliament out of sympathy with the military were arrested or 

excluded by Colonel Thomas Pride, while others stayed away 

voluntarily. The remaining members formed the Rump 

Parliament. It was effectively a military coup.  
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Trial 

• Charles was moved to Hurst Castle at the end of 

1648, and thereafter to Windsor Castle. In January 

1649, the Rump House of Commons indicted him on 

a charge of treason, which was rejected by the House 

of Lords. The idea of trying a king was a novel one. 

The Chief Justices of the three common law courts of 

England – Henry Rolle, Oliver St John and John 

Wilde – all opposed the indictment as unlawful. The 

Rump Commons declared itself capable of legislating 

alone, passed a bill creating a separate court for 

Charles's trial, and declared the bill an act without 

the need for royal assent. The High Court of Justice 

established by the Act consisted of 135 

commissioners, but many either refused to serve or 

chose to stay away. Only 68 (all firm 

Parliamentarians) attended Charles's trial on charges 

of high treason and "other high crimes" that began 

on 20 January 1649 in Westminster Hall. John 

Bradshaw acted as President of the Court, and the 

prosecution was led by the Solicitor General, John 

Cook. 

Charles was accused of treason against England by using his 

power to pursue his personal interest rather than the good of 

the country. The charge stated that he, "for accomplishment of 

such his designs, and for the protecting of himself and his 

adherents in his and their wicked practices, to the same ends 

hath traitorously and maliciously levied war against the 

present Parliament, and the people therein represented", and 

that the "wicked designs, wars, and evil practices of him, the 
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said Charles Stuart, have been, and are carried on for the 

advancement and upholding of a personal interest of will, 

power, and pretended prerogative to himself and his family, 

against the public interest, common right, liberty, justice, and 

peace of the people of this nation." Presaging the modern 

concept of command responsibility, the indictment held him 

"guilty of all the treasons, murders, rapines, burnings, spoils, 

desolations, damages and mischiefs to this nation, acted and 

committed in the said wars, or occasioned thereby." An 

estimated 300,000 people, or 6% of the population, died during 

the war.  

Over the first three days of the trial, whenever Charles was 

asked to plead, he refused, stating his objection with the 

words: "I would know by what power I am called hither, by 

what lawful authority...?" He claimed that no court had 

jurisdiction over a monarch, that his own authority to rule had 

been given to him by God and by the traditional laws of 

England, and that the power wielded by those trying him was 

only that of force of arms. Charles insisted that the trial was 

illegal, explaining that,  

no earthly power can justly call me (who am your King) in 

question as a delinquent ... this day's proceeding cannot be 

warranted by God's laws; for, on the contrary, the authority of 

obedience unto Kings is clearly warranted, and strictly 

commanded in both the Old and New Testament ... for the law 

of this land, I am no less confident, that no learned lawyer will 

affirm that an impeachment can lie against the King, they all 

going in his name: and one of their maxims is, that the King 

can do no wrong ... the higher House is totally excluded; and 

for the House of Commons, it is too well known that the major 
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part of them are detained or deterred from sitting ... the arms I 

took up were only to defend the fundamental laws of this 

kingdom against those who have supposed my power hath 

totally changed the ancient government.  

The court, by contrast, challenged the doctrine of sovereign 

immunity and proposed that "the King of England was not a 

person, but an office whose every occupant was entrusted with 

a limited power to govern 'by and according to the laws of the 

land and not otherwise'."  

At the end of the third day, Charles was removed from the 

court, which then heard over 30 witnesses against the king in 

his absence over the next two days, and on 26 January 

condemned him to death. The following day, the king was 

brought before a public session of the commission, declared 

guilty, and sentenced. Fifty-nine of the commissioners signed 

Charles's death warrant.  

Execution 

Charles's beheading was scheduled for Tuesday, 30 January 

1649. Two of his children remained in England under the 

control of the Parliamentarians: Elizabeth and Henry. They 

were permitted to visit him on 29 January, and he bade them a 

tearful farewell. 

The following morning, he called for two shirts to prevent the 

cold weather causing any noticeable shivers that the crowd 

could have mistaken for fear: "the season is so sharp as 

probably may make me shake, which some observers may 

imagine proceeds from fear. I would have no such imputation."  
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He walked under guard from St James's Palace, where he had 

been confined, to the Palace of Whitehall, where an execution 

scaffold had been erected in front of the Banqueting House. 

Charles was separated from spectators by large ranks of 

soldiers, and his last speech reached only those with him on 

the scaffold. He blamed his fate on his failure to prevent the 

execution of his loyal servant Strafford: "An unjust sentence 

that I suffered to take effect, is punished now by an unjust 

sentence on me." He declared that he had desired the liberty 

and freedom of the people as much as any, "but I must tell you 

that their liberty and freedom consists in having government ... 

It is not their having a share in the government; that is 

nothing appertaining unto them. A subject and a sovereign are 

clean different things." He continued, "I shall go from a 

corruptible to an incorruptible Crown, where no disturbance 

can be."  

At about 2:00 p.m., Charles put his head on the block after 

saying a prayer and signalled the executioner when he was 

ready by stretching out his hands; he was then beheaded with 

one clean stroke. According to observer Philip Henry, a moan 

"as I never heard before and desire I may never hear again" 

rose from the assembled crowd, some of whom then dipped 

their handkerchiefs in the king's blood as a memento.  

The executioner was masked and disguised, and there is 

debate over his identity. The commissioners approached 

Richard Brandon, the common hangman of London, but he 

refused, at least at first, despite being offered £200. It is 

possible he relented and undertook the commission after being 

threatened with death, but there are others who have been 

named as potential candidates, including George Joyce, 
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William Hulet and Hugh Peters. The clean strike, confirmed by 

an examination of the king's body at Windsor in 1813, suggests 

that the execution was carried out by an experienced 

headsman.  

It was common practice for the severed head of a traitor to be 

held up and exhibited to the crowd with the words "Behold the 

head of a traitor!" Although Charles's head was exhibited, the 

words were not used, possibly because the executioner did not 

want his voice recognised. On the day after the execution, the 

king's head was sewn back onto his body, which was then 

embalmed and placed in a lead coffin.  

The commission refused to allow Charles's burial at 

Westminster Abbey, so his body was conveyed to Windsor on 

the night of 7 February. He was buried in private on 9 

February 1649 in the Henry VIII vault in the chapel's quire, 

alongside the coffins of Henry VIII and Henry's third wife, Jane 

Seymour, in St George's Chapel, Windsor Castle. The king's 

son, Charles II, later planned for an elaborate royal 

mausoleum to be erected in Hyde Park, London, but it was 

never built.  

Legacy 

Ten days after Charles's execution, on the day of his 

interment, a memoir purporting to be written by the king 

appeared for sale. This book, the Eikon Basilike (Greek for the 

"Royal Portrait"), contained an apologia for royal policies, and 

it proved an effective piece of royalist propaganda. John Milton 

wrote a Parliamentary rejoinder, the Eikonoklastes ("The 

Iconoclast"), but the response made little headway against the 
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pathos of the royalist book. Anglicans and royalists fashioned 

an image of martyrdom, and in the Convocations of Canterbury 

and York of 1660 King Charles the Martyr was added to the 

Church of England's liturgical calendar. High church Anglicans 

held special services on the anniversary of his death. 

Churches, such as those at Falmouth and Tunbridge Wells, 

and Anglican devotional societies such as the Society of King 

Charles the Martyr, were founded in his honour.  

With the monarchy overthrown, England became a republic or 

"Commonwealth". The House of Lords was abolished by the 

Rump Commons, and executive power was assumed by a 

Council of State. All significant military opposition in Britain 

and Ireland was extinguished by the forces of Oliver Cromwell 

in the Third English Civil War and the Cromwellian conquest of 

Ireland. Cromwell forcibly disbanded the Rump Parliament in 

1653, thereby establishing the Protectorate with himself as 

Lord Protector. Upon his death in 1658, he was briefly 

succeeded by his ineffective son, Richard. Parliament was 

reinstated, and the monarchy was restored to Charles I's eldest 

son, Charles II, in 1660.  

Art 

Partly inspired by his visit to the Spanish court in 1623, 

Charles became a passionate and knowledgeable art collector, 

amassing one of the finest art collections ever assembled. In 

Spain, he sat for a sketch by Velázquez, and acquired works by 

Titian and Correggio, among others. In England, his 

commissions included the ceiling of the Banqueting House, 

Whitehall, by Rubens and paintings by other artists from the 

Low Countries such as van Honthorst, Mytens, and van Dyck. 
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His close associates, including the Duke of Buckingham and 

the Earl of Arundel, shared his interest and have been dubbed 

the Whitehall Group. In 1627 and 1628, Charles purchased the 

entire collection of the Duke of Mantua, which included work 

by Titian, Correggio, Raphael, Caravaggio, del Sarto and 

Mantegna. His collection grew further to encompass Bernini, 

Bruegel, da Vinci, Holbein, Hollar, Tintoretto and Veronese, 

and self-portraits by both Dürer and Rembrandt. By Charles's 

death, there were an estimated 1,760 paintings, most of which 

were sold and dispersed by Parliament.  

Assessments 

In the words of John Philipps Kenyon, "Charles Stuart is a man 

of contradictions and controversy". Revered by high Tories who 

considered him a saintly martyr, he was condemned by Whig 

historians, such as Samuel Rawson Gardiner, who thought him 

duplicitous and delusional. In recent decades, most historians 

have criticised him, the main exception being Kevin Sharpe 

who offered a more sympathetic view of Charles that has not 

been widely adopted. While Sharpe argued that the king was a 

dynamic man of conscience, Professor Barry Coward thought 

Charles "was the most incompetent monarch of England since 

Henry VI", a view shared by Ronald Hutton, who called him 

"the worst king we have had since the Middle Ages".  

Archbishop William Laud, who was beheaded by Parliament 

during the war, described Charles as "A mild and gracious 

prince who knew not how to be, or how to be made, great." 

Charles was more sober and refined than his father, but he 

was intransigent. He deliberately pursued unpopular policies 

that ultimately brought ruin on himself. Both Charles and 
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James were advocates of the divine right of kings, but while 

James's ambitions concerning absolute prerogative were 

tempered by compromise and consensus with his subjects, 

Charles believed that he had no need to compromise or even to 

explain his actions. He thought he was answerable only to God. 

"Princes are not bound to give account of their actions," he 

wrote, "but to God alone".  

Titles, styles, honours and arms 

Titles and styles 

• 23 December 1600 – 27 March 1625: Duke of Albany, 

Marquess of Ormonde, Earl of Ross and Lord 

Ardmannoch 

• 6 January 1605 – 27 March 1625: Duke of York 

• 6 November 1612 – 27 March 1625: Duke of Cornwall 

and Rothesay 

• 4 November 1616 – 27 March 1625: Prince of Wales 

and Earl of Chester 

• 27 March 1625 – 30 January 1649: His Majesty The 

King 

The official style of Charles I as king in England was "Charles, 

by the Grace of God, King of England, Scotland, France and 

Ireland, Defender of the Faith, etc." 

The style "of France" was only nominal, and was used by every 

English monarch from Edward III to George III, regardless of 

the amount of French territory actually controlled. The authors 

of his death warrant referred to him as "Charles Stuart, King of 

England".  
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Honours 

• KB: Knight of the Bath, 6 January 1605 

• KG: Knight of the Garter, 24 April 1611 

Arms 

As Duke of York, Charles bore the royal arms of the kingdom 

differenced by a label Argent of three points, each bearing 

three torteaux Gules. As the Prince of Wales, he bore the royal 

arms differenced by a plain label Argent of three points. As 

king, Charles bore the royal arms undifferenced: Quarterly, I 

and IV Grandquarterly, Azure three fleurs-de-lis Or (for 

France) and Gules three lions passant guardant in pale Or (for 

England); II Or a lion rampant within a tressure flory-counter-

flory Gules (for Scotland); III Azure a harp Or stringed Argent 

(for Ireland). In Scotland, the Scottish arms were placed in the 

first and fourth quarters with the English and French arms in 

the second quarter.  

  



Chapter 29 

English Civil War 

The English Civil War (1642–1651) was a series of civil wars 

and political machinations between Parliamentarians 

("Roundheads") and Royalists ("Cavaliers"), mainly over the 

manner of England's governance and issues of religious 

freedom. It was part of the wider Wars of the Three Kingdoms. 

The first (1642–1646) and second (1648–1649) wars pitted the 

supporters of King Charles I against the supporters of the Long 

Parliament, while the third (1649–1651) saw fighting between 

supporters of King Charles II and supporters of the Rump 

Parliament. The wars also involved the Scottish Covenanters 

and Irish Confederates. The war ended with Parliamentarian 

victory at the Battle of Worcester on 3 September 1651.  

Unlike other civil wars in England, which were mainly fought 

over who should rule, these conflicts were also concerned with 

how the three Kingdoms of England, Scotland and Ireland 

should be governed. The outcome was threefold: the trial and 

the execution of Charles I (1649); the exile of his son, Charles 

II (1651); and the replacement of English monarchy with the 

Commonwealth of England, which from 1653 (as the 

Commonwealth of England, Scotland, and Ireland) unified the 

British Isles under the personal rule of Oliver Cromwell (1653–

1658) and briefly his son Richard (1658–1659). In England, the 

monopoly of the Church of England on Christian worship was 

ended, and in Ireland, the victors consolidated the established 

Protestant Ascendancy. Constitutionally, the wars established 

the precedent that an English monarch cannot govern without 
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Parliament's consent, but the idea of Parliamentary sovereignty 

was legally established only as part of the Glorious Revolution 

in 1688.  

Terminology 

The term "English Civil War" appears most often in the 

singular, but historians often divide the conflict into two or 

three separate wars. They were not restricted to England, as 

Wales was part of England and was affected accordingly. The 

conflicts also involved wars with Scotland and Ireland and civil 

wars within them.  

The wars spanning all four countries are known as the Wars of 

the Three Kingdoms. In the early 19th century, Sir Walter Scott 

referred to it as "the Great Civil War". The 1911 Encyclopædia 

Britannica called the series of conflicts the "Great Rebellion". 

Some historians, notably Marxists such as Christopher Hill 

(1912–2003), have long favoured the term "English Revolution".  

Geography 

Each side had a geographical stronghold, such that minority 

elements were silenced or fled. The Royalist areas included the 

countryside, the shires, the cathedral city of Oxford, and the 

less economically developed areas of northern and western 

England. Parliament's strengths spanned the industrial 

centres, ports, and economically advanced regions of southern 

and eastern England, including the remaining cathedral cities 

(except York, Chester, Worcester). Lacey Baldwin Smith says, 

"the words populous, rich, and rebellious seemed to go hand in 

hand".  
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Strategy and tactics 

Many officers and veteran soldiers had fought in European 

wars, notably the Eighty Years' War between the Spanish and 

the Dutch, which began in 1568, as well as earlier phases of 

the Thirty Years War which began in 1618 and concluded in 

1648.  

The main battle tactic came to be known as pike and shot 

infantry. The two sides would line up opposite one another, 

with infantry brigades of musketeers in the centre. These 

carried matchlock muskets, an inaccurate weapon which 

nevertheless could be lethal at a range of up to 300 yards. 

Musketeers would assemble three rows deep, the first kneeling, 

second crouching, and third standing, allowing all to fire a 

volley simultaneously. 

At times, troops divided into two groups, allowing one to reload 

while the other fired. Among the musketeers were pike men, 

carrying pikes of 12 feet (4 m) to 18 feet (5 m) long, whose 

main purpose was to protect the musketeers from cavalry 

charges. Positioned on each side of the infantry were cavalry, 

with a right wing led by the lieutenant-general and left by the 

commissary general. Its main aim was to rout the opponents' 

cavalry, then turn and overpower their infantry.  

The Royalist cavaliers' skill and speed on horseback led to 

many early victories. Prince Rupert, commanding the king's 

cavalry, used a tactic learned while fighting in the Dutch army, 

where cavalry would charge at full speed into the opponent's 

infantry, firing their pistols just before impact.  
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However, with Oliver Cromwell and the introduction of the 

more disciplined New Model Army, a group of disciplined pike 

men would stand its ground, which could have a devastating 

effect. The Royalist cavalry had a tendency to chase down 

individual targets after the initial charge, leaving their forces 

scattered and tired, whereas Cromwell's cavalry was slower but 

better disciplined. Trained to operate as a single unit, it went 

on to win many decisive victories.  

Background 

The King's rule 

The English Civil War broke out in 1642, less than 40 years 

after the death of Queen Elizabeth I. Elizabeth had been 

succeeded by her first cousin twice-removed, King James VI of 

Scotland, as James I of England, creating the first personal 

union of the Scottish and English kingdoms. As King of Scots, 

James had become accustomed to Scotland's weak 

parliamentary tradition since assuming control of the Scottish 

government in 1583, so that upon assuming power south of the 

border, the new King of England was affronted by the 

constraints the English Parliament attempted to place on him 

in exchange for money. In spite of this, James's personal 

extravagance meant he was perennially short of money and had 

to resort to extra-parliamentary sources of income.  

This extravagance was tempered by James's peaceful 

disposition, so that by the succession of his son Charles I in 

1625 the two kingdoms had both experienced relative peace, 

internally and in their relations with each other. Charles 

followed his father's dream in hoping to unite the kingdoms of 



Pre–United States History: 1600–1699, Volume 4 

719 

 

England, Scotland and Ireland into a single kingdom. Many 

English Parliamentarians were suspicious of such a move, 

fearing that such a new kingdom might destroy old English 

traditions that had bound the English monarchy. As Charles 

shared his father's position on the power of the crown (James 

had described kings as "little gods on Earth", chosen by God to 

rule in accordance with the doctrine of the "Divine Right of 

Kings"), the suspicions of the Parliamentarians had some 

justification.  

Parliament in an English constitutional framework 

At the time, the Parliament of England did not have a large 

permanent role in the English system of government. Instead, 

it functioned as a temporary advisory committee and was 

summoned only if and when the monarch saw fit. Once 

summoned, a Parliament's continued existence was at the 

king's pleasure since it was subject to dissolution by him at 

any time.  

Yet in spite of this limited role, Parliament had acquired over 

the centuries de facto powers of enough significance that 

monarchs could not simply ignore them indefinitely. For a 

monarch, Parliament's most indispensable power was its ability 

to raise tax revenues far in excess of all other sources of 

revenue at the Crown's disposal. By the 17th century, 

Parliament's tax-raising powers had come to be derived from 

the fact that the gentry was the only stratum of society with 

the ability and authority to collect and remit the most 

meaningful forms of taxation then available at the local level. 

So if the king wanted to ensure smooth revenue collection, he 

needed gentry co-operation. For all of the Crown's legal 
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authority, its resources were limited by any modern standard 

to an extent that if the gentry refused to collect the king's 

taxes on a national scale, the Crown lacked a practical means 

of compelling them.  

From the thirteenth century, monarchs ordered the election of 

representatives to sit in the House of Commons, with most 

voters being the owners of property, although in some 

potwalloper boroughs every male householder could vote. When 

assembled along with the House of Lords, these elected 

representatives formed a Parliament. So the concept of 

Parliaments allowed representatives of the property-owning 

class to meet, primarily, at least from the point of view of the 

monarch, to sanction whatever taxes the monarch wished to 

collect. In the process, the representatives could debate and 

enact statutes, or acts. However, Parliament lacked the power 

to force its will upon the monarch; its only leverage was the 

threat of withholding the financial means required to 

implement his plans.  

Parliamentary concerns and the Petition of Right 

Many concerns were raised over Charles's marriage in 1625 to 

a Roman Catholic French princess: Henrietta Maria. Parliament 

refused to assign him the traditional right to collect customs 

duties for his entire reign, deciding instead to grant it only on 

a provisional basis and negotiate with him.  

Charles, meanwhile, decided to send an expeditionary force to 

relieve the French Huguenots, whom French royal troops held 

besieged in La Rochelle. Such military support for Protestants 

on the Continent potentially alleviated concerns about the 
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King's marriage to a Catholic. However, Charles's insistence on 

giving command of the English force to his unpopular royal 

favourite George Villiers, the Duke of Buckingham, undermined 

that support. Unfortunately for Charles and Buckingham, the 

relief expedition proved a fiasco (1627), and Parliament, 

already hostile to Buckingham for his monopoly on royal 

patronage, opened impeachment proceedings against him. 

Charles responded by dissolving Parliament. This saved 

Buckingham but confirmed the impression that Charles wanted 

to avoid Parliamentary scrutiny of his ministers.  

Having dissolved Parliament and unable to raise money 

without it, the king assembled a new one in 1628. (The elected 

members included Oliver Cromwell, John Hampden, and 

Edward Coke.) The new Parliament drew up a Petition of Right, 

which Charles accepted as a concession to obtain his subsidy. 

The Petition made reference to Magna Carta, but did not grant 

him the right of tonnage and poundage, which Charles had 

been collecting without Parliamentary authorisation since 

1625. Several more active members of the opposition were 

imprisoned, which caused outrage; one, John Eliot, 

subsequently died in prison and came to be seen as a martyr 

for the rights of Parliament.  

Personal rule 

Charles avoided calling a Parliament for the next decade, a 

period known as the "personal rule of Charles I", or the "Eleven 

Years' Tyranny". During this period, Charles's policies were 

determined by his lack of money. First and foremost, to avoid 

Parliament, the King needed to avoid war. Charles made peace 

with France and Spain, effectively ending England's 
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involvement in the Thirty Years' War. However, that in itself 

was far from enough to balance the Crown's finances.  

Unable to raise revenue without Parliament and unwilling to 

convene it, Charles resorted to other means. One was to revive 

conventions, often outdated. For example, a failure to attend 

and receive knighthood at Charles's coronation became a 

finable offence with the fine paid to the Crown. The King also 

tried to raise revenue through ship money, demanding in 

1634–1636 that the inland English counties pay a tax for the 

Royal Navy to counter the threat of privateers and pirates in 

the English Channel. Established law supported the policy of 

coastal counties and inland ports such as London paying ship 

money in times of need, but it had not been applied to inland 

counties before. Authorities had ignored it for centuries, and 

many saw it as yet another extra-Parliamentary, illegal tax, 

which prompted some prominent men to refuse to pay it. 

Charles issued a writ against John Hampden for his failure to 

pay, and although five judges including Sir George Croke 

supported Hampden, seven judges found in favour of the King 

in 1638. The fines imposed on people who refused to pay ship 

money and standing out against its illegality aroused 

widespread indignation.  

During his "Personal Rule", Charles aroused most antagonism 

through his religious measures. He believed in High 

Anglicanism, a sacramental version of the Church of England, 

theologically based upon Arminianism, a creed shared with his 

main political adviser, Archbishop William Laud. In 1633, 

Charles appointed Laud Archbishop of Canterbury and started 

making the Church more ceremonial, replacing the wooden 

communion tables with stone altars. Puritans accused Laud of 
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reintroducing Catholicism, and when they complained he had 

them arrested. In 1637, John Bastwick, Henry Burton, and 

William Prynne had their ears cut off for writing pamphlets 

attacking Laud's views – a rare penalty for gentlemen, and one 

that aroused anger. Moreover, the Church authorities revived 

statutes from the time of Elizabeth I about church attendance 

and fined Puritans for not attending Anglican services.  

Rebellion in Scotland 

The end of Charles's independent governance came when he 

attempted to apply the same religious policies in Scotland. The 

Church of Scotland, reluctantly episcopal in structure, had 

independent traditions. Charles wanted one uniform Church 

throughout Britain and introduced a new, High Anglican 

version of the English Book of Common Prayer to Scotland in 

the middle of 1637. This was violently resisted. A riot broke 

out in Edinburgh, which may have been started in St Giles' 

Cathedral, according to legend, by Jenny Geddes. In February 

1638, the Scots formulated their objections to royal policy in 

the National Covenant. This document took the form of a "loyal 

protest", rejecting all innovations not first tested by free 

Parliaments and General Assemblies of the Church.  

In the spring of 1639, King Charles I accompanied his forces to 

the Scottish border to end the rebellion known as the Bishops' 

War, but after an inconclusive campaign, he accepted the 

offered Scottish truce: the Pacification of Berwick. This truce 

proved temporary, and a second war followed in mid-1640. A 

Scots army defeated Charles's forces in the north, then 

captured Newcastle. Charles eventually agreed not to interfere 

in Scotland's religion and paid the Scots' war expenses.  
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Recall of the English Parliament 

Charles needed to suppress the rebellion in Scotland, but had 

insufficient funds to do so. He needed to seek money from a 

newly elected English Parliament in 1640. Its majority faction, 

led by John Pym, used this appeal for money as a chance to 

discuss grievances against the Crown and oppose the idea of 

an English invasion of Scotland. Charles took exception to this 

lèse-majesté (offense against the ruler) and dissolved the 

Parliament after only a few weeks; hence its name, "the Short 

Parliament".  

Without Parliament's support, Charles attacked Scotland 

again, breaking the truce at Berwick, and suffered 

comprehensive defeat. The Scots went on to invade England, 

occupying Northumberland and Durham. Meanwhile, another 

of Charles's chief advisers, Thomas Wentworth, 1st Viscount 

Wentworth, had risen to the role of Lord Deputy of Ireland in 

1632, and brought in much-needed revenue for Charles by 

persuading the Irish Catholic gentry to pay new taxes in return 

for promised religious concessions.  

In 1639, Charles had recalled Wentworth to England and in 

1640 made him Earl of Strafford, attempting to have him 

achieve similar results in Scotland. 

This time he proved less successful and the English forces fled 

the field at their second encounter with the Scots in 1640. 

Almost the whole of Northern England was occupied and 

Charles forced to pay £850 per day to keep the Scots from 

advancing. Had he not done so they would have pillaged and 

burnt the cities and towns of Northern England. 
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All this put Charles in a desperate financial state. As King of 

Scots, he had to find money to pay the Scottish army in 

England; as King of England, he had to find money to pay and 

equip an English army to defend England. His means of raising 

English revenue without an English Parliament fell critically 

short of achieving this. Against this backdrop, and according 

to advice from the Magnum Concilium (the House of Lords, but 

without the Commons, so not a Parliament), Charles finally 

bowed to pressure and summoned another English Parliament 

in November 1640.  

The Long Parliament 

The new Parliament proved even more hostile to Charles than 

its predecessor. It immediately began to discuss grievances 

against him and his government, with Pym and Hampden (of 

ship money fame) in the lead. They took the opportunity 

presented by the King's troubles to force various reforming 

measures – including many with strong "anti-Papist" themes – 

upon him. 

The members passed a law stating that a new Parliament would 

convene at least once every three years – without the King's 

summons if need be. Other laws passed making it illegal for 

the king to impose taxes without Parliamentary consent and 

later gave Parliament control over the king's ministers. Finally, 

the Parliament passed a law forbidding the King to dissolve it 

without its consent, even if the three years were up. Ever 

since, this Parliament has been known as the Long Parliament. 

However, Parliament did attempt to avert conflict by requiring 

all adults to sign The Protestation, an oath of allegiance to 

Charles.  
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Early in the Long Parliament, the house overwhelmingly 

accused Thomas Wentworth, Earl of Strafford of high treason 

and other crimes and misdemeanors.  

Henry Vane the Younger supplied evidence of Strafford's 

claimed improper use of the army in Ireland, alleging that he 

had encouraged the King to use his Ireland-raised forces to 

threaten England into compliance. This evidence was obtained 

from Vane's father, Henry Vane the Elder, a member of the 

King's Privy council, who refused to confirm it in Parliament 

out of loyalty to Charles. On 10 April 1641, Pym's case 

collapsed, but Pym made a direct appeal to the Younger Vane 

to produce a copy of the notes from the King's Privy Council, 

discovered by the Younger Vane and secretly turned over to 

Pym, to the great anguish of the Elder Vane. These notes 

contained evidence that Strafford had told the King, "Sir, you 

have done your duty, and your subjects have failed in theirs; 

and therefore you are absolved from the rules of government, 

and may supply yourself by extraordinary ways; you have an 

army in Ireland, with which you may reduce the kingdom."  

Pym immediately launched a Bill of Attainder stating 

Strafford's guilt and demanding that he be put to death. Unlike 

a guilty verdict in a court case, attainder did not require a 

legal burden of proof, but it did require the king's approval. 

Charles, however, guaranteed Strafford that he would not sign 

the attainder, without which the bill could not be passed. 

Furthermore, the Lords opposed the severity of a death 

sentence on Strafford. Yet increased tensions and a plot in the 

army to support Strafford began to sway the issue. On 21 

April, the Commons passed the Bill (204 in favour, 59 opposed, 

and 250 abstained), and the Lords acquiesced. Charles, still 
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incensed over the Commons' handling of Buckingham, refused 

his assent. Strafford himself, hoping to head off the war he saw 

looming, wrote to the king and asked him to reconsider. 

Charles, fearing for the safety of his family, signed on 10 May. 

Strafford was beheaded two days later. In the meantime both 

Parliament and the King agreed to an independent 

investigation into the king's involvement in Strafford's plot.  

The Long Parliament then passed the Triennial Act, also known 

as the Dissolution Act in May 1641, to which the Royal Assent 

was readily granted. The Triennial Act required Parliament to 

be summoned at least once in three years. When the King 

failed to issue a proper summons, the members could assemble 

on their own. This act also forbade ship money without 

Parliament's consent, fines in distraint of knighthood, and 

forced loans. Monopolies were cut back sharply, the Courts of 

the Star Chamber and High Commission abolished by the 

Habeas Corpus Act 1640, and the Triennial Act respectively. 

All remaining forms of taxation were legalised and regulated by 

the Tonnage and Poundage Act. On 3 May, Parliament decreed 

The Protestation, attacking the 'wicked counsels' of Charles's 

government, whereby those who signed the petition undertook 

to defend 'the true reformed religion', Parliament, and the 

king's person, honour and estate. Throughout May, the House 

of Commons launched several bills attacking bishops and 

Episcopalianism in general, each time defeated in the Lords.  

Charles and his Parliament hoped that the execution of 

Strafford and the Protestation would end the drift towards war, 

but in fact, they encouraged it. Charles and his supporters 

continued to resent Parliament's demands, and 

Parliamentarians continued to suspect Charles of wanting to 
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impose episcopalianism and unfettered royal rule by military 

force. Within months, the Irish Catholics, fearing a resurgence 

of Protestant power, struck first, and all Ireland soon 

descended into chaos. Rumors circulated that the King 

supported the Irish, and Puritan members of the Commons 

soon started murmuring that this exemplified the fate that 

Charles had in store for them all.  

In early January 1642, Charles, accompanied by 400 soldiers, 

attempted to arrest five members of the House of Commons on 

a charge of treason. This attempt failed. When the troops 

marched into Parliament, Charles enquired of William Lenthall, 

the Speaker, as to the whereabouts of the five. Lenthall 

replied, "May it please your Majesty, I have neither eyes to see 

nor tongue to speak in this place but as the House is pleased 

to direct me, whose servant I am here." So the Speaker 

proclaimed himself a servant of Parliament, rather than the 

King.  

Local grievances 

In the summer of 1642, these national troubles helped to 

polarise opinion, ending indecision about which side to 

support or what action to take. Opposition to Charles also 

arose from many local grievances. For example, imposed 

drainage schemes in The Fens disrupted the livelihood of 

thousands after the King awarded a number of drainage 

contracts. Many saw the King as indifferent to public welfare, 

and this played a role in bringing much of eastern England 

into the Parliamentarian camp. This sentiment brought with it 

such people as the Earl of Manchester and Oliver Cromwell, 

each a notable wartime adversary of the King. Conversely, one 
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of the leading drainage contractors, the Earl of Lindsey, was to 

die fighting for the King at the Battle of Edgehill.  

First English Civil War (1642–1646) 

In early January 1642, a few days after failing to capture five 

members of the House of Commons, Charles feared for the 

safety of his family and retinue and left the London area for 

the north country. Further frequent negotiations by letter 

between the King and the Long Parliament, through to early 

summer, proved fruitless. As the summer progressed, cities 

and towns declared their sympathies for one faction or the 

other: for example, the garrison of Portsmouth commanded by 

Sir George Goring declared for the King, but when Charles 

tried to acquire arms from Kingston upon Hull, the weaponry 

depository used in the previous Scottish campaigns, Sir John 

Hotham, the military governor appointed by Parliament in 

January, refused to let Charles enter the town, and when 

Charles returned with more men later, Hotham drove them 

off.Wedgwood 1970, p. 100 Charles issued a warrant for 

Hotham's arrest as a traitor but was powerless to enforce it. 

Throughout the summer, tensions rose and there was brawling 

in several places, the first death from the conflict taking place 

in Manchester.Wedgwood 1970, p. 100  

At the outset of the conflict, much of the country remained 

neutral, though the Royal Navy and most English cities 

favoured Parliament, while the King found marked support in 

rural communities. Historians estimate that both sides had 

only about 15,000 men between them, but the war quickly 

spread and eventually involved every level of society. Many 

areas attempted to remain neutral. Some formed bands of 
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Clubmen to protect their localities from the worst excesses of 

the armies of both sides, but most found it impossible to 

withstand both King and Parliament. On one side, the King and 

his supporters fought for traditional government in church and 

state, while on the other, most Parliamentarians initially took 

up arms to defend what they saw as a traditional balance of 

government in church and state, which the bad advice the King 

received from his advisers had undermined before and during 

the "Eleven Years' Tyranny". 

The views of the members of Parliament ranged from 

unquestioning support of the King – at one point during the 

First Civil War, more members of the Commons and Lords 

gathered in the King's Oxford Parliament than at Westminster 

— through to radicals who sought major reforms in religious 

independence and redistribution of power at a national level. 

However, even the most radical Parliamentarian supporters 

still favoured keeping Charles on the throne.  

After the debacle at Hull, Charles moved on to Nottingham, 

raising the royal standard there on 22 August 1642. At the 

time, Charles had with him about 2,000 cavalry and a small 

number of Yorkshire infantrymen, and using the archaic 

system of a Commission of Array, his supporters started to 

build a larger army around the standard. Charles moved in a 

westerly direction, first to Stafford, then on to Shrewsbury, as 

support for his cause seemed particularly strong in the Severn 

valley area and in North Wales. While passing through 

Wellington, he declared in what became known as the 

"Wellington Declaration" that he would uphold the "Protestant 

religion, the laws of England, and the liberty of Parliament".  
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The Parliamentarians who opposed the King did not remain 

passive in this pre-war period. As in Hull, they took measures 

to secure strategic towns and cities by appointing to office men 

sympathetic to their cause. On 9 June they voted to raise an 

army of 10,000 volunteers and appointed Robert Devereux, 3rd 

Earl of Essex its commander three days later. He received 

orders "to rescue His Majesty's person, and the persons of the 

Prince [of Wales] and the Duke of York [James II] out of the 

hands of those desperate persons who were about them." The 

Lords Lieutenant whom Parliament appointed used the Militia 

Ordinance to order the militia to join Essex's army.  

Two weeks after the King had raised his standard at 

Nottingham, Essex led his army north towards Northampton, 

picking up support along the way (including a detachment of 

Huntingdonshire cavalry raised and commanded by Oliver 

Cromwell). By mid-September Essex's forces had grown to 

21,000 infantry and 4,200 cavalry and dragoons. 

On 14 September he moved his army to Coventry and then to 

the north of the Cotswolds,Wedgwood 1970, p. 115 a strategy 

that placed it between the Royalists and London. With the size 

of both armies now in the tens of thousands and only 

Worcestershire between them, it was inevitable that cavalry 

reconnaissance units would meet sooner or later. This 

happened in the first major skirmish of the Civil War, when a 

troop of about 1,000 Royalist cavalry under Prince Rupert, a 

German nephew of the King and one of the outstanding cavalry 

commanders of the war, defeated a Parliamentary cavalry 

detachment under Colonel John Brown at the Battle of Powick 

Bridge, which crossed the River Teme close to Worcester.  
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Rupert withdrew to Shrewsbury, where a council-of-war 

discussed two courses of action: whether to advance towards 

Essex's new position near Worcester, or march down the now 

open road towards London. 

The Council decided on the London route, but not to avoid a 

battle, for the Royalist generals wanted to fight Essex before he 

grew too strong, and the temper of both sides made it 

impossible to postpone the decision. In the Earl of Clarendon's 

words, "it was considered more counsellable to march towards 

London, it being morally sure that the earl of Essex would put 

himself in their way." So the army left Shrewsbury on 12 

October, gaining two days' start on the enemy, and moved 

south-east. This had the desired effect of forcing Essex to move 

to intercept them.  

The first pitched battle of the war, at Edgehill on 23 October 

1642, proved inconclusive, both Royalists and 

Parliamentarians claiming victory. The second field action, the 

stand-off at Turnham Green, saw Charles forced to withdraw to 

Oxford, which would serve as his base for the rest of the war.  

In 1643, Royalist forces won at Adwalton Moor, gaining control 

of most of Yorkshire. In the Midlands, a Parliamentary force 

under Sir John Gell besieged and captured the cathedral city 

of Lichfield, after the death of the original commander, Lord 

Brooke. 

This group then joined forces with Sir William Brereton at the 

inconclusive Battle of Hopton Heath (19 March 1643), where 

the Royalist commander, the Earl of Northampton, was killed. 

John Hampden died after being wounded in the Battle of 

Chalgrove Field (18 June 1643). Subsequent battles in the west 
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of England at Lansdowne and Roundway Down also went to the 

Royalists. Prince Rupert could then take Bristol. In the same 

year, however, Cromwell formed his troop of "Ironsides", a 

disciplined unit that demonstrated his military leadership 

ability. With their assistance he won a victory at the Battle of 

Gainsborough in July.  

At this stage, from 7 to 9 August 1643, there were some 

popular demonstrations in London – both for and against war. 

They were protesting at Westminster. A peace demonstration by 

London women, which turned violent, was suppressed; the 

women were beaten and fired upon with live ammunition, 

leaving several dead. Many were arrested and incarcerated in 

Bridewell and other prisons. After these August events, the 

Venetian ambassador in England reported to the doge that the 

London government took considerable measures to stifle 

dissent.  

• In general, the early part of the war went well for the 

Royalists. The turning point came in the late summer 

and early autumn of 1643, when the Earl of Essex's 

army forced the king to raise the Siege of Gloucester 

and then brushed the Royalists aside at the First 

Battle of Newbury (20 September 1643), to return 

triumphantly to London. Parliamentarian forces led 

by the Earl of Manchester besieged the port of King's 

Lynn, Norfolk, which under Sir Hamon L'Estrange 

held out until September. Other forces won the 

Battle of Winceby, giving them control of Lincoln. 

Political manœuvring to gain an advantage in 

numbers led Charles to negotiate a ceasefire in 

Ireland, freeing up English troops to fight on the 
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Royalist side in England, while Parliament offered 

concessions to the Scots in return for aid and 

assistance.  

Helped by the Scots, Parliament won at Marston Moor (2 July 

1644), gaining York and the north of England. Cromwell's 

conduct in the battle proved decisive, and showed his potential 

as a political and as an important military leader. The defeat at 

the Battle of Lostwithiel in Cornwall, however, marked a 

serious reverse for Parliament in the south-west of England. 

Subsequent fighting around Newbury (27 October 1644), 

though tactically indecisive, strategically gave another check to 

Parliament.  

In 1645, Parliament reaffirmed its determination to fight the 

war to a finish. It passed the Self-denying Ordinance, by which 

all members of either House of Parliament laid down their 

commands and re-organized its main forces into the New Model 

Army, under the command of Sir Thomas Fairfax, with 

Cromwell as his second-in-command and Lieutenant-General of 

Horse. In two decisive engagements – the Battle of Naseby on 

14 June and the Battle of Langport on 10 July – the 

Parliamentarians effectively destroyed Charles's armies.  

In the remains of his English realm, Charles tried to recover a 

stable base of support by consolidating the Midlands. He began 

to form an axis between Oxford and Newark-on-Trent in 

Nottinghamshire. These towns had become fortresses and 

showed more reliable loyalty to him than others. He took 

Leicester, which lies between them, but found his resources 

exhausted. Having little opportunity to replenish them, in May 

1646 he sought shelter with a Presbyterian Scottish army at 
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Southwell in Nottinghamshire. Charles was eventually handed 

over to the English Parliament by the Scots and imprisoned. 

This marked the end of the First English Civil War.  

Interbellum 

The end of the First Civil War, in 1646, left a partial power 

vacuum in which any combination of the three English 

factions, Royalists, Independents of the New Model Army ("the 

Army"), and Presbyterians of the English Parliament, as well as 

the Scottish Parliament allied with the Scottish Presbyterians 

(the "Kirk"), could prove strong enough to dominate the rest. 

Armed political Royalism was at an end, but despite being a 

prisoner, Charles I was considered by himself and his 

opponents (almost to the last) as necessary to ensure the 

success of whichever group could come to terms with him. 

Thus he passed successively into the hands of the Scots, the 

Parliament and the Army. 

The King attempted to reverse the verdict of arms by 

"coquetting" with each in turn. On 3 June 1647, Cornet George 

Joyce of Thomas Fairfax's horse seized the King for the Army, 

after which the English Presbyterians and the Scots began to 

prepare for a fresh civil war, less than two years after the 

conclusion of the first, this time against "Independency", as 

embodied in the Army. After making use of the Army's sword, 

its opponents attempted to disband it, to send it on foreign 

service and to cut off its arrears of pay. The result was that the 

Army leadership was exasperated beyond control, and, 

remembering not merely their grievances but also the principle 

for which the Army had fought, it soon became the most 

powerful political force in the realm. From 1646 to 1648 the 
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breach between Army and Parliament widened day by day until 

finally the Presbyterian party, combined with the Scots and the 

remaining Royalists, felt itself strong enough to begin a Second 

Civil War.  

Second English Civil War (1648–1649) 

Charles I took advantage of the deflection of attention away 

from himself to negotiate on 28 December 1647 a secret treaty 

with the Scots, again promising church reform. Under the 

agreement, called the "Engagement", the Scots undertook to 

invade England on Charles's behalf and restore him to the 

throne on condition of the establishment of Presbyterianism 

within three years.  

A series of Royalist uprisings throughout England and a 

Scottish invasion occurred in the summer of 1648. Forces loyal 

to Parliament put down most of those in England after little 

more than a skirmish, but uprisings in Kent, Essex and 

Cumberland, the rebellion in Wales, and the Scottish invasion 

involved pitched battles and prolonged sieges.  

In the spring of 1648, unpaid Parliamentarian troops in Wales 

changed sides. Colonel Thomas Horton defeated the Royalist 

rebels at the Battle of St Fagans (8 May) and the rebel leaders 

surrendered to Cromwell on 11 July after a protracted two-

month siege of Pembroke. Sir Thomas Fairfax defeated a 

Royalist uprising in Kent at the Battle of Maidstone on 1 June. 

Fairfax, after his success at Maidstone and the pacification of 

Kent, turned north to reduce Essex, where, under an ardent, 

experienced and popular leader, Sir Charles Lucas, the 

Royalists had taken up arms in great numbers. Fairfax soon 
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drove the enemy into Colchester, but his first attack on the 

town met with a repulse and he had to settle down to a long 

siege.  

In the North of England, Major-General John Lambert fought a 

successful campaign against several Royalist uprisings, the 

largest being that of Sir Marmaduke Langdale in Cumberland. 

Thanks to Lambert's successes, the Scottish commander, the 

Duke of Hamilton, had to take a western route through Carlisle 

in his pro-Royalist Scottish invasion of England. The 

Parliamentarians under Cromwell engaged the Scots at the 

Battle of Preston (17–19 August). The battle took place largely 

at Walton-le-Dale near Preston, Lancashire, and resulted in a 

victory for Cromwell's troops over the Royalists and Scots 

commanded by Hamilton. This victory marked the end of the 

Second English Civil War.  

Nearly all the Royalists who had fought in the First Civil War 

had given their word not to bear arms against Parliament, and 

many, like Lord Astley, were therefore bound by oath not to 

take any part in the second conflict. So the victors in the 

Second Civil War showed little mercy to those who had brought 

war into the land again. 

On the evening of the surrender of Colchester, 

Parliamentarians had Sir Charles Lucas and Sir George Lisle 

shot. Parliamentary authorities sentenced the leaders of the 

Welsh rebels, Major-General Rowland Laugharne, Colonel John 

Poyer and Colonel Rice Powel to death, but executed only Poyer 

(25 April 1649), having selected him by lot. Of five prominent 

Royalist peers who had fallen into Parliamentary hands, three 

– the Duke of Hamilton, the Earl of Holland, and Lord Capel, 
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one of the Colchester prisoners and a man of high character – 

were beheaded at Westminster on 9 March.  

Trial of Charles I for treason 

Charles's secret pacts and encouragement of supporters to 

break their parole caused Parliament to debate whether to 

return the King to power at all. Those who still supported 

Charles's place on the throne, such as the army leader and 

moderate Fairfax, tried again to negotiate with him. The Army, 

furious that Parliament continued to countenance Charles as a 

ruler, then marched on Parliament and conducted "Pride's 

Purge" (named after the commanding officer of the operation, 

Thomas Pride) in December 1648. Troops arrested 45 members 

and kept 146 out of the chamber. They allowed only 75 

members in, and then only at the Army's bidding. This Rump 

Parliament received orders to set up, in the name of the people 

of England, a High Court of Justice for the trial of Charles I for 

treason. Fairfax, a constitutional monarchist, declined to have 

anything to do with the trial. He resigned as head of the army, 

so clearing Cromwell's road to power.  

At the end of the trial the 59 Commissioners (judges) found 

Charles I guilty of high treason as a "tyrant, traitor, murderer 

and public enemy". His beheading took place on a scaffold in 

front of the Banqueting House of the Palace of Whitehall on 30 

January 1649. After the Restoration in 1660, nine of the 

surviving regicides not living in exile were executed and most 

others sentenced to life imprisonment.  

After the regicide, Charles, Prince of Wales as the eldest son 

was publicly proclaimed King Charles II in the Royal Square of 
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St. Helier, Jersey, on 17 February 1649 (after a first such 

proclamation in Edinburgh on 5 February 1649). It took longer 

for the news to reach the trans-Atlantic colonies, with the 

Somers Isles (also known as Bermuda) becoming the first to 

proclaim Charles II King on 5 July, 1649.  

Third English Civil War (1649–1651) 

Ireland 

Ireland had undergone continual war since the rebellion of 

1641, with most of the island controlled by the Irish 

Confederates. Increasingly threatened by the armies of the 

English Parliament after Charles I's arrest in 1648, the 

Confederates signed a treaty of alliance with the English 

Royalists. 

The joint Royalist and Confederate forces under the Duke of 

Ormonde tried to eliminate the Parliamentary army holding 

Dublin by laying siege, but their opponents routed them at the 

Battle of Rathmines (2 August 1649). As the former Member of 

Parliament Admiral Robert Blake blockaded Prince Rupert's 

fleet in Kinsale, Cromwell could land at Dublin on 15 August 

1649 with an army to quell the Royalist alliance.  

Cromwell's suppression of the Royalists in Ireland in 1649 is 

still remembered by many Irish people. After the Siege of 

Drogheda, the massacre of nearly 3,500 people – around 2,700 

Royalist soldiers and 700 others, including civilians, prisoners 

and Catholic priests (Cromwell claimed all had carried arms) – 

became one of the historical memories that has driven Irish-

English and Catholic-Protestant strife during the last three 
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centuries. The Parliamentarian conquest of Ireland ground on 

for another four years until 1653, when the last Irish 

Confederate and Royalist troops surrendered. In the wake of 

the conquest, the victors confiscated almost all Irish Catholic-

owned land and distributed it to Parliament's creditors, to 

Parliamentary soldiers who served in Ireland, and to English 

who had settled there before the war.  

Scotland 

• The execution of Charles I altered the dynamics of 

the Civil War in Scotland, which had raged between 

Royalists and Covenanters since 1644. By 1649, the 

struggle had left the Royalists there in disarray and 

their erstwhile leader, the Marquess of Montrose, 

had gone into exile. At first, Charles II encouraged 

Montrose to raise a Highland army to fight on the 

Royalist side. However, when the Scottish 

Covenanters (who did not agree with the execution of 

Charles I and who feared for the future of 

Presbyterianism under the new Commonwealth) 

offered him the crown of Scotland, Charles 

abandoned Montrose to his enemies. However, 

Montrose, who had raised a mercenary force in 

Norway, had already landed and could not abandon 

the fight. He did not succeed in raising many 

Highland clans and the Covenanters defeated his 

army at the Battle of Carbisdale in Ross-shire on 27 

April 1650. The victors captured Montrose shortly 

afterwards and took him to Edinburgh. On 20 May 

the Scottish Parliament sentenced him to death and 

had him hanged the next day. 
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Charles II landed in Scotland at Garmouth in Morayshire on 23 

June 1650 and signed the 1638 National Covenant and the 

1643 Solemn League and Covenant shortly after coming 

ashore. With his original Scottish Royalist followers and his 

new Covenanter allies, Charles II became the greatest threat 

facing the new English republic. In response to the threat, 

Cromwell left some of his lieutenants in Ireland to continue the 

suppression of the Irish Royalists and returned to England.  

He arrived in Scotland on 22 July 1650 and proceeded to lay 

siege to Edinburgh. By the end of August, disease and a 

shortage of supplies had reduced his army, and he had to 

order a retreat towards his base at Dunbar. A Scottish army 

under the command of David Leslie tried to block the retreat, 

but Cromwell defeated them at the Battle of Dunbar on 3 

September. Cromwell's army then took Edinburgh, and by the 

end of the year his army had occupied much of southern 

Scotland.  

In July 1651, Cromwell's forces crossed the Firth of Forth into 

Fife and defeated the Scots at the Battle of Inverkeithing (20 

July 1651). 

The New Model Army advanced towards Perth, which allowed 

Charles, at the head of the Scottish army, to move south into 

England. Cromwell followed Charles into England, leaving 

George Monck to finish the campaign in Scotland. Monck took 

Stirling on 14 August and Dundee on 1 September. The next 

year, 1652, saw a mopping up of the remnants of Royalist 

resistance, and under the terms of the "Tender of Union", the 

Scots received 30 seats in a united Parliament in London, with 

General Monck as the military governor of Scotland.  
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England 

Although Cromwell's New Model Army had defeated a Scottish 

army at Dunbar, Cromwell could not prevent Charles II from 

marching from Scotland deep into England at the head of 

another Royalist army. They marched to the west of England 

where English Royalist sympathies were strongest, but 

although some English Royalists joined the army, they were far 

fewer in number than Charles and his Scottish supporters had 

hoped. Cromwell finally engaged and defeated the new Scottish 

king at Worcester on 3 September 1651.  

Immediate aftermath 

After the Royalist defeat at Worcester, Charles II escaped via 

safe houses and an oak tree to France, and Parliament was left 

in de facto control of England. Resistance continued for a time 

in the Channel Islands, Ireland and Scotland, but with the 

pacification of England, resistance elsewhere did not threaten 

the military supremacy of the New Model Army and its 

Parliamentary paymasters.  

Political control 

During the Wars, the Parliamentarians established a number of 

successive committees to oversee the war effort. The first, the 

Committee of Safety set up in July 1642, comprised 15 

members of Parliament. 

After the Anglo-Scottish alliance against the Royalists, the 

Committee of Both Kingdoms replaced the Committee of Safety 

between 1644 and 1648. Parliament dissolved the Committee of 
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Both Kingdoms when the alliance ended, but its English 

members continued to meet as the Derby House Committee. A 

second Committee of Safety then replaced it.  

Episcopacy 

During the English Civil War, the role of bishops as wielders of 

political power and upholders of the established church 

became a matter of heated political controversy. John Calvin of 

Geneva had formulated a doctrine of Presbyterianism, which 

held that the offices of presbyter and episkopos in the New 

Testament were identical; he rejected the doctrine of apostolic 

succession. Calvin's follower John Knox brought 

Presbyterianism to Scotland when the Scottish church was 

reformed in 1560. In practice, Presbyterianism meant that 

committees of lay elders had a substantial voice in church 

government, as opposed to merely being subjects to a ruling 

hierarchy.  

This vision of at least partial democracy in ecclesiology 

paralleled the struggles between Parliament and the King. A 

body within the Puritan movement in the Church of England 

sought to abolish the office of bishop and remake the Church 

of England along Presbyterian lines. 

The Martin Marprelate tracts (1588–1589), applying the 

pejorative name of prelacy to the church hierarchy, attacked 

the office of bishop with satire that deeply offended Elizabeth I 

and her Archbishop of Canterbury John Whitgift. The 

vestments controversy also related to this movement, seeking 

further reductions in church ceremony, and labelling the use 

of elaborate vestments as "unedifying" and even idolatrous.  
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King James I, reacting against the perceived contumacy of his 

Presbyterian Scottish subjects, adopted "No Bishop, no King" 

as a slogan; he tied the hierarchical authority of the bishop to 

the absolute authority he sought as King, and viewed attacks 

on the authority of the bishops as attacks on his authority. 

Matters came to a head when Charles I appointed William Laud 

as Archbishop of Canterbury; Laud aggressively attacked the 

Presbyterian movement and sought to impose the full Book of 

Common Prayer. The controversy eventually led to Laud's 

impeachment for treason by a bill of attainder in 1645 and 

subsequent execution. Charles also attempted to impose 

episcopacy on Scotland; the Scots' violent rejection of bishops 

and liturgical worship sparked the Bishops' Wars in 1639–

1640.  

During the height of Puritan power under the Commonwealth 

and the Protectorate, episcopacy was formally abolished in the 

Church of England on 9 October 1646. The Church of England 

remained Presbyterian until the Restoration of the monarchy 

under Charles II in 1660.  

English overseas possessions 

During the English Civil War, the English overseas possessions 

became highly involved. In the Channel Islands, the island of 

Jersey and Castle Cornet in Guernsey supported the King until 

a surrender with honour in December 1651.  

Although the newer, Puritan settlements in North America, 

notably Massachusetts, were dominated by Parliamentarians, 

the older colonies sided with the Crown. Friction between 

Royalists and Puritans in Maryland came to a head in the 
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Battle of the Severn. The Virginia Company's settlements, 

Bermuda and Virginia, as well as Antigua and Barbados, were 

conspicuous in their loyalty to the Crown. Bermuda's 

Independent Puritans were expelled, settling the Bahamas 

under William Sayle as the Eleutheran Adventurers. Parliament 

passed An Act for prohibiting Trade with the Barbadoes, 

Virginia, Bermuda and Antego in October, 1650, which stated 

that  

due punishment [be] inflicted upon the said Delinquents, do 

Declare all and every the said persons in Barbada's, Antego, 

Bermuda's and Virginia, that have contrived, abetted, aided or 

assisted those horrid Rebellions, or have since willingly joyned 

with them, to be notorious Robbers and Traitors, and such as 

by the Law of Nations are not to be permitted any manner of 

Commerce or Traffic with any people whatsoever; and do forbid 

to all manner of persons, Foreigners, and others, all manner of 

Commerce, Traffic and Correspondence whatsoever, to be used 

or held with the said Rebels in the Barbados, Bermuda's, 

Virginia and Antego, or either of them. 

The Act also authorised Parliamentary privateers to act against 

English vessels trading with the rebellious colonies:  

All Ships that Trade with the Rebels may be surprized. Goods 

and tackle of such ships not to be embezeled, till judgement in 

the Admiralty.; Two or three of the Officers of every ship to be 

examined upon oath. 

The Parliament began assembling a fleet to invade the Royalist 

colonies, but many of the English islands in the Caribbean 

were captured by the Dutch and French in 1651 during the 

Second Anglo-Dutch War. Far to the North, Bermuda's 
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regiment of Militia and its coastal batteries prepared to resist 

an invasion that never came. Built-up inside the natural 

defence of a nearly impassable barrier reef, to fend off the 

might of Spain, these defences were would have been a 

formidable obstacle for the Parliamentary fleet sent in 1651 

under the command of Admiral Sir George Ayscue to subdue 

the trans-Atlantic colonies, but after the fall of Barbados the 

Bermudians made a separate peace that respected the internal 

status quo. The Parliament of Bermuda avoided the Parliament 

of England's fate during The Protectorate, becoming one of the 

oldest continuous legislatures in the world.  

Virginia's population swelled with Cavaliers during and after 

the English Civil War. Even so, Virginia Puritan Richard 

Bennett was made Governor answering to Cromwell in 1652, 

followed by two more nominal "Commonwealth Governors". The 

loyalty of Virginia's Cavaliers to the Crown was rewarded after 

the 1660 Restoration of the Monarchy when Charles II dubbed 

it the Old Dominion.  

Casualties 

Figures for casualties during this period are unreliable, but 

some attempt has been made to provide rough estimates.  

In England, a conservative estimate is that roughly 100,000 

people died from war-related disease during the three civil 

wars. Historical records count 84,830 combat dead from the 

wars themselves. Counting in accidents and the two Bishops' 

wars, an estimate of 190,000 dead is achieved, out of a total 

population of about five million. It is estimated that from 1638 

to 1651, 15–20% of all adult males in England and Wales 
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served in the military, and around 4% of the total population 

died from war-related causes, compared to 2.23% in World War 

I.  

An anecdotal example of perception of high casualties in 

England is to be found in the posthumously published writing 

(generally titled The History of Myddle), by a Shropshire man, 

Richard Gough (lived 1635–1723) of Myddle near Shrewsbury, 

who, writing in about 1701, commented of men from his rural 

home parish who joined the Royalist forces: "And out of these 

three townes [sic - ie townships], Myddle, Marton and Newton, 

there went noe less than twenty men, of which number thirteen 

were kill'd in the warrs". 

After listing those he recalled did not return home, four of 

whose exact fates were unknown, he concluded: "And if soe 

many dyed out of these 3 townes [townships] wee may 

reasonably guess that many thousands dyed in England in that 

warre."  

Figures for Scotland are less reliable and should be treated 

with caution. Casualties include the deaths of prisoners-of-war 

in conditions that accelerated their deaths, with estimates of 

10,000 prisoners not surviving or not returning home (8,000 

captured during and immediately after the Battle of Worcester 

were deported to New England, Bermuda and the West Indies 

to work for landowners as indentured labourers). There are no 

figures to calculate how many died from war-related diseases, 

but if the same ratio of disease to battle deaths from English 

figures is applied to the Scottish figures, a not unreasonable 

estimate of 60,000 people is achieved, from a population of 

about one million.  
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Figures for Ireland are described as "miracles of conjecture". 

Certainly the devastation inflicted on Ireland was massive, 

with the best estimate provided by Sir William Petty, the father 

of English demography. Petty estimated that 112,000 

Protestants and 504,000 Catholics were killed through plague, 

war and famine, giving an estimated total of 616,000 dead, out 

of a pre-war population of about one and a half million. 

Although Petty's figures are the best available, they are still 

acknowledged as tentative; they do not include an estimated 

40,000 driven into exile, some of whom served as soldiers in 

European continental armies, while others were sold as 

indentured servants to New England and the West Indies. Many 

of those sold to landowners in New England eventually 

prospered, but many sold to landowners in the West Indies 

were worked to death.  

These estimates indicate that England suffered a 4 percent loss 

of population, Scotland a loss of 6 percent, while Ireland 

suffered a loss of 41 percent of its population. Putting these 

numbers into the context of other catastrophes helps to 

understand the devastation of Ireland in particular. The Great 

Famine of 1845–1852 resulted in a loss of 16 percent of the 

population, while during the Soviet famine and Holodomor of 

1932–33 the population of the Soviet Ukraine fell by 14 

percent.  

Popular gains 

Ordinary people took advantage of the dislocation of civil 

society in the 1640s to gain personal advantages. The 

contemporary guild democracy movement won its greatest 

successes among London's transport workers, notably the 
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Thames watermen. Rural communities seized timber and other 

resources on the sequestrated estates of Royalists and 

Catholics, and on the estates of the royal family and church 

hierarchy. Some communities improved their conditions of 

tenure on such estates. The old status quo began a 

retrenchment after the end of the First Civil War in 1646, and 

more especially after the Restoration in 1660, but some gains 

were long-term. The democratic element introduced into the 

watermen's company in 1642, for example, survived with 

vicissitudes until 1827.  

Aftermath 

The wars left England, Scotland, and Ireland among the few 

countries in Europe without a monarch. In the wake of victory, 

many of the ideals (and many idealists) became sidelined. 

The republican government of the Commonwealth of England 

ruled England (and later all of Scotland and Ireland) from 1649 

to 1653 and from 1659 to 1660. Between the two periods, and 

due to in-fighting among various factions in Parliament, Oliver 

Cromwell ruled over the Protectorate as Lord Protector 

(effectively a military dictator) until his death in 1658.  

On Oliver Cromwell's death, his son Richard became Lord 

Protector, but the Army had little confidence in him. After 

seven months the Army removed Richard, and in May 1659 it 

re-installed the Rump. However, military force shortly 

afterward dissolved this as well. After the second dissolution of 

the Rump, in October 1659, the prospect of a total descent into 

anarchy loomed as the Army's pretense of unity finally 

dissolved into factions.  
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Into this atmosphere General George Monck, Governor of 

Scotland under the Cromwells, marched south with his army 

from Scotland. On 4 April 1660, in the Declaration of Breda, 

Charles II made known the conditions of his acceptance of the 

Crown of England. Monck organised the Convention 

Parliament, which met for the first time on 25 April 1660. On 8 

May 1660, it declared that Charles II had reigned as the lawful 

monarch since the execution of Charles I in January 1649. 

Charles returned from exile on 23 May 1660. On 29 May 1660, 

the populace in London acclaimed him as king. His coronation 

took place at Westminster Abbey on 23 April 1661. These 

events became known as the Restoration.  

Although the monarchy was restored, it was still only with the 

consent of Parliament. So the civil wars effectively set England 

and Scotland on course towards a parliamentary monarchy 

form of government. The outcome of this system was that the 

future Kingdom of Great Britain, formed in 1707 under the 

Acts of Union, managed to forestall the kind of revolution 

typical of European republican movements which generally 

resulted in total abolition of monarchy. Thus the United 

Kingdom was spared the wave of revolutions that occurred in 

Europe in the 1840s. Specifically, future monarchs became 

wary of pushing Parliament too hard, and Parliament 

effectively chose the line of royal succession in 1688 with the 

Glorious Revolution and in the 1701 Act of Settlement.  

Historical interpretations 

In the early decades of the 20th century, the Whig school was 

the dominant theoretical view. It explained the Civil War as 

resulting from centuries of struggle between Parliament 
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(notably the House of Commons) and the Monarchy, with 

Parliament defending the traditional rights of Englishmen, 

while the Stuart monarchy continually attempted to expand its 

right to dictate law arbitrarily. 

The major Whig historian, S. R. Gardiner, popularised the idea 

that the English Civil War was a "Puritan Revolution", which 

challenged the repressive Stuart Church and prepared the way 

for religious toleration. So Puritanism was seen as the natural 

ally of a people preserving their traditional rights against 

arbitrary monarchical power.  

The Whig view was challenged and largely superseded by the 

Marxist school, which became popular in the 1940s, and saw 

the English Civil War as a bourgeois revolution. According to 

Marxist historian Christopher Hill:  

The Civil War was a class war, in which the despotism of 

Charles I was defended by the reactionary forces of the 

established Church and conservative landlords, 

Parliament beat the King because it could appeal to the 

enthusiastic support of the trading and industrial classes in 

town and countryside, to the yeomen and progressive gentry, 

and to wider masses of the population whenever they were able 

by free discussion to understand what the struggle was really 

about. 

In the 1970s, revisionist historians challenged both the Whig 

and the Marxist theories, notably in the 1973 anthology The 

Origins of the English Civil War (Conrad Russell ed.). These 

historians focused on the minutiae of the years immediately 

before the civil war, returning to the contingency-based 
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historiography of Clarendon's History of the Rebellion and Civil 

Wars in England. This, it was claimed, demonstrated that 

patterns of war allegiance did not fit either Whig or Marxist 

theories. Parliament was not inherently progressive, nor the 

events of 1640 a precursor for the Glorious Revolution. 

Furthermore, Puritans did not necessarily ally themselves with 

Parliamentarians. Many members of the bourgeoisie fought for 

the King, while many landed aristocrats supported Parliament.  

From the 1990s, a number of historians replaced the historical 

title "English Civil War" with "Wars of the Three Kingdoms" and 

"British Civil Wars", positing that the civil war in England 

cannot be understood apart from events in other parts of 

Britain and Ireland. King Charles I remains crucial, not just as 

King of England, but through his relationship with the peoples 

of his other realms. For example, the wars began when Charles 

forced an Anglican Prayer Book upon Scotland, and when this 

was met with resistance from the Covenanters, he needed an 

army to impose his will. However, this need of military funds 

forced Charles I to call an English Parliament, which was not 

willing to grant the needed revenue unless he addressed their 

grievances. 

By the early 1640s, Charles was left in a state of near-

permanent crisis management, confounded by the demands of 

the various factions. For example, Charles finally made terms 

with the Covenanters in August 1641, but although this might 

have weakened the position of the English Parliament, the Irish 

Rebellion of 1641 broke out in October 1641, largely negating 

the political advantage he had obtained by relieving himself of 

the cost of the Scottish invasion.  
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Hobbes' Behemoth 

Thomas Hobbes gave a much earlier historical account of the 

English Civil War in his Behemoth, written in 1668 and 

published in 1681. He assessed the causes of the war to be the 

conflicting political doctrines of the time. Behemoth offered a 

uniquely historical and philosophical approach to naming the 

catalysts for the war. 

It also attempted to explain why Charles I could not hold his 

throne and maintain peace in his kingdom. Hobbes analysed in 

turn the following aspects of English thought during the war: 

the opinions of divinity and politics that spurred rebellion; 

rhetoric and doctrine used by the rebels against the king; and 

how opinions about "taxation, the conscription of soldiers, and 

military strategy" affected the outcomes of battles and shifts of 

sovereignty.  

Hobbes attributed the war to the novel theories of intellectuals 

and divines spread for their own pride of reputation. He held 

that clerical pretensions had contributed significantly to the 

troubles — "whether those of puritan fundamentalists, papal 

supremacists or divine right Episcopalians". Hobbes wanted to 

abolish the independence of the clergy and bring it under the 

control of the civil state.  

Some scholars suggest that Hobbes's Behemoth has not 

received its due as an academic work, being comparatively 

overlooked and under-rated in the shadow of the same author's 

Leviathan. Its scholarly reputation may have suffered because 

it takes the form of a dialogue, which, while common in 

philosophy, is rarely adopted by historians. Other factors that 
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hindered its success include Charles II's refusing its 

publication and Hobbes' lack of empathy with views different 

from his own.  

Re-enactments 

Two large historical societies exist, The Sealed Knot and The 

English Civil War Society, which regularly re-enact events and 

battles of the Civil War in full period costume.  

  



Chapter 30 

Death of Oliver Cromwell 

Oliver Cromwell (25 April 1599 – 3 September 1658) was an 

English general and statesman who, first as a subordinate and 

later as Commander-in-Chief, led armies of the Parliament of 

England against King Charles I during the English Civil War, 

subsequently ruling the British Isles as Lord Protector from 

1653 until his death in 1658. He acted simultaneously as head 

of state and head of government of the new republican 

commonwealth.  

Cromwell was born into the landed gentry to a family 

descended from the sister of Henry VIII's minister Thomas 

Cromwell. Little is known of the first 40 years of his life, as 

only four of his personal letters survive, along with a summary 

of a speech that he delivered in 1628. He became an 

Independent Puritan after undergoing a religious conversion in 

the 1630s, taking a generally tolerant view towards the many 

Protestant sects of the time; an intensely religious man, 

Cromwell fervently believed in God guiding him to victory. 

Cromwell was elected Member of Parliament for Huntingdon in 

1628, and for Cambridge in the Short (1640) and Long (1640–

1649) Parliaments. 

He entered the English Civil Wars on the side of the 

"Roundheads", or Parliamentarians, and gained the nickname 

"Old Ironsides". Cromwell demonstrated his ability as a 

commander and was quickly promoted from leading a single 

cavalry troop to being one of the principal commanders of the 
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New Model Army, playing an important role under General Sir 

Thomas Fairfax in the defeat of the Royalist ("Cavalier") forces.  

Cromwell was one of the signatories of Charles I's death 

warrant in 1649, and dominated the short-lived Commonwealth 

of England as a member of the Rump Parliament (1649–1653). 

He was selected to take command of the English campaign in 

Ireland in 1649–1650. Cromwell's forces defeated the 

Confederate and Royalist coalition in Ireland and occupied the 

country, bringing to an end the Irish Confederate Wars. During 

this period, a series of Penal Laws were passed against Roman 

Catholics (a significant minority in England and Scotland but 

the vast majority in Ireland), and a substantial amount of their 

land was confiscated. 

Cromwell also led a campaign against the Scottish army 

between 1650 and 1651. On 20 April 1653, Cromwell dismissed 

the Rump Parliament by force, setting up a short-lived 

nominated assembly known as Barebone's Parliament, before 

being invited by his fellow leaders to rule as Lord Protector of 

England (which included Wales at the time), Scotland, and 

Ireland from 16 December 1653. As a ruler, he executed an 

aggressive and effective foreign policy. Nevertheless, 

Cromwell's policy of religious toleration for Protestant 

denominations during the Protectorate extended only to "God's 

peculiar", and not to those considered by him to be heretics, 

such as the Quakers, Socinians, and Ranters.  

Cromwell died from natural causes in 1658 and was buried in 

Westminster Abbey. He was succeeded by his son Richard, 

whose weakness led to a power vacuum. Oliver's former 

General George Monck then mounted a coup, causing 
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Parliament to arrange the return to London of Prince Charles 

as King, Charles II, and the Royalists' return to power in 1660. 

Cromwell's corpse was subsequently dug up, hung in chains, 

and beheaded.  

Cromwell is one of the most controversial figures in British and 

Irish history, considered a regicidal dictator by historians such 

as David Sharp, a military dictator by Winston Churchill, a 

class revolutionary by Leon Trotsky, and a hero of liberty by 

John Milton, Thomas Carlyle, and Samuel Rawson Gardiner. 

His tolerance of Protestant sects did not extend to Catholics, 

and the measures taken by him against Catholics, particularly 

in Ireland, have been characterised by some as genocidal or 

near-genocidal, and his record is strongly criticised in Ireland, 

although the worst atrocities took place after he had returned 

to England. He was selected as one of the ten greatest Britons 

of all time in a 2002 BBC poll.  

Early years 

Cromwell was born in Huntingdon on 25 April 1599 to Robert 

Cromwell and his second wife Elizabeth, daughter of William 

Steward. The family's estate derived from Oliver's great-great-

grandfather Morgan ap William, a brewer from Glamorgan who 

settled at Putney near London, and married Katherine 

Cromwell (born 1482), the sister of Thomas Cromwell, who 

would become the famous chief minister to Henry VIII. It has 

been confidently asserted that Thomas and his sister's father 

Walter were also of Irish descent. 

The Cromwell family acquired great wealth as occasional 

beneficiaries of Thomas's administration of the Dissolution of 
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the Monasteries. Morgan ap William was a son of William ap 

Yevan of Wales. The family line continued through Richard 

Williams (alias Cromwell), (c. 1500–1544), Henry Williams 

(alias Cromwell), (c. 1524 – 6 January 1604), then to Oliver's 

father Robert Williams, alias Cromwell (c. 1560–1617), who 

married Elizabeth Steward (c. 1564 – 1654), probably in 1591. 

They had ten children, but Oliver, the fifth child, was the only 

boy to survive infancy.  

Cromwell's paternal grandfather Sir Henry Williams was one of 

the two wealthiest landowners in Huntingdonshire. Cromwell's 

father Robert was of modest means but still a member of the 

landed gentry. As a younger son with many siblings, Robert 

inherited only a house at Huntingdon and a small amount of 

land. This land would have generated an income of up to £300 

a year, near the bottom of the range of gentry incomes. 

Cromwell himself in 1654 said, "I was by birth a gentleman, 

living neither in considerable height, nor yet in obscurity."  

Cromwell was baptised on 29 April 1599 at St John's Church, 

and attended Huntingdon Grammar School. He went on to 

study at Sidney Sussex College, Cambridge, then a recently 

founded college with a strong Puritan ethos. He left in June 

1617 without taking a degree, immediately after his father's 

death. 

Early biographers claim that he then attended Lincoln's Inn, 

but the Inn's archives retain no record of him. Antonia Fraser 

concludes that it was likely that he did train at one of the 

London Inns of Court during this time. His grandfather, his 

father, and two of his uncles had attended Lincoln's Inn, and 

Cromwell sent his son Richard there in 1647.  
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Cromwell probably returned home to Huntingdon after his 

father's death. As his mother was widowed, and his seven 

sisters unmarried, he would have been needed at home to help 

his family.  

According to the English Monarchs website, Cromwell and King 

Charles I were very distant cousins.  

Marriage and family 

Cromwell married Elizabeth Bourchier (1598–1665) on 22 

August 1620 at St Giles-without-Cripplegate, Fore Street, 

London. Elizabeth's father, Sir James Bourchier, was a London 

leather merchant who owned extensive lands in Essex and had 

strong connections with Puritan gentry families there. The 

marriage brought Cromwell into contact with Oliver St John 

and with leading members of the London merchant community, 

and behind them the influence of the Earls of Warwick and 

Holland. A place in this influential network would prove crucial 

to Cromwell's military and political career. The couple had nine 

children:  

• Robert (1621–1639), died while away at school. 

• Oliver (1622–1644), died of typhoid fever while 

serving as a Parliamentarian officer. 

• Bridget (1624–1662), married (1) Henry Ireton, (2) 

Charles Fleetwood. 

• Richard (1626–1712), his father's successor as Lord 

Protector, married Dorothy Maijor. 

• Henry (1628–1674), later Lord Deputy of Ireland, 

married Elizabeth Russell (daughter of Sir Francis 

Russell). 
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• Elizabeth (1629–1658), married John Claypole. 

• James (b. & d. 1632), died in infancy. 

• Mary (1637–1713), married Thomas Belasyse, 1st 

Earl Fauconberg 

• Frances (1638–1720), married (1) Robert Rich (1634–

1658), son of Robert Rich, 3rd Earl of Warwick, (2) 

Sir John Russell, 3rd Baronet 

Crisis and recovery 

Little evidence exists of Cromwell's religion at this stage. His 

letter in 1626 to Henry Downhall, an Arminian minister, 

suggests that Cromwell had yet to be influenced by radical 

Puritanism. However, there is evidence that Cromwell went 

through a period of personal crisis during the late 1620s and 

early 1630s. In 1628 he was elected to Parliament from the 

Huntingdonshire county town of Huntingdon. Later that year, 

he sought treatment for a variety of physical and emotional 

ailments, including valde melancholicus (depression), from the 

Swiss-born London doctor Théodore de Mayerne. In 1629, 

Cromwell became involved in a dispute among the gentry of 

Huntingdon involving a new charter for the town. As a result, 

Cromwell was called before the Privy Council in 1630.  

In 1631, Cromwell, likely as a result of the dispute, sold most 

of his properties in Huntingdon, and moved to a farmstead in 

nearby St Ives. This move, a significant step down in society 

for the Cromwell family, also had significant emotional and 

spiritual impact in Cromwell; an extant 1638 letter from 

Cromwell to his cousin, the wife of Oliver St John, gives an 

account of his spiritual awakening at this time. In the letter, 

Cromwell, describing himself as having been the "chief of 
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sinners", describes his calling to be among "the congregation of 

the firstborn". The language of the letter, in particular the 

inclusion of numerous biblical quotations, represents 

Cromwell's belief of having been saved from his previous sins 

by God's mercy, and indicates his religiously Independent 

beliefs, chief among them that the Reformation had not gone 

far enough, that much of England was still living in sin, and 

that Catholic beliefs and practices needed to be fully removed 

from the church. It would appear that in 1634 Cromwell 

attempted to emigrate to what was to become the Connecticut 

Colony in the Americas, but was prevented by the government 

from leaving.  

Along with his brother Henry, Cromwell had kept a 

smallholding of chickens and sheep, selling eggs and wool to 

support himself, his lifestyle resembling that of a yeoman 

farmer. In 1636 Cromwell inherited control of various 

properties in Ely from his uncle on his mother's side, and his 

uncle's job as tithe collector for Ely Cathedral. As a result, his 

income is likely to have risen to around £300–400 per year; by 

the end of the 1630s Cromwell had returned to the ranks of 

acknowledged gentry. He had become a committed Puritan and 

had established important family links to leading families in 

London and Essex.  

Member of Parliament: 1628–29 and 

1640–1642 

Cromwell became the Member of Parliament for Huntingdon in 

the Parliament of 1628–1629, as a client of the Montagu family 

of Hinchingbrooke House. He made little impression: records 
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for the Parliament show only one speech (against the Arminian 

Bishop Richard Neile), which was poorly received. After 

dissolving this Parliament, Charles I ruled without a 

Parliament for the next 11 years. When Charles faced the 

Scottish rebellion known as the Bishops' Wars, shortage of 

funds forced him to call a Parliament again in 1640. Cromwell 

was returned to this Parliament as member for Cambridge, but 

it lasted for only three weeks and became known as the Short 

Parliament. Cromwell moved his family from Ely to London in 

1640.  

A second Parliament was called later the same year, and 

became known as the Long Parliament. Cromwell was again 

returned as member for Cambridge. As with the Parliament of 

1628–29, it is likely that Cromwell owed his position to the 

patronage of others, which might explain why in the first week 

of the Parliament he was in charge of presenting a petition for 

the release of John Lilburne, who had become a Puritan cause 

célèbre after his arrest for importing religious tracts from the 

Netherlands. 

For the first two years of the Long Parliament Cromwell was 

linked to the godly group of aristocrats in the House of Lords 

and Members of the House of Commons with whom he had 

established familial and religious links in the 1630s, such as 

the Earls of Essex, Warwick and Bedford, Oliver St John and 

Viscount Saye and Sele. 

At this stage, the group had an agenda of reformation: the 

executive checked by regular parliaments, and the moderate 

extension of liberty of conscience. Cromwell appears to have 

taken a role in some of this group's political manoeuvres. In 
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May 1641, for example, it was Cromwell who put forward the 

second reading of the Annual Parliaments Bill and later took a 

role in drafting the Root and Branch Bill for the abolition of 

episcopacy.  

Military commander: 1642–1646 

English Civil War begins 

Failure to resolve the issues before the Long Parliament led to 

armed conflict between Parliament and Charles I in late 1642, 

the beginning of the English Civil War. Before he joined 

Parliament's forces, Cromwell's only military experience was in 

the trained bands, the local county militia. He recruited a 

cavalry troop in Cambridgeshire after blocking a valuable 

shipment of silver plate from Cambridge colleges that was 

meant for the King. Cromwell and his troop then rode to, but 

arrived too late to take part in, the indecisive Battle of Edgehill 

on 23 October 1642. 

The troop was recruited to be a full regiment in the winter of 

1642 and 1643, making up part of the Eastern Association 

under the Earl of Manchester. Cromwell gained experience in 

successful actions in East Anglia in 1643, notably at the Battle 

of Gainsborough on 28 July. He was subsequently appointed 

governor of the Isle of Ely and a colonel in the Eastern 

Association.  

Marston Moor 1644 

By the time of the Battle of Marston Moor in July 1644, 

Cromwell had risen to the rank of lieutenant general of horse 
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in Manchester's army. The success of his cavalry in breaking 

the ranks of the Royalist cavalry and then attacking their 

infantry from the rear at Marston Moor was a major factor in 

the Parliamentarian victory. Cromwell fought at the head of his 

troops in the battle and was slightly wounded in the neck, 

stepping away briefly to receive treatment during the battle but 

returning to help force the victory. 

After Cromwell's nephew was killed at Marston Moor he wrote a 

famous letter to his brother-in-law. Marston Moor secured the 

north of England for the Parliamentarians, but failed to end 

Royalist resistance.  

The indecisive outcome of the Second Battle of Newbury in 

October meant that by the end of 1644 the war still showed no 

signs of ending. Cromwell's experience at Newbury, where 

Manchester had let the King's army slip out of an encircling 

manoeuvre, led to a serious dispute with Manchester, whom he 

believed to be less than enthusiastic in his conduct of the war. 

Manchester later accused Cromwell of recruiting men of "low 

birth" as officers in the army, to which he replied: "If you 

choose godly honest men to be captains of horse, honest men 

will follow them ... I would rather have a plain russet-coated 

captain who knows what he fights for and loves what he knows 

than that which you call a gentleman and is nothing else". At 

this time, Cromwell also fell into dispute with Major-General 

Lawrence Crawford, a Scottish Covenanter attached to 

Manchester's army, who objected to Cromwell's encouragement 

of unorthodox Independents and Anabaptists. He was also 

charged with familism by Scottish Presbyterian Samuel 

Rutherford in response to his letter to the House of Commons 

in 1645.  
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New Model Army 

Partly in response to the failure to capitalise on their victory at 

Marston Moor, Parliament passed the Self-Denying Ordinance 

in early 1645. This forced members of the House of Commons 

and the Lords, such as Manchester, to choose between civil 

office and military command. All of them—except Cromwell, 

whose commission was given continued extensions and was 

allowed to remain in parliament—chose to renounce their 

military positions. The Ordinance also decreed that the army 

be "remodelled" on a national basis, replacing the old county 

associations; Cromwell contributed significantly to these 

military reforms. In April 1645 the New Model Army finally 

took to the field, with Sir Thomas Fairfax in command and 

Cromwell as Lieutenant-General of cavalry and second-in-

command.  

Battle of Naseby 1645 

At the critical Battle of Naseby in June 1645, the New Model 

Army smashed the King's major army. Cromwell led his wing 

with great success at Naseby, again routing the Royalist 

cavalry. At the Battle of Langport on 10 July, Cromwell 

participated in the defeat of the last sizeable Royalist field 

army. Naseby and Langport effectively ended the King's hopes 

of victory, and the subsequent Parliamentarian campaigns 

involved taking the remaining fortified Royalist positions in the 

west of England. 

In October 1645, Cromwell besieged and took the wealthy and 

formidable Catholic fortress Basing House, later to be accused 

of killing 100 of its 300-man Royalist garrison after its 
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surrender. Cromwell also took part in successful sieges at 

Bridgwater, Sherborne, Bristol, Devizes, and Winchester, then 

spent the first half of 1646 mopping up resistance in Devon 

and Cornwall. 

Charles I surrendered to the Scots on 5 May 1646, effectively 

ending the First English Civil War. Cromwell and Fairfax took 

the formal surrender of the Royalists at Oxford in June 1646.  

Cromwell's military style 

Cromwell, in contrast to Fairfax, had no formal training in 

military tactics, and followed the common practice of ranging 

his cavalry in three ranks and pressing forward, relying on 

impact rather than firepower. His strengths were an instinctive 

ability to lead and train his men, and his moral authority. 

In a war fought mostly by amateurs, these strengths were 

significant and are likely to have contributed to the discipline 

of his cavalry.  

Cromwell introduced close-order cavalry formations, with 

troopers riding knee to knee; this was an innovation in 

England at the time, and was a major factor in his success. He 

kept his troops close together following skirmishes where they 

had gained superiority, rather than allowing them to chase 

opponents off the battlefield. 

This facilitated further engagements in short order, which 

allowed greater intensity and quick reaction to battle 

developments. This style of command was decisive at both 

Marston Moor and Naseby.  
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Politics: 1647–1649 

In February 1647 Cromwell suffered from an illness that kept 

him out of political life for over a month. By the time he had 

recovered, the Parliamentarians were split over the issue of the 

King. A majority in both Houses pushed for a settlement that 

would pay off the Scottish army, disband much of the New 

Model Army, and restore Charles I in return for a Presbyterian 

settlement of the Church. Cromwell rejected the Scottish model 

of Presbyterianism, which threatened to replace one 

authoritarian hierarchy with another. The New Model Army, 

radicalised by the failure of the Parliament to pay the wages it 

was owed, petitioned against these changes, but the Commons 

declared the petition unlawful. In May 1647 Cromwell was sent 

to the army's headquarters in Saffron Walden to negotiate with 

them, but failed to agree.  

In June 1647, a troop of cavalry under Cornet George Joyce 

seized the King from Parliament's imprisonment. With the King 

now present, Cromwell was eager to find out what conditions 

the King would acquiesce to if his authority was restored. The 

King appeared to be willing to compromise, so Cromwell 

employed his son-in-law, Henry Ireton, to draw up proposals 

for a constitutional settlement. Proposals were drafted multiple 

times with different changes until finally the "Heads of 

Proposals" pleased Cromwell in principle and would allow for 

further negotiations. It was designed to check the powers of 

the executive, to set up regularly elected parliaments, and to 

restore a non-compulsory Episcopalian settlement.  

Many in the army, such as the Levellers led by John Lilburne, 

thought this was not enough and demanded full political 
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equality for all men, leading to tense debates in Putney during 

the autumn of 1647 between Fairfax, Cromwell and Ireton on 

the one hand, and Levellers like Colonel Rainsborough on the 

other. The Putney Debates ultimately broke up without 

reaching a resolution.  

Second Civil War 

The failure to conclude a political agreement with the King led 

eventually to the outbreak of the Second English Civil War in 

1648, when the King tried to regain power by force of arms. 

Cromwell first put down a Royalist uprising in south Wales led 

by Rowland Laugharne, winning back Chepstow Castle on 25 

May and six days later forcing the surrender of Tenby. The 

castle at Carmarthen was destroyed by burning. The much 

stronger castle at Pembroke, however, fell only after a siege of 

eight weeks. Cromwell dealt leniently with the ex-Royalist 

soldiers, but less so with those who had previously been 

members of the parliamentary army, John Poyer eventually 

being executed in London after the drawing of lots.  

Cromwell then marched north to deal with a pro-Royalist 

Scottish army (the Engagers) who had invaded England. At 

Preston, Cromwell, in sole command for the first time and with 

an army of 9,000, won a decisive victory against an army twice 

as large.  

During 1648, Cromwell's letters and speeches started to 

become heavily based on biblical imagery, many of them 

meditations on the meaning of particular passages. For 

example, after the battle of Preston, study of Psalms 17 and 

105 led him to tell Parliament that "they that are implacable 
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and will not leave troubling the land may be speedily destroyed 

out of the land". A letter to Oliver St John in September 1648 

urged him to read Isaiah 8, in which the kingdom falls and 

only the godly survive. On four occasions in letters in 1648 he 

referred to the story of Gideon's defeat of the Midianites at Ain 

Harod. 

These letters suggest that it was Cromwell's faith, rather than 

a commitment to radical politics, coupled with Parliament's 

decision to engage in negotiations with the King at the Treaty 

of Newport, that convinced him that God had spoken against 

both the King and Parliament as lawful authorities. For 

Cromwell, the army was now God's chosen instrument. The 

episode shows Cromwell's firm belief in "Providentialism"—that 

God was actively directing the affairs of the world, through the 

actions of "chosen people" (whom God had "provided" for such 

purposes). Cromwell believed, during the Civil Wars, that he 

was one of these people, and he interpreted victories as 

indications of God's approval of his actions, and defeats as 

signs that God was directing him in another direction.  

King tried and executed 

In December 1648, in an episode that became known as Pride's 

Purge, a troop of soldiers headed by Colonel Thomas Pride 

forcibly removed from the Long Parliament all those who were 

not supporters of the Grandees in the New Model Army and the 

Independents. Thus weakened, the remaining body of MPs, 

known as the Rump Parliament, agreed that Charles should be 

tried on a charge of treason. Cromwell was still in the north of 

England, dealing with Royalist resistance, when these events 

took place, but then returned to London. On the day after 
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pushing for the King's trial and execution, believing that 

killing Charles was the only way to end the civil wars. 

Cromwell approved Thomas Brook's address to the House of 

Commons, which justified the trial and execution of the King 

on the basis of the Book of Numbers, chapter 35 and 

particularly verse 33 ("The land cannot be cleansed of the 

blood that is shed therein, but by the blood of him that shed 

it.").  

The death warrant for Charles was eventually signed by 59 of 

the trying court's members, including Cromwell (who was the 

third to sign it). Though it was not unprecedented, execution of 

the King, or "regicide", was controversial, if for no other reason 

due to the doctrine of the divine right of kings. Thus, even 

after a trial, it was difficult to get ordinary men to go along 

with it: "None of the officers charged with supervising the 

execution wanted to sign the order for the actual beheading, so 

they brought their dispute to Cromwell...Oliver seized a pen 

and scribbled out the order, and handed the pen to the second 

officer, Colonel Hacker who stooped to sign it. The execution 

could now proceed." Although Fairfax conspicuously refused to 

sign, Charles I was executed on 30 January 1649.  

Establishment of the Commonwealth: 

1649 

After the execution of the King, a republic was declared, known 

as the "Commonwealth of England". The "Rump Parliament" 

exercised both executive and legislative powers, with a smaller 

Council of State also having some executive functions. 
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Cromwell remained a member of the "Rump" and was appointed 

a member of the council. In the early months after the 

execution of Charles I, Cromwell tried but failed to unite the 

original "Royal Independents" led by St John and Saye and 

Sele, which had fractured during 1648. Cromwell had been 

connected to this group since before the outbreak of civil war 

in 1642 and had been closely associated with them during the 

1640s. However, only St John was persuaded to retain his seat 

in Parliament. 

The Royalists, meanwhile, had regrouped in Ireland, having 

signed a treaty with the Irish known as "Confederate 

Catholics". In March, Cromwell was chosen by the Rump to 

command a campaign against them. Preparations for an 

invasion of Ireland occupied Cromwell in the subsequent 

months. In the latter part of the 1640s, Cromwell came across 

political dissidence in the "New Model Army". The "Leveller" or 

"Agitator" movement was a political movement that emphasised 

popular sovereignty, extended suffrage, equality before the law, 

and religious tolerance. 

These sentiments were expressed in the manifesto "Agreement 

of the People" in 1647. Cromwell and the rest of the "Grandees" 

disagreed with these sentiments in that they gave too much 

freedom to the people; they believed that the vote should 

extend only to the landowners. In the "Putney Debates" of 

1647, the two groups debated these topics in hopes of forming 

a new constitution for England. There were rebellions and 

mutinies following the debates, and in 1649, the Bishopsgate 

mutiny resulted in the execution of Leveller Robert Lockyer by 

firing squad. The next month, the Banbury mutiny occurred 

with similar results. Cromwell led the charge in quelling these 
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rebellions. After quelling Leveller mutinies within the English 

army at Andover and Burford in May, Cromwell departed for 

Ireland from Bristol at the end of July.  

Irish campaign: 1649–50 

Cromwell led a Parliamentary invasion of Ireland from 1649 to 

1650. Parliament's key opposition was the military threat 

posed by the alliance of the Irish Confederate Catholics and 

English royalists (signed in 1649). The Confederate-Royalist 

alliance was judged to be the biggest single threat facing the 

Commonwealth. However, the political situation in Ireland in 

1649 was extremely fractured: there were also separate forces 

of Irish Catholics who were opposed to the Royalist alliance, 

and Protestant Royalist forces that were gradually moving 

towards Parliament. Cromwell said in a speech to the army 

Council on 23 March that "I had rather be overthrown by a 

Cavalierish interest than a Scotch interest; I had rather be 

overthrown by a Scotch interest than an Irish interest and I 

think of all this is the most dangerous".  

Cromwell's hostility to the Irish was religious as well as 

political. He was passionately opposed to the Catholic Church, 

which he saw as denying the primacy of the Bible in favour of 

papal and clerical authority, and which he blamed for 

suspected tyranny and persecution of Protestants in 

continental Europe. Cromwell's association of Catholicism with 

persecution was deepened with the Irish Rebellion of 1641. 

This rebellion, although intended to be bloodless, was marked 

by massacres of English and Scottish Protestant settlers by 

Irish ("Gaels") and Old English in Ireland, and Highland Scot 

Catholics in Ireland. These settlers had settled on land seized 
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from former, native Catholic owners to make way for the non-

native Protestants. These factors contributed to the brutality of 

the Cromwell military campaign in Ireland.  

Parliament had planned to re-conquer Ireland since 1641 and 

had already sent an invasion force there in 1647. Cromwell's 

invasion of 1649 was much larger and, with the civil war in 

England over, could be regularly reinforced and re-supplied. 

His nine-month military campaign was brief and effective, 

though it did not end the war in Ireland. Before his invasion, 

Parliamentarian forces held only outposts in Dublin and Derry. 

When he departed Ireland, they occupied most of the eastern 

and northern parts of the country. After his landing at Dublin 

on 15 August 1649 (itself only recently defended from an Irish 

and English Royalist attack at the Battle of Rathmines), 

Cromwell took the fortified port towns of Drogheda and 

Wexford to secure logistical supply from England. At the Siege 

of Drogheda in September 1649, Cromwell's troops killed 

nearly 3,500 people after the town's capture—comprising 

around 2,700 Royalist soldiers and all the men in the town 

carrying arms, including some civilians, prisoners and Roman 

Catholic priests. Cromwell wrote afterwards that:  

I am persuaded that this is a righteous judgment of God upon 

these barbarous wretches, who have imbrued their hands in so 

much innocent blood and that it will tend to prevent the 

effusion of blood for the future, which are satisfactory grounds 

for such actions, which otherwise cannot but work remorse 

and regret 

At the Siege of Wexford in October, another massacre took 

place under confused circumstances. While Cromwell was 
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apparently trying to negotiate surrender terms, some of his 

soldiers broke into the town, killed 2,000 Irish troops and up 

to 1,500 civilians, and burned much of the town.  

After the taking of Drogheda, Cromwell sent a column north to 

Ulster to secure the north of the country and went on to 

besiege Waterford, Kilkenny and Clonmel in Ireland's south-

east. Kilkenny put up a fierce defence but was eventually 

forced to surrender on terms, as did many other towns like 

New Ross and Carlow, but Cromwell failed to take Waterford, 

and at the siege of Clonmel in May 1650 he lost up to 2,000 

men in abortive assaults before the town surrendered.  

One of his major victories in Ireland was diplomatic rather 

than military. With the help of Roger Boyle, 1st Earl of Orrery, 

Cromwell persuaded the Protestant Royalist troops in Cork to 

change sides and fight with the Parliament. 

At this point, word reached Cromwell that Charles II (son of 

Charles I) had landed in Scotland from exile in France and 

been proclaimed King by the Covenanter regime. Cromwell 

therefore returned to England from Youghal on 26 May 1650 to 

counter this threat.  

The Parliamentarian conquest of Ireland dragged on for almost 

three years after Cromwell's departure. The campaigns under 

Cromwell's successors Henry Ireton and Edmund Ludlow 

consisted mostly of long sieges of fortified cities and guerrilla 

warfare in the countryside, with English troops suffering from 

attacks by Irish toráidhe (guerilla fighters). The last Catholic-

held town, Galway, surrendered in April 1652 and the last 

Irish Catholic troops capitulated in April of the following year 

in County Cavan.  
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In the wake of the Commonwealth's conquest of the island of 

Ireland, the public practice of Roman Catholicism was banned 

and Catholic priests were killed when captured. All Catholic-

owned land was confiscated under the Act for the Settlement of 

Ireland of 1652 and given to Scottish and English settlers, 

Parliament's financial creditors and Parliamentary soldiers. 

The remaining Catholic landowners were allocated poorer land 

in the province of Connacht.  

Debate over Cromwell's effect on Ireland 

The extent of Cromwell's brutality in Ireland has been strongly 

debated. Some historians argue that Cromwell never accepted 

that he was responsible for the killing of civilians in Ireland, 

claiming that he had acted harshly but only against those "in 

arms". Other historians, however, cite Cromwell's 

contemporary reports to London including that of 27 

September 1649 in which he lists the slaying of 3,000 military 

personnel, followed by the phrase "and many inhabitants". In 

September 1649, he justified his sacking of Drogheda as 

revenge for the massacres of Protestant settlers in Ulster in 

1641, calling the massacre "the righteous judgement of God on 

these barbarous wretches, who have imbrued their hands with 

so much innocent blood". 

However, Drogheda had never been held by the rebels in 

1641—many of its garrison were in fact English royalists. On 

the other hand, the worst atrocities committed in Ireland, such 

as mass evictions, killings and deportation of over 50,000 men, 

women and children as prisoners of war and indentured 

servants to Bermuda and Barbados, were carried out under the 

command of other generals after Cromwell had left for England. 
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Some point to his actions on entering Ireland. Cromwell 

demanded that no supplies were to be seized from the civilian 

inhabitants and that everything should be fairly purchased; "I 

do hereby warn....all Officers, Soldiers and others under my 

command not to do any wrong or violence toward Country 

People or any persons whatsoever, unless they be actually in 

arms or office with the enemy.....as they shall answer to the 

contrary at their utmost peril."  

The massacres at Drogheda and Wexford were in some ways 

typical of the day, especially in the context of the recently 

ended Thirty Years War, although there are few comparable 

incidents during the Civil Wars in England or Scotland, which 

were fought mainly between Protestant adversaries, albeit of 

differing denominations. 

One possible comparison is Cromwell's Siege of Basing House 

in 1645—the seat of the prominent Catholic the Marquess of 

Winchester—which resulted in about 100 of the garrison of 400 

being killed after being refused quarter. Contemporaries also 

reported civilian casualties, six Catholic priests and a woman. 

However, the scale of the deaths at Basing House was much 

smaller. Cromwell himself said of the slaughter at Drogheda in 

his first letter back to the Council of State: "I believe we put to 

the sword the whole number of the defendants. I do not think 

thirty of the whole number escaped with their lives." 

Cromwell's orders—"in the heat of the action, I forbade them to 

spare any that were in arms in the town"—followed a request 

for surrender at the start of the siege, which was refused. The 

military protocol of the day was that a town or garrison that 

rejected the chance to surrender was not entitled to quarter. 

The refusal of the garrison at Drogheda to do this, even after 
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the walls had been breached, was to Cromwell justification for 

the massacre. Where Cromwell negotiated the surrender of 

fortified towns, as at Carlow, New Ross, and Clonmel, some 

historians argue that he respected the terms of surrender and 

protected the lives and property of the townspeople. At 

Wexford, Cromwell again began negotiations for surrender. 

However, the captain of Wexford Castle surrendered during the 

middle of the negotiations and, in the confusion, some of 

Cromwell's troops began indiscriminate killing and looting.  

Although Cromwell's time spent on campaign in Ireland was 

limited, and although he did not take on executive powers until 

1653, he is often the central focus of wider debates about 

whether, as historians such as Mark Levene and John Morrill 

suggest, the Commonwealth conducted a deliberate programme 

of ethnic cleansing in Ireland. Faced with the prospect of an 

Irish alliance with Charles II, Cromwell carried out a series of 

massacres to subdue the Irish. Then, once Cromwell had 

returned to England, the English Commissary, General Henry 

Ireton, Cromwell's son-in-law and his key adviser, adopted a 

deliberate policy of crop burning and starvation. Total excess 

deaths for the entire period of the Wars of the Three Kingdoms 

in Ireland was estimated by Sir William Petty, the 17th Century 

economist, to be 600,000 out of a total Irish population of 

1,400,000 in 1641. More modern estimates put the figure 

closer to 200,000 out of a population of 2 million.  

The sieges of Drogheda and Wexford have been prominently 

mentioned in histories and literature up to the present day. 

James Joyce, for example, mentioned Drogheda in his novel 

Ulysses: "What about sanctimonious Cromwell and his 

ironsides that put the women and children of Drogheda to the 
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sword with the Bible text "God is love" pasted round the mouth 

of his cannon?" Similarly, Winston Churchill (writing 1957) 

described the impact of Cromwell on Anglo-Irish relations:  

...upon all of these Cromwell's record was a lasting bane. By 

an uncompleted process of terror, by an iniquitous land 

settlement, by the virtual proscription of the Catholic religion, 

by the bloody deeds already described, he cut new gulfs 

between the nations and the creeds. 'Hell or Connaught' were 

the terms he thrust upon the native inhabitants, and they for 

their part, across three hundred years, have used as their 

keenest expression of hatred 'The Curse of Cromwell on 

you.' ... Upon all of us there still lies 'the curse of Cromwell'. 

A key surviving statement of Cromwell's own views on the 

conquest of Ireland is his Declaration of the lord lieutenant of 

Ireland for the undeceiving of deluded and seduced people of 

January 1650. In this he was scathing about Catholicism, 

saying that "I shall not, where I have the power... suffer the 

exercise of the Mass." However, he also declared that: "as for 

the people, what thoughts they have in the matter of religion in 

their own breasts I cannot reach; but I shall think it my duty, 

if they walk honestly and peaceably, not to cause them in the 

least to suffer for the same." Private soldiers who surrendered 

their arms "and shall live peaceably and honestly at their 

several homes, they shall be permitted so to do".  

In 1965 the Irish minister for lands stated that his policies 

were necessary to "undo the work of Cromwell"; circa 1997, 

Taoiseach Bertie Ahern demanded that a portrait of Cromwell 

be removed from a room in the Foreign Office before he began a 

meeting with Robin Cook.  
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Scottish campaign: 1650–51 

Scots proclaim Charles II as King 

Cromwell left Ireland in May 1650 and several months later 

invaded Scotland after the Scots had proclaimed Charles I's 

son Charles II as King. Cromwell was much less hostile to 

Scottish Presbyterians, some of whom had been his allies in 

the First English Civil War, than he was to Irish Catholics. He 

described the Scots as a people "fearing His [God's] name, 

though deceived". 

He made a famous appeal to the General Assembly of the 

Church of Scotland, urging them to see the error of the royal 

alliance—"I beseech you, in the bowels of Christ, think it 

possible you may be mistaken." The Scots' reply was robust: 

"would you have us to be sceptics in our religion?" This 

decision to negotiate with Charles II led Cromwell to believe 

that war was necessary.  

Battle of Dunbar 

His appeal rejected, Cromwell's veteran troops went on to 

invade Scotland. At first, the campaign went badly, as 

Cromwell's men were short of supplies and held up at 

fortifications manned by Scottish troops under David Leslie. 

Sickness began to spread in the ranks. Cromwell was on the 

brink of evacuating his army by sea from Dunbar. However, on 

3 September 1650, unexpectedly, Cromwell smashed the main 

Scottish army at the Battle of Dunbar, killing 4,000 Scottish 

soldiers, taking another 10,000 prisoner, and then capturing 

the Scottish capital of Edinburgh. The victory was of such a 
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magnitude that Cromwell called it "A high act of the Lord's 

Providence to us [and] one of the most signal mercies God hath 

done for England and His people".  

Battle of Worcester 

The following year, Charles II and his Scottish allies made an 

attempt to invade England and capture London while Cromwell 

was engaged in Scotland. Cromwell followed them south and 

caught them at Worcester on 3 September 1651, and his forces 

destroyed the last major Scottish Royalist army at the Battle of 

Worcester. Charles II barely escaped capture and fled to exile 

in France and the Netherlands, where he remained until 1660.  

To fight the battle, Cromwell organised an envelopment 

followed by a multi-pronged coordinated attack on Worcester, 

his forces attacking from three directions with two rivers 

partitioning them. He switched his reserves from one side of 

the river Severn to the other and then back again. The editor of 

the Great Rebellion article of the Encyclopædia Britannica 

(eleventh edition) notes that Worcester was a battle of 

manoeuvre compared to the early Civil War Battle of Turnham 

Green, which the English parliamentary armies were unable to 

execute at the start of the war, and he suggests that it was a 

prototype for the Battle of Sedan (1870).  

Conclusion 

In the final stages of the Scottish campaign, Cromwell's men 

under George Monck sacked Dundee, killing up to 1,000 men 

and 140 women and children. Scotland was ruled from England 

during the Commonwealth and was kept under military 
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occupation, with a line of fortifications sealing off the 

Highlands which had provided manpower for Royalist armies in 

Scotland. The northwest Highlands was the scene of another 

pro-Royalist uprising in 1653–55, which was put down with 

deployment of 6,000 English troops there. Presbyterianism was 

allowed to be practised as before, but the Kirk (the Scottish 

church) did not have the backing of the civil courts to impose 

its rulings, as it had previously.  

Cromwell's conquest left no significant legacy of bitterness in 

Scotland. The rule of the Commonwealth and Protectorate was 

largely peaceful, apart from the Highlands. Moreover, there 

were no wholesale confiscations of land or property. Three out 

of every four Justices of the Peace in Commonwealth Scotland 

were Scots and the country was governed jointly by the English 

military authorities and a Scottish Council of State.  

Return to England and dissolution of 

the Rump Parliament: 1651–1653 

Cromwell was away on campaign from the middle of 1649 until 

1651, and the various factions in Parliament began to fight 

amongst themselves with the King gone as their "common 

cause". Cromwell tried to galvanise the Rump into setting dates 

for new elections, uniting the three kingdoms under one polity, 

and to put in place a broad-brush, tolerant national church. 

However, the Rump vacillated in setting election dates, 

although it put in place a basic liberty of conscience, but it 

failed to produce an alternative for tithes or to dismantle other 

aspects of the existing religious settlement. In frustration, 

Cromwell demanded that the Rump establish a caretaker 
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government in April 1653 of 40 members drawn from the Rump 

and the army, and then abdicate; but the Rump returned to 

debating its own bill for a new government. Cromwell was so 

angered by this that he cleared the chamber and dissolved the 

Parliament by force on 20 April 1653, supported by about 40 

musketeers. 

Several accounts exist of this incident; in one, Cromwell is 

supposed to have said "you are no Parliament, I say you are no 

Parliament; I will put an end to your sitting". At least two 

accounts agree that he snatched up the ceremonial mace, 

symbol of Parliament's power, and demanded that the "bauble" 

be taken away. His troops were commanded by Charles 

Worsley, later one of his Major Generals and one of his most 

trusted advisors, to whom he entrusted the mace.  

Establishment of Barebone's Parliament: 

1653 

After the dissolution of the Rump, power passed temporarily to 

a council that debated what form the constitution should take. 

They took up the suggestion of Major-General Thomas Harrison 

for a "sanhedrin" of saints. Although Cromwell did not 

subscribe to Harrison's apocalyptic, Fifth Monarchist beliefs—

which saw a sanhedrin as the starting point for Christ's rule 

on earth—he was attracted by the idea of an assembly made up 

of men chosen for their religious credentials. In his speech at 

the opening of the assembly on 4 July 1653, Cromwell thanked 

God's providence that he believed had brought England to this 

point and set out their divine mission: "truly God hath called 

you to this work by, I think, as wonderful providences as ever 
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passed upon the sons of men in so short a time." The 

Nominated Assembly, sometimes known as the Parliament of 

Saints, or more commonly and denigratingly called Barebone's 

Parliament after one of its members, 

Praise-God Barebone, was tasked with finding a permanent 

constitutional and religious settlement (Cromwell was invited 

to be a member but declined). 

However, the revelation that a considerably larger segment of 

the membership than had been believed were the radical Fifth 

Monarchists led to its members voting to dissolve it on 12 

December 1653, out of fear of what the radicals might do if 

they took control of the Assembly.  

The Protectorate: 1653–1658 

After the dissolution of the Barebones Parliament, John 

Lambert put forward a new constitution known as the 

Instrument of Government, closely modelled on the Heads of 

Proposals. It made Cromwell Lord Protector for life to 

undertake "the chief magistracy and the administration of 

government". Cromwell was sworn in as Lord Protector on 16 

December 1653, with a ceremony in which he wore plain black 

clothing, rather than any monarchical regalia. 

However, from this point on Cromwell signed his name 'Oliver 

P', the P being an abbreviation for Protector, which was similar 

to the style of monarchs who used an R to mean Rex or Regina, 

and it soon became the norm for others to address him as 

"Your Highness". As Protector, he had the power to call and 

dissolve parliaments but was obliged under the Instrument to 
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seek the majority vote of a Council of State. Nevertheless, 

Cromwell's power was buttressed by his continuing popularity 

among the army. As the Lord Protector he was paid £100,000 a 

year.  

Cromwell had two key objectives as Lord Protector. The first 

was "healing and settling" the nation after the chaos of the 

civil wars and the regicide, which meant establishing a stable 

form for the new government to take. Although Cromwell 

declared to the first Protectorate Parliament that, "Government 

by one man and a parliament is fundamental," in practice 

social priorities took precedence over forms of government. 

Such forms were, he said, "but ... dross and dung in 

comparison of Christ". The social priorities did not, despite the 

revolutionary nature of the government, include any 

meaningful attempt to reform the social order. Cromwell 

declared, "A nobleman, a gentleman, a yeoman; the distinction 

of these: that is a good interest of the nation, and a great 

one!", Small-scale reform such as that carried out on the 

judicial system were outweighed by attempts to restore order to 

English politics. Direct taxation was reduced slightly and 

peace was made with the Dutch, ending the First Anglo-Dutch 

War.  

England's overseas possessions in this period included 

Newfoundland, the New England Confederation, the Providence 

Plantation, the Virginia Colony, the Maryland Colony, and 

islands in the West Indies. Cromwell soon secured the 

submission of these and largely left them to their own affairs, 

intervening only to curb his fellow Puritans who were usurping 

control over the Maryland Colony at the Battle of the Severn, 

by his confirming the former Roman Catholic proprietorship 
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and edict of tolerance there. Of all the English dominions, 

Virginia was the most resentful of Cromwell's rule, and 

Cavalier emigration there mushroomed during the Protectorate.  

Cromwell famously stressed the quest to restore order in his 

speech to the first Protectorate parliament at its inaugural 

meeting on 3 September 1654. He declared that "healing and 

settling" were the "great end of your meeting". However, the 

Parliament was quickly dominated by those pushing for more 

radical, properly republican reforms. After some initial 

gestures approving appointments previously made by 

Cromwell, the Parliament began to work on a radical 

programme of constitutional reform. Rather than opposing 

Parliament's bill, Cromwell dissolved them on 22 January 

1655. The First Protectorate Parliament had a property 

franchise of £200 per annum in real or personal property value 

set as the minimum value in which a male adult was to 

possess before he was eligible to vote for the representatives 

from the counties or shires in the House of Commons. The 

House of Commons representatives from the boroughs were 

elected by the burgesses or those borough residents who had 

the right to vote in municipal elections, and by the aldermen 

and councilors of the boroughs.  

Cromwell's second objective was spiritual and moral reform. He 

aimed to restore liberty of conscience and promote both 

outward and inward godliness throughout England. During the 

early months of the Protectorate, a set of "triers" was 

established to assess the suitability of future parish ministers, 

and a related set of "ejectors" was set up to dismiss ministers 

and schoolmasters who were deemed unsuitable for office. The 

triers and the ejectors were intended to be at the vanguard of 
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Cromwell's reform of parish worship. This second objective is 

also the context in which to see the constitutional experiment 

of the Major Generals that followed the dissolution of the first 

Protectorate Parliament. After a Royalist uprising in March 

1655, led by Sir John Penruddock, Cromwell (influenced by 

Lambert) divided England into military districts ruled by army 

major generals who answered only to him. 

The 15 major generals and deputy major generals—called 

"godly governors"—were central not only to national security, 

but Cromwell's crusade to reform the nation's morals. The 

generals not only supervised militia forces and security 

commissions, but collected taxes and ensured support for the 

government in the English and Welsh provinces. 

Commissioners for securing the peace of the Commonwealth 

were appointed to work with them in every county. While a few 

of these commissioners were career politicians, most were 

zealous puritans who welcomed the major-generals with open 

arms and embraced their work with enthusiasm. 

However, the major-generals lasted less than a year. Many 

feared they threatened their reform efforts and authority. Their 

position was further harmed by a tax proposal by Major 

General John Desborough to provide financial backing for their 

work, which the second Protectorate parliament—instated in 

September 1656—voted down for fear of a permanent military 

state. Ultimately, however, 

Cromwell's failure to support his men, sacrificing them to his 

opponents, caused their demise. Their activities between 

November 1655 and September 1656 had, however, reopened 

the wounds of the 1640s and deepened antipathies to the 
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regime. In late 1654, Cromwell launched the Western Design 

armada against the Spanish West Indies, and in May 1655 

captured Jamaica.  

As Lord Protector, Cromwell was aware of the Jewish 

community's involvement in the economics of the Netherlands, 

now England's leading commercial rival. It was this—allied to 

Cromwell's tolerance of the right to private worship of those 

who fell outside Puritanism—that led to his encouraging Jews 

to return to England in 1657, over 350 years after their 

banishment by Edward I, in the hope that they would help 

speed up the recovery of the country after the disruption of the 

Civil Wars. There was a longer-term motive for Cromwell's 

decision to allow the Jews to return to England, and that was 

the hope that they would convert to Christianity and therefore 

hasten the Second Coming of Jesus Christ, ultimately based on 

Matthew 23:37–39 and Romans 11. At the Whitehall conference 

of December 1655 he quoted from St. Paul's Epistle to the 

Romans 10:12–15 on the need to send Christian preachers to 

the Jews. William Prynne the Presbyterian, in contrast to 

Cromwell the Congregationalist, was strongly opposed to the 

latter's pro-Jewish policy.  

On 23 March 1657, the Protectorate signed the Treaty of Paris 

with Louis XIV against Spain. Cromwell pledged to supply 

France with 6,000 troops and war ships. In accordance with 

the terms of the treaty, Mardyck and Dunkirk – a base for 

privateers and commerce raiders attacking English merchant 

shipping – were ceded to England.  

In 1657, Cromwell was offered the crown by Parliament as part 

of a revised constitutional settlement, presenting him with a 
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dilemma since he had been "instrumental" in abolishing the 

monarchy. Cromwell agonised for six weeks over the offer. He 

was attracted by the prospect of stability it held out, but in a 

speech on 13 April 1657 he made clear that God's providence 

had spoken against the office of King: "I would not seek to set 

up that which Providence hath destroyed and laid in the dust, 

and I would not build Jericho again". 

The reference to Jericho harks back to a previous occasion on 

which Cromwell had wrestled with his conscience when the 

news reached England of the defeat of an expedition against 

the Spanish-held island of Hispaniola in the West Indies in 

1655—comparing himself to Achan, who had brought the 

Israelites defeat after bringing plunder back to camp after the 

capture of Jericho. Instead, Cromwell was ceremonially re-

installed as Lord Protector on 26 June 1657 at Westminster 

Hall, sitting upon King Edward's Chair, which was moved 

specially from Westminster Abbey for the occasion. 

The event in part echoed a coronation, using many of its 

symbols and regalia, such as a purple ermine-lined robe, a 

sword of justice and a sceptre (but not a crown or an orb). But, 

most notably, the office of Lord Protector was still not to 

become hereditary, though Cromwell was now able to nominate 

his own successor. Cromwell's new rights and powers were laid 

out in the Humble Petition and Advice, a legislative instrument 

which replaced the Instrument of Government. Despite failing 

to restore the Crown, this new constitution did set up many of 

the vestiges of the ancient constitution including a house of 

life peers (in place of the House of Lords). In the Humble 

Petition it was called the Other House as the Commons could 

not agree on a suitable name. Furthermore, Oliver Cromwell 
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increasingly took on more of the trappings of monarchy. In 

particular, he created three peerages after the acceptance of 

the Humble Petition and Advice: Charles Howard was made 

Viscount Morpeth and Baron Gisland in July 1657 and 

Edmund Dunch was created Baron Burnell of East Wittenham 

in April 1658.  

Death and posthumous execution 

Cromwell is thought to have suffered from malaria and kidney 

stone disease. In 1658, he was struck by a sudden bout of 

malarial fever, followed directly by illness symptomatic of a 

urinary or kidney complaint. The Venetian ambassador wrote 

regular dispatches to the Doge of Venice in which he included 

details of Cromwell's final illness, and he was suspicious of the 

rapidity of his death. The decline may have been hastened by 

the death of his daughter Elizabeth Claypole in August. He 

died at age 59 at Whitehall on 3 September 1658, the 

anniversary of his great victories at Dunbar and Worcester. 

The night of his death, a great storm swept England and all 

over Europe. The most likely cause of death was septicaemia 

(blood poisoning) following his urinary infection. He was buried 

with great ceremony, with an elaborate funeral at Westminster 

Abbey based on that of James I, his daughter Elizabeth also 

being buried there.  

Cromwell was succeeded as Lord Protector by his son Richard. 

Richard had no power base in Parliament or the Army and was 

forced to resign in May 1659, ending the Protectorate. There 

was no clear leadership from the various factions that jostled 

for power during the reinstated Commonwealth, so George 

Monck was able to march on London at the head of New Model 
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Army regiments and restore the Long Parliament. Under 

Monck's watchful eye, the necessary constitutional 

adjustments were made so that Charles II could be invited 

back from exile in 1660 to be King under a restored monarchy.  

Cromwell's body was exhumed from Westminster Abbey on 30 

January 1661, the 12th anniversary of the execution of Charles 

I, and was subjected to a posthumous execution, as were the 

remains of John Bradshaw and Henry Ireton. (The body of 

Cromwell's daughter was allowed to remain buried in the 

Abbey.) His body was hanged in chains at Tyburn, London, and 

then thrown into a pit. 

His head was cut off and displayed on a pole outside 

Westminster Hall until 1685. Afterwards, it was owned by 

various people, including a documented sale in 1814 to Josiah 

Henry Wilkinson, and it was publicly exhibited several times 

before being buried beneath the floor of the antechapel at 

Sidney Sussex College, Cambridge, in 1960. The exact position 

was not publicly disclosed, but a plaque marks the 

approximate location.  

Many people began to question whether the body mutilated at 

Tyburn and the head seen on Westminster Hall were 

Cromwell's. These doubts arose because it was assumed that 

Cromwell's body was reburied in several places between his 

death in September 1658 and the exhumation of January 1661, 

in order to protect it from vengeful royalists. The stories 

suggest that his bodily remains are buried in London, 

Cambridgeshire, Northamptonshire, or Yorkshire.  

The Cromwell vault was later used as a burial place for Charles 

II's illegitimate descendants. In Westminster Abbey, the site of 
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Cromwell's burial was marked during the 19th century by a 

floor stone in what is now the RAF Chapel reading: "The burial 

place of Oliver Cromwell 1658–1661".  

Political reputation 

During his lifetime, some tracts painted Cromwell as a 

hypocrite motivated by power. For example, The Machiavilian 

Cromwell and The Juglers Discovered are parts of an attack on 

Cromwell by the Levellers after 1647, and both present him as 

a Machiavellian figure. John Spittlehouse presented a more 

positive assessment in A Warning Piece Discharged, comparing 

him to Moses rescuing the English by taking them safely 

through the Red Sea of the civil wars. Poet John Milton called 

Cromwell "our chief of men" in his Sonnet XVI.  

Several biographies were published soon after Cromwell's 

death. An example is The Perfect Politician, which describes 

how Cromwell "loved men more than books" and provides a 

nuanced assessment of him as an energetic campaigner for 

liberty of conscience who is brought down by pride and 

ambition. An equally nuanced but less positive assessment was 

published in 1667 by Edward Hyde, 1st Earl of Clarendon in 

his History of the Rebellion and Civil Wars in England. 

Clarendon famously declares that Cromwell "will be looked 

upon by posterity as a brave bad man". 

He argues that Cromwell's rise to power had been helped by his 

great spirit and energy, but also by his ruthlessness. 

Clarendon was not one of Cromwell's confidantes, and his 

account was written after the Restoration of the monarchy.  
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During the early 18th century, Cromwell's image began to be 

adopted and reshaped by the Whigs as part of a wider project 

to give their political objectives historical legitimacy. John 

Toland rewrote Edmund Ludlow's Memoirs in order to remove 

the Puritan elements and replace them with a Whiggish brand 

of republicanism, and it presents the Cromwellian Protectorate 

as a military tyranny. Through Ludlow, Toland portrayed 

Cromwell as a despot who crushed the beginnings of 

democratic rule in the 1640s.  

I hope to render the English name as great and formidable as 

ever the Roman was. 

• —  Cromwell 

During the early 19th century, Cromwell began to be portrayed 

in a positive light by Romantic artists and poets. Thomas 

Carlyle continued this reassessment in the 1840s, publishing 

an annotated collection of his letters and speeches, and 

describing English Puritanism as "the last of all our Heroisms" 

while taking a negative view of his own era. By the late 19th 

century, Carlyle's portrayal of Cromwell had become 

assimilated into Whig and Liberal historiography, stressing the 

centrality of puritan morality and earnestness. Oxford civil war 

historian Samuel Rawson Gardiner concluded that "the man—it 

is ever so with the noblest—was greater than his work". 

Gardiner stressed Cromwell's dynamic and mercurial 

character, and his role in dismantling absolute monarchy, 

while underestimating Cromwell's religious conviction. 

Cromwell's foreign policy also provided an attractive forerunner 

of Victorian imperial expansion, with Gardiner stressing his 

"constancy of effort to make England great by land and sea". 
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Calvin Coolidge described Cromwell as a brilliant statesman 

who "dared to oppose the tyranny of the kings."  

During the first half of the 20th century, Cromwell's reputation 

was often influenced by the rise of fascism in Nazi Germany 

and in Italy. Harvard historian Wilbur Cortez Abbott, for 

example, devoted much of his career to compiling and editing a 

multi-volume collection of Cromwell's letters and speeches, 

published between 1937 and 1947. Abbott argues that 

Cromwell was a proto-fascist. However, subsequent historians 

such as John Morrill have criticised both Abbott's 

interpretation of Cromwell and his editorial approach.  

Late 20th-century historians re-examined the nature of 

Cromwell's faith and of his authoritarian regime. Austin 

Woolrych explored the issue of "dictatorship" in depth, arguing 

that Cromwell was subject to two conflicting forces: his 

obligation to the army and his desire to achieve a lasting 

settlement by winning back the confidence of the nation as a 

whole. 

He argued that the dictatorial elements of Cromwell's rule 

stemmed less from its military origin or the participation of 

army officers in civil government than from his constant 

commitment to the interest of the people of God and his 

conviction that suppressing vice and encouraging virtue 

constituted the chief end of government. Historians such as 

John Morrill, Blair Worden, and J. C. Davis have developed 

this theme, revealing the extent to which Cromwell's writing 

and speeches are suffused with biblical references, and 

arguing that his radical actions were driven by his zeal for 

godly reformation.  
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Monuments and posthumous honours 

In 1776, one of the first ships commissioned to serve in the 

American Continental Navy during the American Revolutionary 

War was named Oliver Cromwell.  

19th-century engineer Sir Richard Tangye was a noted 

Cromwell enthusiast and collector of Cromwell manuscripts 

and memorabilia. His collection included many rare 

manuscripts and printed books, medals, paintings, objects 

d'art, and a bizarre assemblage of "relics". This includes 

Cromwell's Bible, button, coffin plate, death mask, and funeral 

escutcheon. On Tangye's death, the entire collection was 

donated to the Museum of London, where it can still be seen.  

In 1875, a statue of Cromwell by Matthew Noble was erected in 

Manchester outside the Manchester Cathedral, a gift to the city 

by Abel Heywood in memory of her first husband. It was the 

first large-scale statue to be erected in the open in England, 

and was a realistic likeness based on the painting by Peter 

Lely; it showed Cromwell in battledress with drawn sword and 

leather body armour. It was unpopular with local 

Conservatives and the large Irish immigrant population. Queen 

Victoria was invited to open the new Manchester Town Hall, 

and she allegedly consented on the condition that the statue be 

removed. The statue remained, Victoria declined, and the town 

hall was opened by the Lord Mayor. During the 1980s, the 

statue was relocated outside Wythenshawe Hall, which had 

been occupied by Cromwell's troops.  

During the 1890s, Parliamentary plans turned controversial to 

erect a statue of Cromwell outside Parliament. Pressure from 
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the Irish Nationalist Party forced the withdrawal of a motion to 

seek public funding for the project; the statue was eventually 

erected but it had to be funded privately by Lord Rosebery.  

Cromwell controversy continued into the 20th century. Winston 

Churchill was First Lord of the Admiralty before World War I, 

and he twice suggested naming a British battleship HMS Oliver 

Cromwell. The suggestion was vetoed by King George V because 

of his personal feelings and because he felt that it was unwise 

to give such a name to an expensive warship at a time of Irish 

political unrest, especially given the anger caused by the 

statue outside Parliament. Churchill was eventually told by 

First Sea Lord Admiral Battenberg that the King's decision 

must be treated as final. The Cromwell Tank was a British 

medium-weight tank first used in 1944, and a steam 

locomotive built by British Railways in 1951 was the BR 

Standard Class 7 70013 Oliver Cromwell.  

  



Chapter 31 

Charles II becomes King 

Charles II (29 May 1630 – 6 February 1685) was King of 

Scotland from 1649 until 1651, and King of Scotland, England 

and Ireland from the 1660 Restoration of the monarchy until 

his death in 1685.  

Charles II was the eldest surviving child of Charles I of 

England, Scotland and Ireland and Henrietta Maria of France. 

After Charles I's execution at Whitehall on 30 January 1649, at 

the climax of the English Civil War, the Parliament of Scotland 

proclaimed Charles II king on 5 February 1649. But England 

entered the period known as the English Interregnum or the 

English Commonwealth, and the country was a de facto 

republic led by Oliver Cromwell. Cromwell defeated Charles II 

at the Battle of Worcester on 3 September 1651, and Charles 

fled to mainland Europe. Cromwell became virtual dictator of 

England, Scotland and Ireland. Charles spent the next nine 

years in exile in France, the Dutch Republic and the Spanish 

Netherlands. The political crisis that followed Cromwell's death 

in 1658 resulted in the restoration of the monarchy, and 

Charles was invited to return to Britain. On 29 May 1660, his 

30th birthday, he was received in London to public acclaim. 

After 1660, all legal documents stating a regnal year did so as 

if he had succeeded his father as king in 1649.  

Charles's English parliament enacted laws known as the 

Clarendon Code, designed to shore up the position of the re-

established Church of England. Charles acquiesced to the 
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Clarendon Code even though he favoured a policy of religious 

tolerance. The major foreign policy issue of his early reign was 

the Second Anglo-Dutch War. In 1670, he entered into the 

Treaty of Dover, an alliance with his cousin King Louis XIV of 

France. Louis agreed to aid him in the Third Anglo-Dutch War 

and pay him a pension, and Charles secretly promised to 

convert to Catholicism at an unspecified future date. Charles 

attempted to introduce religious freedom for Catholics and 

Protestant dissenters with his 1672 Royal Declaration of 

Indulgence, but the English Parliament forced him to withdraw 

it. In 1679, Titus Oates's revelations of a supposed Popish Plot 

sparked the Exclusion Crisis when it was revealed that 

Charles's brother and heir presumptive, James, Duke of York, 

was Catholic. The crisis saw the birth of the pro-exclusion 

Whig and anti-exclusion Tory parties. Charles sided with the 

Tories, and after the discovery of the Rye House Plot to murder 

Charles and James in 1683, some Whig leaders were executed 

or forced into exile. Charles dissolved the English Parliament 

in 1681 and ruled alone until his death in 1685. He was 

allegedly received into the Catholic Church on his deathbed.  

Traditionally considered one of the most popular English kings, 

Charles is known as the Merry Monarch, a reference to the 

liveliness and hedonism of his court. He acknowledged at least 

12 illegitimate children by various mistresses, but left no 

legitimate children and was succeeded by his brother, James.  

Early life, civil war and exile 

Charles II was born at St James's Palace on 29 May 1630. His 

parents were Charles I, who ruled the three kingdoms of 

England, Scotland and Ireland, and Henrietta Maria, the sister 
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of the French king Louis XIII. Charles was their second child. 

Their first son was born about a year before Charles, but died 

within a day. England, Scotland, and Ireland were respectively 

predominantly Anglican, Presbyterian, and Catholic. Charles 

was baptised in the Chapel Royal, on 27 June, by the Anglican 

Bishop of London, William Laud. He was brought up in the care 

of the Protestant Countess of Dorset, though his godparents 

included his maternal uncle Louis XIII and his maternal 

grandmother, Marie de' Medici, the Dowager Queen of France, 

both of whom were Catholics. At birth, Charles automatically 

became Duke of Cornwall and Duke of Rothesay, along with 

several other associated titles. At or around his eighth 

birthday, he was designated Prince of Wales, though he was 

never formally invested.  

During the 1640s, when Charles was still young, his father 

fought Parliamentary and Puritan forces in the English Civil 

War. Charles accompanied his father during the Battle of 

Edgehill and, at the age of fourteen, participated in the 

campaigns of 1645, when he was made titular commander of 

the English forces in the West Country. By spring 1646, his 

father was losing the war, and Charles left England due to 

fears for his safety. Setting off from Falmouth after staying at 

Pendennis Castle, he went first to the Isles of Scilly, then to 

Jersey, and finally to France, where his mother was already 

living in exile and his first cousin, eight-year-old Louis XIV, 

was king. Charles I surrendered into captivity in May 1646.  

In 1648, during the Second English Civil War, Charles moved 

to The Hague, where his sister Mary and his brother-in-law 

William II, Prince of Orange, seemed more likely to provide 

substantial aid to the royalist cause than his mother's French 
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relations. However, the royalist fleet that came under Charles's 

control was not used to any advantage, and did not reach 

Scotland in time to join up with the royalist Engager army of 

the Duke of Hamilton before it was defeated at the Battle of 

Preston by the Parliamentarians.  

At The Hague, Charles had a brief affair with Lucy Walter, who 

later falsely claimed that they had secretly married. Her son, 

James Crofts (afterwards Duke of Monmouth and Duke of 

Buccleuch), was one of Charles's many illegitimate children 

who became prominent in British society.  

Despite his son's diplomatic efforts to save him, King Charles I 

was beheaded in January 1649, and England became a 

republic. On 5 February, the Covenanter Parliament of 

Scotland proclaimed Charles II "King of Great Britain, France 

and Ireland" at the Mercat Cross, Edinburgh, but refused to 

allow him to enter Scotland unless he accepted the imposition 

of Presbyterianism throughout Britain and Ireland.  

• When negotiations with the Scots stalled, Charles 

authorised General Montrose to land in the Orkney 

Islands with a small army to threaten the Scots with 

invasion, in the hope of forcing an agreement more 

to his liking. Montrose feared that Charles would 

accept a compromise, and so chose to invade 

mainland Scotland anyway. He was captured and 

executed. Charles reluctantly promised that he 

would abide by the terms of a treaty agreed between 

him and the Scots Parliament at Breda, and support 

the Solemn League and Covenant, which authorised 

Presbyterian church governance across Britain. Upon 
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his arrival in Scotland on 23 June 1650, he formally 

agreed to the Covenant; his abandonment of 

Episcopal church governance, although winning him 

support in Scotland, left him unpopular in England. 

Charles himself soon came to despise the "villainy" 

and "hypocrisy" of the Covenanters. 

On 3 September 1650, the Covenanters were defeated at the 

Battle of Dunbar by a much smaller force led by Oliver 

Cromwell. 

The Scots forces were divided into royalist Engagers and 

Presbyterian Covenanters, who even fought each other. 

Disillusioned by the Covenanters, in October Charles 

attempted to escape from them and rode north to join with an 

Engager force, an event which became known as "the Start", 

but within two days the Presbyterians had caught up with and 

recovered him. Nevertheless, the Scots remained Charles's best 

hope of restoration, and he was crowned King of Scotland at 

Scone Abbey on 1 January 1651. With Cromwell's forces 

threatening Charles's position in Scotland, it was decided to 

mount an attack on England. 

With many of the Scots (including Lord Argyll and other 

leading Covenanters) refusing to participate, and with few 

English royalists joining the force as it moved south into 

England, the invasion ended in defeat at the Battle of 

Worcester on 3 September 1651, after which Charles eluded 

capture by hiding in the Royal Oak at Boscobel House. 

Through six weeks of narrow escapes Charles managed to flee 

England in disguise, landing in Normandy on 16 October, 

despite a reward of £1,000 on his head, risk of death for 
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anyone caught helping him and the difficulty in disguising 

Charles, who, at over 6 ft (1.8 m), was unusually tall for the 

time.  

Under the Instrument of Government passed by Parliament, 

Cromwell was appointed Lord Protector of England, Scotland 

and Ireland in 1653, effectively placing the British Isles under 

military rule. Charles lived a life of leisure at Saint-Germain-

en-Laye near Paris, living on a grant from Louis XIV of 600 

livres a month. Charles could not obtain sufficient finance or 

support to mount a serious challenge to Cromwell's 

government. Despite the Stuart family connections through 

Henrietta Maria and the Princess of Orange, France and the 

Dutch Republic allied themselves with Cromwell's government 

from 1654, forcing Charles to leave France and turn for aid to 

Spain, which at that time ruled the Southern Netherlands.  

Charles made the Treaty of Brussels with Spain in 1656. This 

gathered Spanish support for a restoration in return for 

Charles's contribution to the war against France. Charles 

raised a ragtag army from his exiled subjects; this small, 

underpaid, poorly-equipped and ill-disciplined force formed the 

nucleus of the post-Restoration army. The Commonwealth 

made the Treaty of Paris with France in 1657 to join them in 

war against Spain in the Netherlands. Royalist supporters in 

the Spanish force were led by Charles's younger brother 

James, Duke of York. At the Battle of the Dunes in 1658, as 

part of the larger Spanish force, Charles's army of around 

2,000 clashed with Commonwealth troops fighting with the 

French. By the end of the battle Charles's force was about 

1,000 and with Dunkirk given to the English the prospect of a 

Royalist expedition to England was dashed.  
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Restoration 

After the death of Cromwell in 1658, Charles's initial chances 

of regaining the Crown seemed slim; Cromwell was succeeded 

as Lord Protector by his son, Richard. However, the new Lord 

Protector had little experience of either military or civil 

administration. In 1659, the Rump Parliament was recalled 

and Richard resigned. During the civil and military unrest that 

followed, 

George Monck, the Governor of Scotland, was concerned that 

the nation would descend into anarchy. Monck and his army 

marched into the City of London, and forced the Rump 

Parliament to re-admit members of the Long Parliament who 

had been excluded in December 1648, during Pride's Purge. 

The Long Parliament dissolved itself and there was a general 

election for the first time in almost 20 years. The outgoing 

Parliament defined the electoral qualifications intending to 

bring about the return of a Presbyterian majority.  

The restrictions against royalist candidates and voters were 

widely ignored, and the elections resulted in a House of 

Commons that was fairly evenly divided on political grounds 

between Royalists and Parliamentarians and on religious 

grounds between Anglicans and Presbyterians. The new so-

called Convention Parliament assembled on 25 April 1660, and 

soon afterwards welcomed the Declaration of Breda, in which 

Charles promised lenience and tolerance. There would be 

liberty of conscience and Anglican church policy would not be 

harsh. He would not exile past enemies nor confiscate their 

wealth. There would be pardons for nearly all his opponents 

except the regicides. Above all, Charles promised to rule in 
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cooperation with Parliament. The English Parliament resolved 

to proclaim Charles king and invite him to return, a message 

that reached Charles at Breda on 8 May 1660. In Ireland, a 

convention had been called earlier in the year, and had already 

declared for Charles. On 14 May, he was proclaimed king in 

Dublin.  

He set out for England from Scheveningen, arrived in Dover on 

25 May 1660 and reached London on 29 May, his 30th 

birthday. Although Charles and Parliament granted amnesty to 

nearly all of Cromwell's supporters in the Act of Indemnity and 

Oblivion, 50 people were specifically excluded. In the end nine 

of the regicides were executed: they were hanged, drawn and 

quartered; others were given life imprisonment or simply 

excluded from office for life. The bodies of Oliver Cromwell, 

Henry Ireton and John Bradshaw were subjected to the 

indignity of posthumous decapitations.  

The English Parliament granted him an annual income to run 

the government of £1.2 million, generated largely from customs 

and excise duties. The grant, however, proved to be insufficient 

for most of Charles's reign. For the most part, the actual 

revenue was much lower, which led to attempts to economise 

at court by reducing the size and expenses of the royal 

household and raise money through unpopular innovations 

such as the hearth tax.  

In the latter half of 1660, Charles's joy at the Restoration was 

tempered by the deaths of his youngest brother, Henry, and 

sister, Mary, of smallpox. At around the same time, Anne Hyde, 

the daughter of the Lord Chancellor, Edward Hyde, revealed 

that she was pregnant by Charles's brother, James, whom she 



Pre–United States History: 1600–1699, Volume 4 

804 

 

had secretly married. Edward Hyde, who had not known of 

either the marriage or the pregnancy, was created Earl of 

Clarendon and his position as Charles's favourite minister was 

strengthened.  

Clarendon Code 

The Convention Parliament was dissolved in December 1660, 

and, shortly after the coronation, the second English 

Parliament of the reign assembled. Dubbed the Cavalier 

Parliament, it was overwhelmingly Royalist and Anglican. It 

sought to discourage non-conformity to the Church of England 

and passed several acts to secure Anglican dominance. The 

Corporation Act 1661 required municipal officeholders to swear 

allegiance; the Act of Uniformity 1662 made the use of the 

Anglican Book of Common Prayer compulsory; the Conventicle 

Act 1664 prohibited religious assemblies of more than five 

people, except under the auspices of the Church of England; 

and the Five Mile Act 1665 prohibited expelled non-conforming 

clergymen from coming within five miles (8 km) of a parish 

from which they had been banished. The Conventicle and Five 

Mile Acts remained in effect for the remainder of Charles's 

reign. The Acts became known as the Clarendon Code, after 

Lord Clarendon, even though he was not directly responsible 

for them and even spoke against the Five Mile Act.  

The Restoration was accompanied by social change. Puritanism 

lost its momentum. Theatres reopened after having been closed 

during the protectorship of Oliver Cromwell, and bawdy 

"Restoration comedy" became a recognisable genre. Theatre 

licences granted by Charles required that female parts be 

played by "their natural performers", rather than by boys as 
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was often the practice before; and Restoration literature 

celebrated or reacted to the restored court, which included 

libertines such as John Wilmot, 2nd Earl of Rochester. Of 

Charles II, Wilmot supposedly said:  

"We have a pretty, witty king, 

Whose word no man relies on, 

He never said a foolish thing, 

And never did a wise one"  

To which Charles is reputed to have replied "that the matter 

was easily accounted for: For that his discourse was his own, 

his actions were the ministry's".  

Great Plague and Great Fire 

In 1665, Charles was faced with a great health crisis: the Great 

Plague of London. The death toll reached a peak of 7,000 per 

week in the week of 17 September. Charles, with his family and 

court, fled London in July to Salisbury; Parliament met in 

Oxford. Plague cases ebbed over the winter, and Charles 

returned to London in February 1666.  

After a long spell of hot and dry weather through mid-1666, 

what later became known as the Great Fire of London started 

on 2 September 1666 in a bakehouse on Pudding Lane. Fanned 

by a strong easterly wind and fed by stockpiles of wood and 

fuel that had been prepared for the coming colder months, the 

fire eventually consumed about 13,200 houses and 87 

churches, including St Paul's Cathedral. Charles and his 
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brother James joined and directed the fire-fighting effort. The 

public blamed Catholic conspirators for the fire, and one 

Frenchman, Robert Hubert, was hanged on the basis of a false 

confession even though he had no hand in starting the fire.  

Foreign policy and marriage 

Since 1640, Portugal had been fighting a war against Spain to 

restore its independence after a dynastic union of sixty years 

between the crowns of Spain and Portugal. Portugal had been 

helped by France, but in the Treaty of the Pyrenees in 1659 

Portugal was abandoned by its French ally. Negotiations with 

Portugal for Charles's marriage to Catherine of Braganza began 

during his father's reign and upon the restoration, Queen 

Luísa of Portugal, acting as regent, reopened negotiations with 

England that resulted in an alliance. On 23 June 1661, a 

marriage treaty was signed; England acquired Catherine's 

dowry of Tangier (in North Africa) and the Seven islands of 

Bombay (the latter having a major influence on the 

development of the British Empire in India), together with 

trading privileges in Brazil and the East Indies, religious and 

commercial freedom in Portugal and two million Portuguese 

crowns (about £300,000); while Portugal obtained military and 

naval support against Spain and liberty of worship for 

Catherine. 

Catherine journeyed from Portugal to Portsmouth on 13–14 

May 1662, but was not visited by Charles there until 20 May. 

The next day the couple were married at Portsmouth in two 

ceremonies—a Catholic one conducted in secret, followed by a 

public Anglican service.  
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The same year, in an unpopular move, Charles sold Dunkirk to 

his first cousin King Louis XIV of France for about £375,000. 

The channel port, although a valuable strategic outpost, was a 

drain on Charles's limited finances.  

Before Charles's restoration, the Navigation Acts of 1650 had 

hurt Dutch trade by giving English vessels a monopoly, and 

had started the First Dutch War (1652–1654). To lay 

foundations for a new beginning, envoys of the States General 

appeared in November 1660 with the Dutch Gift. 

The Second Dutch War (1665–1667) was started by English 

attempts to muscle in on Dutch possessions in Africa and 

North America. 

The conflict began well for the English, with the capture of New 

Amsterdam (renamed New York in honour of Charles's brother 

James, Duke of York) and a victory at the Battle of Lowestoft, 

but in 1667 the Dutch launched a surprise attack on England 

(the Raid on the Medway) when they sailed up the River 

Thames to where a major part of the English fleet was docked. 

Almost all of the ships were sunk except for the flagship, Royal 

Charles, which was taken back to the Netherlands as a prize. 

The Second Dutch War ended with the signing of the Treaty of 

Breda.  

As a result of the Second Dutch War, Charles dismissed Lord 

Clarendon, whom he used as a scapegoat for the war. 

Clarendon fled to France when impeached for high treason 

(which carried the penalty of death). Power passed to five 

politicians known collectively by a whimsical acronym as the 

Cabal—Clifford, Arlington, Buckingham, Ashley (afterwards 

Earl of Shaftesbury) and Lauderdale. In fact, the Cabal rarely 
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acted in concert, and the court was often divided between two 

factions led by Arlington and Buckingham, with Arlington the 

more successful.  

In 1668, England allied itself with Sweden, and with its former 

enemy the Netherlands, to oppose Louis XIV in the War of 

Devolution. Louis made peace with the Triple Alliance, but he 

continued to maintain his aggressive intentions towards the 

Netherlands. In 1670, Charles, seeking to solve his financial 

troubles, agreed to the Treaty of Dover, under which Louis XIV 

would pay him £160,000 each year. In exchange, Charles 

agreed to supply Louis with troops and to announce his 

conversion to Catholicism "as soon as the welfare of his 

kingdom will permit". Louis was to provide him with 6,000 

troops to suppress those who opposed the conversion. Charles 

endeavoured to ensure that the Treaty—especially the 

conversion clause—remained secret. It remains unclear if 

Charles ever seriously intended to convert.  

Meanwhile, by a series of five charters, Charles granted the 

East India Company the rights to autonomous government of 

its territorial acquisitions, to mint money, to command 

fortresses and troops, to form alliances, to make war and 

peace, and to exercise both civil and criminal jurisdiction over 

its possessions in the Indies. Earlier in 1668 he leased the 

islands of Bombay to the company for a nominal sum of £10 

paid in gold. 

The Portuguese territories that Catherine brought with her as a 

dowry proved too expensive to maintain; Tangier was 

abandoned in 1684. In 1670, Charles granted control of the 

entire Hudson Bay drainage basin to the Hudson's Bay 



Pre–United States History: 1600–1699, Volume 4 

809 

 

Company by royal charter, and named the territory Rupert's 

Land, after his cousin Prince Rupert of the Rhine, the 

company's first governor.  

Conflict with Parliament 

Although previously favourable to the Crown, the Cavalier 

Parliament was alienated by the king's wars and religious 

policies during the 1670s. In 1672, Charles issued the Royal 

Declaration of Indulgence, in which he purported to suspend 

all penal laws against Catholics and other religious dissenters. 

In the same year, he openly supported Catholic France and 

started the Third Anglo-Dutch War.  

The Cavalier Parliament opposed the Declaration of Indulgence 

on constitutional grounds by claiming that the king had no 

right to arbitrarily suspend laws passed by Parliament. Charles 

withdrew the Declaration, and also agreed to the Test Act, 

which not only required public officials to receive the 

sacrament under the forms prescribed by the Church of 

England, but also later forced them to denounce 

transubstantiation and the Catholic Mass as "superstitious 

and idolatrous". Clifford, who had converted to Catholicism, 

resigned rather than take the oath, and died shortly after, 

possibly from suicide. By 1674 England had gained nothing 

from the Anglo-Dutch War, and the Cavalier Parliament refused 

to provide further funds, forcing Charles to make peace. The 

power of the Cabal waned and that of Clifford's replacement, 

Lord Danby, grew.  

Charles's wife Queen Catherine was unable to produce an heir; 

her four pregnancies had ended in miscarriages and stillbirths 
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in 1662, February 1666, May 1668 and June 1669. Charles's 

heir presumptive was therefore his unpopular Catholic brother, 

James, Duke of York. Partly to assuage public fears that the 

royal family was too Catholic, Charles agreed that James's 

daughter, Mary, should marry the Protestant William of 

Orange. In 1678, Titus Oates, who had been alternately an 

Anglican and Jesuit priest, falsely warned of a "Popish Plot" to 

assassinate the king, even accusing the queen of complicity. 

Charles did not believe the allegations, but ordered his chief 

minister Lord Danby to investigate. While Danby seems to have 

been rightly sceptical about Oates's claims, the Cavalier 

Parliament took them seriously. The people were seized with an 

anti-Catholic hysteria; judges and juries across the land 

condemned the supposed conspirators; numerous innocent 

individuals were executed.  

Later in 1678, Danby was impeached by the House of Commons 

on the charge of high treason. Although much of the nation 

had sought war with Catholic France, Charles had secretly 

negotiated with Louis XIV, trying to reach an agreement under 

which England would remain neutral in return for money. 

Danby had publicly professed that he was hostile to France, 

but had reservedly agreed to abide by Charles's wishes. 

Unfortunately for him, the House of Commons failed to view 

him as a reluctant participant in the scandal, instead believing 

that he was the author of the policy. To save Danby from the 

impeachment trial, Charles dissolved the Cavalier Parliament 

in January 1679.  

The new English Parliament, which met in March of the same 

year, was quite hostile to Charles. Many members feared that 

he had intended to use the standing army to suppress dissent 
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or impose Catholicism. However, with insufficient funds voted 

by Parliament, Charles was forced to gradually disband his 

troops. Having lost the support of Parliament, Danby resigned 

his post of Lord High Treasurer, but received a pardon from 

the king. In defiance of the royal will, the House of Commons 

declared that the dissolution of Parliament did not interrupt 

impeachment proceedings, and that the pardon was therefore 

invalid. When the House of Lords attempted to impose the 

punishment of exile—which the Commons thought too mild—

the impeachment became stalled between the two Houses. As 

he had been required to do so many times during his reign, 

Charles bowed to the wishes of his opponents, committing 

Danby to the Tower of London, in which he was held for 

another five years.  

Science 

In Charles II's early childhood, William Cavendish, Earl of 

Newcastle was governor of the royal household and Brian 

Duppa, the Dean of Christchurch, was his tutor. Neither man 

thought that the study of science subjects was appropriate for 

a future king, and Newcastle even advised against studying any 

subject too seriously. 

However, as Charles grew older, the renowned surgeon William 

Harvey was appointed his tutor. He was famous for his work on 

blood circulation in the human body and already held the 

position of physician to Charles I; his studies were to influence 

Charles's own attitude to science. As the king's chief 

physician, Harvey accompanied Charles I to the Battle of 

Edgehill. There, in the morning, he was placed in charge of the 
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two princes, Charles and his brother James, but the boys were 

back with their father for the start of the battle.  

In exile, Charles continued his education in physics, chemistry 

and the mathematics of navigation as well as the classics. His 

tutors included the cleric John Earle, well known for his 

satirical book Microcosmographie, with whom he studied Latin 

and Greek, and Thomas Hobbes, the philosopher and author of 

Leviathon, with whom he studied mathematics. Even though 

some of his studies and experiments may have been a way of 

passing the time, by the time Charles returned to England he 

was already knowledgeable in the mathematics of navigation 

and was a competent chemist. The new concepts and 

discoveries being found at this time fascinated Charles. Soon 

after his coronation he had a sundial and 35' long telescope 

installed in the Privy garden.  

From the 1640s a group of scientists began to meet informally 

in Wadham College in Oxford or at Gresham College in London. 

At that time, free lectures were already being given each week 

at Gresham College, on a variety of topics, and the new group 

wished to give a more academic and learned approach to 

science and to conduct experiments in physics and 

mathematics. Included in this group were Harvey, Christopher 

Wren, Robert Hooke and Robert Boyle. Activities almost ceased 

during the civil war but in November 1668, following the 

Restoration, Wren gave a lecture after which a society was set 

up. Initially it had 12 members, but the number soon swelled 

to 41. Charles was already acquainted with, or aware of the 

activities of, members of the new society and readily agreed to 

give it royal patronage as the Royal Society in 1662. Following 

the award of the charter, the society was put on a more formal 
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footing with members paying a fee of ten shillings, on election, 

and a shilling a week for meetings, whether in attendance or 

not. In November, Hooke was appointed as Curator of 

Experiments. This was a salaried post and Hooke organised the 

demonstration of experiments, on a regular basis, helped by a 

laboratory assistant. Charles was aware of Hooke's weekly 

demonstrations and, in July 1663, to the Society's 

consternation, he threatened to attend in person. Wren was 

consulted for advice, to ensure that the display would be 

appropriate for the king. In the event, Charles never visited the 

society, although his cousin Prince Rupert did.  

As time passed, Charles lost interest in the activities of the 

society and left it to its own devices, but he continued to 

support scientific and commercial endeavours. He founded the 

Mathematical School at Christ's Hospital in 1673 and, two 

years later, following concerns over French advances in 

astronomy, he founded the Royal Observatory at Greenwich. He 

maintained an interest in chemistry and had a laboratory set 

up below the Privy Gallery. There, dissections were 

occasionally carried out, and observed by the king. Samuel 

Pepys noted in his diary that on the morning of Friday, 15 

January 1669, while he was walking to Whitehall, he met the 

king who invited him to view his chemistry laboratory. Pepys's 

scientific knowledge was not great and he confessed to finding 

what he saw there beyond him.  

Charles developed painful gout in later life which limited the 

daily walks that he took regularly when younger. His keenness 

was now channelled to his laboratory where he would devote 

himself to his experiments, for hours at a time. Charles 

became particularly obsessed with mercury and often spent 
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whole mornings attempting to distill it. Unfortunately, heating 

mercury in an open crucible releases mercury vapour, which is 

toxic and may have contributed to his later ill health.  

Later years 

Charles faced a political storm over his brother James, a 

Catholic, being next in line to the throne. The prospect of a 

Catholic monarch was vehemently opposed by Anthony Ashley 

Cooper, 1st Earl of Shaftesbury (previously Baron Ashley and a 

member of the Cabal, which had fallen apart in 1673). 

Shaftesbury's power base was strengthened when the House of 

Commons of 1679 introduced the Exclusion Bill, which sought 

to exclude the Duke of York from the line of succession. Some 

even sought to confer the Crown on the Protestant Duke of 

Monmouth, the eldest of Charles's illegitimate children. The 

Abhorrers—those who thought the Exclusion Bill was 

abhorrent—were named Tories (after a term for dispossessed 

Irish Catholic bandits), while the Petitioners—those who 

supported a petitioning campaign in favour of the Exclusion 

Bill—were called Whigs (after a term for rebellious Scottish 

Presbyterians).  

Absolute monarch 

Fearing that the Exclusion Bill would be passed, and bolstered 

by some acquittals in the continuing Plot trials, which seemed 

to him to indicate a more favourable public mood towards 

Catholicism, Charles dissolved the English Parliament, for a 

second time that year, in mid-1679. Charles's hopes for a more 

moderate Parliament were not fulfilled; within a few months he 

had dissolved Parliament yet again, after it sought to pass the 
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Exclusion Bill. When a new Parliament assembled at Oxford in 

March 1681, Charles dissolved it for a fourth time after just a 

few days. During the 1680s, however, popular support for the 

Exclusion Bill ebbed, and Charles experienced a nationwide 

surge of loyalty. Lord Shaftesbury was prosecuted (albeit 

unsuccessfully) for treason in 1681 and later fled to Holland, 

where he died. For the remainder of his reign, Charles ruled 

without Parliament.  

Charles's opposition to the Exclusion Bill angered some 

Protestants. Protestant conspirators formulated the Rye House 

Plot, a plan to murder him and the Duke of York as they 

returned to London after horse races in Newmarket. A great 

fire, however, destroyed Charles's lodgings at Newmarket, 

which forced him to leave the races early, thus inadvertently 

avoiding the planned attack. News of the failed plot was 

leaked. Protestant politicians such as the Earl of Essex, 

Algernon Sydney, Lord Russell and the Duke of Monmouth 

were implicated in the plot. Essex slit his own throat while 

imprisoned in the Tower of London; Sydney and Russell were 

executed for high treason on very flimsy evidence; and the 

Duke of Monmouth went into exile at the court of William of 

Orange. Lord Danby and the surviving Catholic lords held in 

the Tower were released and the king's Catholic brother, 

James, acquired greater influence at court. Titus Oates was 

convicted and imprisoned for defamation.  

Thus through the last years of Charles's reign, his approach 

towards his opponents changed, and he was compared by 

Whigs to the contemporary Louis XIV of France, with his form 

of government in those years termed "slavery". Many of them 

were prosecuted and their estates seized, with Charles 
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replacing judges and sheriffs at will and packing juries to 

achieve conviction. To destroy opposition in London, Charles 

first disenfranchised many Whigs in the 1682 municipal 

elections, and in 1683 the London charter was forfeited. In 

retrospect, the use of the judicial system by Charles (and later 

his brother and heir James) as a tool against opposition, 

helped establish the idea of separation of powers between the 

judiciary and the Crown in Whig thought.  

Death 

Charles suffered a sudden apoplectic fit on the morning of 2 

February 1685, and died aged 54 at 11:45 am, four days later, 

at the Palace of Whitehall. The suddenness of his illness and 

death led to suspicion of poison in the minds of many, 

including one of the royal doctors; however, a more modern 

medical analysis has held that the symptoms of his final 

illness are similar to those of uraemia (a clinical syndrome due 

to kidney dysfunction). Charles had a laboratory among his 

many interests, where prior to his illness he had been 

experimenting with mercury. Mercuric poisoning can produce 

irreversible kidney damage; however, the case for this being a 

cause of his death is unproven. In the days between his 

collapse and his death, Charles endured a variety of torturous 

treatments including bloodletting, purging and cupping in 

hopes of effecting a recovery, which may have exacerbated his 

uraemia through dehydration instead of helping alleviate it.  

On his deathbed Charles asked his brother, James, to look 

after his mistresses: "be well to Portsmouth, and let not poor 

Nelly starve". He told his courtiers, "I am sorry, gentlemen, for 

being such a time a-dying", and expressed regret at his 
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treatment of his wife. On the last evening of his life he was 

received into the Catholic Church in the presence of Father 

John Huddleston, though the extent to which he was fully 

conscious or committed, and with whom the idea originated, is 

unclear. He was buried in Westminster Abbey "without any 

manner of pomp" on 14 February.  

Charles was succeeded by his brother James II and VII.  

Legacy 

The escapades of Charles after his defeat at the Battle of 

Worcester remained important to him throughout his life. He 

delighted and bored listeners with tales of his escape for many 

years. Numerous accounts of his adventures were published, 

particularly in the immediate aftermath of the Restoration. 

Though not averse to his escape being ascribed to divine 

providence, Charles himself seems to have delighted most in 

his ability to sustain his disguise as a man of ordinary origins, 

and to move unrecognised through his realm. Ironic and 

cynical, Charles took pleasure in retailing stories which 

demonstrated the undetectable nature of any inherent majesty 

he possessed.  

Charles had no legitimate children, but acknowledged a dozen 

by seven mistresses, including five by Barbara Villiers, Lady 

Castlemaine, for whom the Dukedom of Cleveland was created. 

His other mistresses included Moll Davis, Nell Gwyn, Elizabeth 

Killigrew, Catherine Pegge, Lucy Walter and Louise de 

Kérouaille, Duchess of Portsmouth. As a result, in his lifetime 

he was often nicknamed "Old Rowley", the name of his 

favourite racehorse, notable as a stallion.  
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His subjects resented paying taxes that were spent on his 

mistresses and their children, many of whom received 

dukedoms or earldoms. The present Dukes of Buccleuch, 

Richmond, Grafton and St Albans descend from Charles in 

unbroken male line. Diana, Princess of Wales, was descended 

from two of Charles's illegitimate sons: the Dukes of Grafton 

and Richmond. Diana's son, Prince William, Duke of 

Cambridge, second in line to the British throne, is likely to be 

the first British monarch descended from Charles II.  

Charles's eldest son, the Duke of Monmouth, led a rebellion 

against James II, but was defeated at the Battle of Sedgemoor 

on 6 July 1685, captured and executed. James was eventually 

dethroned in 1688, in the course of the Glorious Revolution.  

Looking back on Charles's reign, Tories tended to view it as a 

time of benevolent monarchy whereas Whigs perceived it as a 

terrible despotism. Today it is possible to assess him without 

the taint of partisanship, and he is seen as more of a lovable 

rogue—in the words of his contemporary John Evelyn, "a 

prince of many virtues and many great imperfections, 

debonair, easy of access, not bloody or cruel". John Wilmot, 

2nd Earl of Rochester, wrote more lewdly of Charles:  

Restless he rolls from whore to whore 

A merry monarch, scandalous and poor.  

Professor Ronald Hutton summarises the polarized 

historiography:  

For the past hundred years, books on Charles II have been 

sharply divided into two categories. Academic historians have 
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concentrated mainly on his activities as a statesman and 

emphasised his duplicity, self-indulgence, poor judgement and 

lack of an aptitude for business or for stable and trustworthy 

government. 

Non-academic authors have concentrated mainly on his social 

and cultural world, emphasising his charm, affability, 

worldliness, tolerance, turning him into one of the most 

popular of all English monarchs in novels, plays and films. 

Hutton says Charles was a popular king in his own day and a 

"legendary figure" in British history.  

Other kings had inspired more respect, but perhaps only Henry 

VIII had endeared himself to the popular imagination as much 

as this one. 

He was the playboy monarch, naughty but nice, the hero of all 

who prized urbanity, tolerance, good humour, and the pursuit 

of pleasure above the more earnest, sober, or material virtues. 

The anniversary of the Restoration (which was also Charles's 

birthday)—29 May—was recognised in England until the mid-

nineteenth century as Oak Apple Day, after the Royal Oak in 

which Charles hid during his escape from the forces of Oliver 

Cromwell. 

Traditional celebrations involved the wearing of oak leaves but 

these have now died out. Charles II is depicted extensively in 

art, literature and media. Charleston, South Carolina, and 

South Kingstown, Rhode Island, are named after him.  
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Titles, styles, honours and arms 

Titles and styles 

The official style of Charles II was "Charles the Second, by the 

Grace of God, King of England, Scotland, France and Ireland, 

Defender of the Faith, etc." The claim to France was only 

nominal, and had been asserted by every English monarch 

since Edward III, regardless of the amount of French territory 

actually controlled.  

Honours 

• KG: Knight of the Garter, 21 May 1638 

Arms 

• Charles's coat of arms as Prince of Wales was the 

royal arms (which he later inherited), differenced by 

a label of three points Argent. His arms as monarch 

were: Quarterly, I and IV Grandquarterly, Azure 

three fleurs-de-lis Or (for France) and Gules three 

lions passant guardant in pale Or (for England); II Or 

a lion rampant within a double tressure flory-

counter-flory Gules (for Scotland); III Azure a harp 

Or stringed Argent (for Ireland).  

Issue 

By Lucy Walter (c. 1630 – 1658):  
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• James Crofts, later Scott (1649–1685), created Duke 

of Monmouth (1663) in England and Duke of 

Buccleuch (1663) in Scotland. Monmouth was born 

nine months after Walter and Charles II first met, 

and was acknowledged as his son by Charles II, but 

James II suggested that he was the son of another of 

her lovers, Colonel Robert Sidney, rather than 

Charles. Lucy Walter had a daughter, Mary Crofts, 

born after James in 1651, but Charles II was not the 

father, since he and Walter parted in September 

1649. 

By Elizabeth Killigrew (1622–1680), daughter of Sir Robert 

Killigrew, married Francis Boyle, 1st Viscount Shannon, in 

1660:  

• Charlotte Jemima Henrietta Maria FitzRoy (1650–

1684), married firstly James Howard and secondly 

William Paston, 2nd Earl of Yarmouth 

By Catherine Pegge:  

• Charles FitzCharles (1657–1680), known as "Don 

Carlo", created Earl of Plymouth (1675) 

• Catherine FitzCharles (born 1658; she either died 

young or became a nun at Dunkirk) 

By Barbara Villiers (1641–1709), wife of Roger Palmer, 1st Earl 

of Castlemaine and created Duchess of Cleveland in her own 

right:  
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• Lady Anne Palmer (Fitzroy) (1661–1722), married 

Thomas Lennard, 1st Earl of Sussex. She may have 

been the daughter of Roger Palmer, but Charles 

accepted her. 

• Charles Fitzroy (1662–1730), created Duke of 

Southampton (1675), became 2nd Duke of Cleveland 

(1709) 

• Henry Fitzroy (1663–1690), created Earl of Euston 

(1672), Duke of Grafton (1675) 

• Charlotte Fitzroy (1664–1717), married Edward Lee, 

1st Earl of Lichfield 

• George Fitzroy (1665–1716), created Earl of 

Northumberland (1674), Duke of Northumberland 

(1678) 

• (Barbara (Benedicta) Fitzroy (1672–1737) – She was 

probably the child of John Churchill, later Duke of 

Marlborough, who was another of Cleveland's many 

lovers, and was never acknowledged by Charles as 

his own daughter.) 

By Nell Gwyn (1650–1687):  

• Charles Beauclerk (1670–1726), created Duke of St 

Albans (1684) 

• James, Lord Beauclerk (1671–1680) 

By Louise Renée de Penancoet de Kérouaille (1649–1734), 

created Duchess of Portsmouth in her own right (1673):  

• Charles Lennox (1672–1723), created Duke of 

Richmond (1675) in England and Duke of Lennox 

(1675) in Scotland. 
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By Mary 'Moll' Davis, courtesan and actress of repute:  

• Lady Mary Tudor (1673–1726), married Edward 

Radclyffe, 2nd Earl of Derwentwater; after Edward's 

death, she married Henry Graham (of Levens), and 

upon his death she married James Rooke. 

Other probable mistresses include:  

• Christabella Wyndham 

• Hortense Mancini, Duchess of Mazarin 

• Winifred Wells – one of Queen Catherine's Maids of 

Honour 

• Jane Roberts – the daughter of a clergyman 

• Mrs Knight – a famous singer 

• Elizabeth Berkeley, née Bagot, Dowager Countess of 

Falmouth – the widow of Charles Berkeley, 1st Earl 

of Falmouth 

• Elizabeth Fitzgerald, Countess of Kildare 

  



Chapter 32 

Halfway Covenant Adopted

The Half-Way Covenant was a form of partial church 

membership adopted by the Congregational churches of 

colonial New England in the 1660s. The Puritan-controlled 

Congregational churches required evidence of a personal 

conversion experience before granting church membership and 

the right to have one's children baptized. Conversion 

experiences were less common among second-generation 

colonists, and this became an issue when these unconverted 

adults had children of their own who were ineligible for 

baptism.  

The Half-Way Covenant was proposed as a solution to this 

problem. It allowed baptized but unconverted parents to 

present their own children for baptism; however, they were 

denied the other privileges of church membership. The Half-

Way Covenant was endorsed by an assembly of ministers in 

1657 and a church synod in 1662. Nevertheless, it was highly 

controversial among Congregationalists with many 

conservatives being afraid it would lead to lower standards 

within the church. A number of Congregational churches split 

over the issue.  

The Half-Way Covenant's adoption has been interpreted by 

some historians as signaling the decline of New England 

Puritanism and the ideal of the church as a body of exclusively 

converted believers. For other historians, it signaled a move 

away from sectarianism. The Half-Way Covenant also opened 
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the door to further divisions among Congregationalists 

concerning the nature of the sacraments and the necessity of 

conversion. Liberal Congregational churches extended church 

membership to all professing Christians, and in time many of 

these churches became Unitarian. The revivalism unleashed by 

the First Great Awakening was in part a reaction against the 

Half-Way Covenant.  

Name 

The term Halfway Covenant was a derogatory label applied by 

opponents of the practice. The term used by supporters at the 

time was "large Congregationalism".  

Background 

Beginning in the 1620s and 1630s, colonial New England was 

settled by Puritans who believed that they were obligated to 

build a holy society in covenant with God. The covenant was 

the foundation for Puritan convictions concerning personal 

salvation, the church, social cohesion and political authority. 

The first colonists organized themselves into Congregational 

churches by means of church covenants. 

According to the Puritan vision, every church member should 

be a "visible saint", someone who not only demonstrated an 

understanding of Christian doctrine and was free of social 

scandal but who also could claim a conscious conversion 

experience. 

This experience indicated to Puritans that a person had been 

regenerated and was, therefore, one of the elect destined for 
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salvation. To ensure only regenerated persons entered the 

church, prospective members were required to provide their 

personal conversion narratives to be judged by the 

congregation. If accepted, they could affirm the church 

covenant and receive the privileges of membership, which 

included participating in the Lord's Supper and having their 

children baptized.  

The sharing of conversion narratives prior to admission was 

first practiced at the First Church in Boston in 1634 during a 

religious revival in which an unusually large number of 

converts joined the church. Before being admitted into the 

church, the converts engaged in a Puritan practice of lay 

sermonizing or prophesying in which they recounted to the 

congregation the process by which they became convinced of 

their election. This practice spread to other churches and by 

1640 had become a requirement throughout New England. With 

this new rule, the Puritans believed they had come closer to 

making the visible church a more accurate reflection of the 

invisible church.  

As Calvinists, Congregationalists did not believe the 

sacraments had any power to produce conversion or determine 

one's spiritual state. The sacraments were seals of the 

covenant meant to confirm one in their election, which was 

already predestined by God. 

While children could not be presumed to be regenerated, it was 

believed that children of church members were already 

included in the church covenant on the basis of their parent's 

membership and had the right to receive the initial sacrament 

of baptism. When these baptized children became adults, it 
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was expected that they too would experience conversion and be 

admitted into full communion with the right to participate in 

the Lord's Supper.  

By the 1650s and 1660s, the baptized children of this first 

generation had become adults themselves and were beginning 

to have children; however, many within this second generation 

had not experienced conversion. As a result, their children 

were denied infant baptism and entry into the covenant. As 

this group increased, Congregationalists grew concerned that 

the church's influence over society would weaken unless these 

unconverted adults and their children were kept in the church. 

It seemed that the Puritan ideal of a pure church of authentic 

converts was clashing with the equally important ideal of a 

society united in covenant with God.  

Proposal 

As early as 1634, the church in Dorchester, Massachusetts, 

asked the advice of Boston's First Church concerning a church 

member's desire to have his grandchild baptized even though 

neither of his parents were full members. First Church 

recommended that this be allowed. The issue was brought up 

on other occasions from time to time. Thomas Hooker, founder 

of Connecticut, and John Davenport, a prominent minister and 

founder of New Haven Colony, believed that only children of 

full members should be baptized. George Phillips of Watertown, 

Massachusetts, however, believed that all descendants of 

converts belonged within the church.  

In the 1640s, a protest movement led by Robert Child over 

complaints that children were being "debarred from the seals of 
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the covenant" led to the Cambridge Synod of 1646, which 

created the Cambridge Platform outlining Congregational 

church discipline. Initially, the Platform included language 

declaring that baptism was open to all descendants of 

converted church members who "cast not off the covenant of 

God by some scandalous and obstinate going on in sin". 

Nevertheless, this statement was not included in the final 

version of the Platform due to the opposition of important 

figures, such as Charles Chauncy who would later become 

president of Harvard College. Samuel Stone and John Cotton 

supported the more inclusive view.  

In 1650, Samuel Stone of Hartford, Connecticut, called for a 

synod to settle the issue, and he warned that if this did not 

occur the Connecticut churches would proceed to implement 

halfway covenant principles. Between 1654 and 1656, the 

churches at Salem, Dorchester and Ipswich adopted the 

halfway system.  

The provisions of the Half-Way Covenant were outlined and 

endorsed by a meeting of ministers initiated by the legislatures 

of Connecticut and Massachusetts. This ministerial assembly 

met in Boston on June 4, 1657. Plymouth Colony sent no 

delegates, and New Haven declined to take part, insisting on 

adhering to the older practice. The assembly recommended that 

the children of unconverted baptized adults receive baptism if 

their parents publicly agreed with Christian doctrine and 

affirmed the church covenant in a ceremony known as "owning 

the baptismal covenant" in which "they give up themselves and 

their children to the Lord, and subject themselves to the 

Government of Christ in the Church". These baptized but 

unconverted members were not to be admitted to the Lord's 
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Supper or vote on church business (such as choosing ministers 

or disciplining other members) until they had professed 

conversion.  

These recommendations were controversial and met with strong 

opposition, inducing the Massachusetts General Court to call a 

synod of ministers and lay delegates to deliberate further on 

the question of who should be baptized. Like the 1657 

assembly, the Synod of 1662 endorsed the Half-Way Covenant. 

Among the 70 members of the synod, the strongest advocate for 

the Half-Way Covenant was Jonathan Mitchell, pastor of 

Cambridge's First Parish, and the leader of the conservative 

party, President Chauncey.  

Under congregationalist polity, the decision to accept or reject 

the Half-Way Covenant belonged to each congregation. Some 

churches rejected it and maintained the original standard into 

the 1700s. Other churches went beyond the Half-Way 

Covenant, opening baptism to all infants whether or not their 

parents or grandparents had been baptized.  

Adoption 

While the conservatives were outvoted in the synod, they 

continued to publicly protest, and both sides engaged in a 

pamphlet war. Chauncey, Davenport and Increase Mather 

wrote against the synod, while Mitchell, John Allen and 

Richard Mather defended it. Eventually, Increase Mather 

changed his position and supported the Half-Way Covenant.  

Critics argued that the Half-Way Covenant would end 

commitment to the Puritan ideal of a regenerate church 
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membership, either by permanently dividing members into two 

classes (those with access to the Lord's Supper and those with 

only baptism) or by starting the slippery slope to giving the 

unconverted access to the Lord's Supper. Supporters argued 

that to deny baptism and inclusion in the covenant to the 

grandchildren of first generation members was in essence 

claiming that second-generation parents had forfeited their 

membership and "discovenanted themselves", despite for the 

most part being catechized churchgoers. Supporters believed 

the Half-Way Covenant was a "middle way" between the 

extremes of either admitting the ungodly into the church or 

stripping unconverted adults of their membership in the 

baptismal covenant. At least in this way, they argued, a larger 

number of people would be subject to the church's discipline 

and authority.  

By the 1660s, churches in Connecticut were divided between 

those who utilized the Half-Way Covenant, those who 

completely rejected it and those who allowed anyone to be a 

full member. With the colony's clergy divided over the issue, 

the Connecticut legislature decided in 1669 that it would 

tolerate both inclusive and exclusive baptism practices. It also 

permitted churches divided over the issue to split. Several 

churches split over the Half-Way Covenant's adoption, 

including churches at Hartford, Windsor and Stratford. One 

minister, Abraham Pierson of Branford, led his congregation to 

New Jersey to escape its influence.  

The churches of Massachusetts were slower to accept inclusive 

baptism policies. Lay church members were divided with some 

supporting the new measures and others strongly opposing. 

The result was schism as congregations divided over 
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implementing the synod's recommendations. A prominent 

example was the division of Boston's First Church after the 

death of its pastor John Wilson, a Half-Way supporter, in 

1667. Davenport was called by the congregation as its new 

pastor, and this was followed by the withdrawal of 28 

disgruntled members who formed Third Church (better known 

as Old South Church). For 14 years, there was no communion 

between the two churches, and the conflict affected the rest of 

Massachusetts' Congregational churches. Those who were 

against the Half-Way Covenant favored First Church and those 

who approved favored Third Church.  

Until 1676, opponents of the Half-Way Covenant in 

Massachusetts were successful at preventing its adoption in all 

major churches. 

That year marked the beginning of a long series of crises in 

Massachusetts, beginning with King Phillip's War (1675–1678) 

and ending with the Salem Witch Trials (1693). Many Puritans 

believed God was punishing the colony for failing to bring more 

people into the covenant. By the end of the 17th century, four 

out of every five Congregational churches in Massachusetts 

had adopted the Half-Way Covenant, with some also extending 

access to the Lord's Supper.  

As the Half-Way Covenant became widely adopted, it became 

typical for a New England congregation to have a group of 

regular churchgoers who were considered Christians by their 

behavior but who never professed conversion. Often, these 

half-way members outnumbered full members. One 

Massachusetts estimate from 1708 stated the ratio was four 

half-way members to each full member.  
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Abandonment 

The Half-Way Covenant continued to be practiced by three-

fourths of New England's churches into the 1700s, but 

opposition continued from those wanting a return to the strict 

admission standards as well as those who wanted the removal 

of all barriers to church membership. Northampton pastor 

Solomon Stoddard (1643–1729) attacked both the Half-Way 

practice and the more exclusive admission policy, writing that 

the doctrine of local church covenants "is wholly unscriptural, 

[it] is the reason that many among us are shut out of the 

church, to whom church privileges do belong." Stoddard still 

believed that New England was a Christian nation and that it 

had a national covenant with God. 

The existence of such a covenant, however, required all 

citizens to partake of the Lord's Supper. Open communion was 

justified because Stoddard believed the sacrament was a 

"converting ordinance" that prepared people for conversion. 

Stoddardeanism was an attempt to reach people with the 

gospel more effectively, but it did so, according to historian 

Mark Noll, by "abandoning the covenant as a unifying 

rationale".  

Historian Sydney E. Ahlstrom writes that during the First 

Great Awakening (1734–1745), "The ideal of a regenerate 

[church] membership was renewed, while Stoddardeanism and 

the Half-Way Covenant were called into question." Jonathan 

Edwards, Stoddard's grandson, was influential in undermining 

both Stoddardeanism and the Half-Way Covenant, but he also 

attacked the very idea of a national covenant. Edwards 

believed there was only one covenant between God and man—
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the covenant of grace. This covenant was an internal covenant, 

taking place in the heart. Infant baptism and the Lord's Supper 

were covenant privileges available only to "visible and 

professing saints." Opponents of the Awakening saw Edwards' 

views as a threat to family well-being and the social order, 

which they believed were promoted by the Half-Way system.  

The Great Awakening left behind several religious factions in 

New England, and all of them had different views on the 

covenant. In this environment, the Half-Way system ceased to 

function as a source of religious and social cohesion. The New 

Light followers of Edwards would continue to insist that the 

church be a body of regenerate saints. 

The liberal, Arminian Congregationalists who dominated the 

churches in Boston and on the East Coast rejected the 

necessity of any specific conversion experience and would come 

to believe that the Lord's Supper was a memorial rather than a 

means of grace or a converting ordinance. 

As a result, they believed that distinguishing between full 

members and half-way members was "undemocratic, illiberal, 

and anachronistic". These liberal currents would eventually 

lead to beliefs in Unitarianism and universal salvation and the 

creation of a distinct American Unitarian denomination in the 

19th century.  

Puritan declension theory 

Nineteenth-century Congregationalist ministers Leonard Bacon 

and Henry Martyn Dexter saw the Half-Way Covenant's 

adoption as the beginning of the decline of New England's 
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churches that continued into the 1800s. Some historians also 

identify the Half-Way Covenant with Puritan decline or 

declension. Historian Perry Miller identifies its adoption as the 

final step in "the transformation of Congregationalism from a 

religious Utopia to a legalized order" in which assurance of 

salvation became essentially a private matter and the 

"churches were pledged, in effect, not to pry into the 

genuineness of any religious emotions, but to be altogether 

satisfied with decorous semblances."  

Historian Sydney Ahlstrom writes that the covenant was "itself 

no proof of declension" but that it "documented the passing of 

churches composed solely of regenerate 'saints'." Historian 

Francis Bremer writes that it weakened the unity of the 

Congregational churches and that the bitter fighting between 

ministers over its adoption led to a loss of respect for the 

Puritan clergy as a social class.  

Historian Robert G. Pope questioned the "myth of declension", 

writing that the process labeled decline was, in reality, the 

"maturation" of the Congregational churches away from 

sectarianism. 

Pope and Edmund Morgan found that many church members 

were very scrupulous in Massachusetts. While second-

generation colonists were having conversion experiences 

similar to those of their parents, the second generation often 

doubted the validity of their own experiences. Pope and Morgan 

theorize that it was scrupulosity rather than impiety that led 

to the decline in church membership.  

Historian Mark Noll writes that by keeping the rising 

generation officially within the church the Half-Way Covenant 
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actually preserved New England's Puritan society, while also 

maintaining conversion as the standard for full church 

membership. Due to its widespread adoption, most New 

Englanders continued to be included within the covenant 

bonds linking individuals, churches and society until the First 

Great Awakening definitively marked the end of the Puritan 

era.  

  



Chapter 33 

Second Anglo-Dutch War 

The Second Anglo-Dutch War or the Second Dutch War (4 

March 1665 – 31 July 1667; Dutch: Tweede Engelse Oorlog 

"Second English War") was a conflict between England and the 

Dutch Republic partly for control over the seas and trade 

routes, where England tried to end the Dutch domination of 

world trade during a period of intense European commercial 

rivalry, but also as a result of political tensions. After initial 

English successes, the war ended in a Dutch victory. It was the 

second of a series of naval wars fought between the English 

and the Dutch in the 17th and 18th centuries.  

Background 

Anglo-Dutch relations 

Traditionally, many historians considered that the First and 

Second Anglo-Dutch Wars arose from commercial and maritime 

rivalry between England and the Netherlands, although 

conceding that the Third Anglo-Dutch War was less the result 

of commercial rivalry. However, more recent research has 

suggested that political issues, particularly in England, had a 

significant effect on the outbreak of these conflicts. Although 

continuing commercial tensions formed the background to the 

second war, a group of ambitious English politicians and naval 

officers frustrated diplomatic efforts to reach any 

accommodation between the parties. Religious and political 

differences between the Anglican royalists in England and the 
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Calvinist republicans that formed the ruling group in the 

Netherlands, each seeing the other as an ideological threat, 

also hampered agreement.  

The last major battle of the First Anglo-Dutch War was an 

English victory in the battle of Scheveningen in August 1653. 

However, after this the Dutch turned to using smaller warships 

and privateering and, by November, Cromwell was willing to 

make peace as the Dutch were capturing numerous English 

merchant ships. His only stipulation was that no Prince of 

Orange or other member of the House of Orange should hold 

the office of stadtholder or any other public office in the 

Netherlands. When this demand was made public, it was 

strongly opposed by Orangists, so it was dropped from formal 

negotiations. De Witt realised that he would not persuade most 

of the provinces to accept the exclusion of members of the 

House of Orange from public office as part of a peace treaty, so 

the public terms of the Treaty of Westminster made no mention 

of this. However, the two members of the negotiating team from 

Holland, unknown to their colleagues, agreed to a secret 

annexe providing, although the Netherlands would ratify the 

treaty without delay, England would only do so once the States 

of Holland had passed an Act of Seclusion, excluding the 

House of Orange from holding public office in the province of 

Holland.  

The States General of the United Provinces approved and 

ratified the Treaty of Westminster, unaware of the secret 

annexe attached to the version of the treaty that the English 

would ratify. De Witt had to use his influence to persuade 

delegates from the towns of Holland, many initially 

unfavourable, to support Exclusion, and some of their 
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pensionaries resisted to the end, although they did not try to 

involve other provinces. Holland passed its Act of Exclusion on 

4 May 1654. Adverse reactions from the public in other 

provinces was strong, but their provincial assemblies could 

neither overcome their own internal divisions nor act with 

other provinces to oppose it. However, any expectation that the 

other provinces would enact their own Act of Exclusion after 

Holland had passed its act was not realised in the short term, 

although in practice the policy was not opposed. Only after the 

war did four provinces besides Holland adopt the Perpetual 

Edict (1667) sanctioning Exclusion.  

The Commonwealth government of Oliver Cromwell wished to 

avoid further conflict with the Dutch Republic, as it was 

planning war with Spain, which began as the Anglo-Spanish 

War of 1654–1660 after the Treaty of Westminster was signed. 

The English feared Dutch intervention in this war on the side 

of the Spanish, as the Republic contained an Orangist party 

hostile to Cromwell. However, Orangist sentiments were found 

more among the common people than those with political 

influence. The controversy over Exclusion strengthened de 

Witt's position in Holland and increased the influence of 

Holland over the other provinces. De Witt's position was 

further strengthened by increasing Dutch dominance in 

international trade, which replaced English trade with Spain 

and its possessions in Italy and America during the Anglo-

Spanish War. Once the Netherlands had supplanted England 

on these areas, its traders were very reluctant to see English 

rivals readmitted.  

After the First Anglo-Dutch War, Johan de Witt, who had been 

elected Grand Pensionary of Holland, took over effective control 
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of Netherlands' foreign policy until his death in 1672. He 

realised that the Netherlands could never win a war with 

England or France conclusively, and that even surviving a war 

with either power would only be possible at enormous cost. He 

therefore strove for a neutrality in which Dutch commerce 

could flourish, supported by sufficiently strong land and naval 

forces to deter either of these two nations from becoming an 

adversary. 

Despite traditional Dutch hostility towards Spain, de Witt 

declined to join Cromwell in attacking it, but the Dutch had no 

desire to aid their hated former master, so remained neutral. 

De Witt was, however, prepared to act alone against Sweden in 

1655 and, jointly with Denmark, again in 1658. Although the 

Commonwealth was an ally of Sweden, it did not come to the 

aid of its ally, even when the Dutch thwarted the Swedish 

attempt to conquer Denmark in the battle of the Sound on 8 

November 1658. De Witt's aim was to establish peace in the 

Baltic for the benefit of Dutch commerce there. With a similar 

aim, he attempted to end the long-running conflict with 

Portugal, allowing it to retain Brazil over the protests of two of 

the five Netherlands provinces in 1661.  

The Dutch used the years of peace to build up their 

commercial fleet again, following its devastation in the First 

Anglo-Dutch War. De Witt also achieved the post-war 

completion of many new warships, ordered during the war to 

augment the existing fleet, including several large ships 

comparable in armament to the all but the largest English 

ones. These had been given greater constructional strength and 

a wider beam to support heavier guns. However, despite the 

pleas of the admirals for more of these powerful ships, many of 
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those built were relatively small and designed as convoy 

escorts, protecting trade routes, not to fight in fleet actions. In 

addition, the Dutch East India Company built hybrid ships 

that could be used for carrying cargo, as convoy escorts or in 

battle, although they were not as strongly built as pure 

warships.  

While the English had won the majority of naval battles and 

destroyed or captured a great many Dutch merchant ships 

during the First Anglo-Dutch War, they failed to win the war. 

The Republic was in a better financial position than the 

Commonwealth of England, potentially enabling the Dutch to 

complete the fitting out their naval fleet to replace their losses 

at faster pace than England. However, de Witt was unable to 

put naval finances on a centralised basis, as each of the five 

admiralties and the three provinces that maintained them 

retained considerable independence. In addition, as the Dutch 

navy did not rely on the press gang, securing sufficient 

manpower could be a problem, although abandoning the 

practice of paying off seamen and laying up ships in the winter 

promoted a more professional and permanent body of sailors 

committed to naval service.  

While the war continued, the Dutch had also been free to 

expand their trade networks along the main sea routes outside 

English home waters without fear of English retaliation, as the 

majority of English warships were in home waters, with few 

available overseas. English commerce was grinding to a halt as 

they lost access to the Baltic and the Mediterranean Seas and, 

when the two sides signed the peace treaty in 1654, the 

English were in essentially the same position that they had 
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begun: watching the Dutch Republic outstrip their economy to 

become the premier European trade power.  

England 

Trade 

To make matters worse for England, the conclusion of the First 

Anglo-Dutch War was immediately followed by the Anglo-

Spanish War of 1654–1660, which disrupted the remnants of 

trade the Commonwealth had with Spain and southern Italy. 

The Dutch were left with free rein to expand their influence in 

the area: this period was one of the highest points in the 

Dutch Golden Age, and ironically the English interference was 

partly responsible.  

A major problem with the English trading system was that it 

was based on prohibitions, such as the Navigation Acts, tariffs 

and customs, and the regulation of manufacturing. All these 

measures, even tariffs which were originally designed to raise 

revenue, were directed to the protection of English trade. 

Although the Dutch system was said to be based on free trade, 

this only applied to Europe, and not to Dutch trading 

settlements elsewhere. The prices of Dutch goods were more 

attractive around the world because the Dutch taxation system 

imposed excise duties on its own consumers, rather than 

customs duties on the foreign users of its exports. The end of 

the First Anglo-Dutch War had not changed this dynamic. 

Indeed, the end of the war had set the United Provinces free to 

expand their trade while the English were still hindered by the 

same tariff system. Thus, another war seemed inevitable to 
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many people of the time, as the Commonwealth was unlikely to 

give up its naval and economic superiority without a fight.  

Restoration 

The Restoration of Charles II, in 1660, initially produced a 

general surge of optimism in England. Many hoped to reverse 

the Dutch dominance in world trade. At first, however, Charles 

II sought to remain on friendly terms with the Republic, as he 

was personally greatly in debt to the House of Orange, which 

had lent large sums to Charles I during the First English Civil 

War. Nevertheless, a conflict soon developed between the 

States of Holland and Mary over the education and future 

prospects of William III of Orange, the posthumous son of 

Dutch stadtholder William II of Orange and Charles' nephew. 

William was designated a "Child of State" in 1660, implying he 

would be trained for high office by the States-General. When 

Mary died in 1661, she named Charles as a guardian of 

William, allowing England a measure of influence in Dutch 

politics.  

The Dutch, in a move coordinated by Cornelis and Andries de 

Graeff, tried to placate the king with prodigious gifts, such as 

the Dutch Gift of 1660. Negotiations were started in 1661 to 

solve these issues, which ended in the treaty of 1662, in which 

the Dutch conceded on most points. In 1663, Louis XIV of 

France stated his claim to portions of the Habsburg southern 

Netherlands, leading to a short rapprochement between 

England and the Republic. During this time, Lord Clarendon, 

serving as chief minister to King Charles II of England, felt 

that France had become the greatest danger to England.  
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In 1664, however, the situation quickly changed: Clarendon's 

enemy, Lord Arlington, became the favourite of the king, and 

he and his client Sir Thomas Clifford M.P., later Lord Clifford, 

began to cooperate with the king's brother James, Duke of 

York, the Lord High Admiral James, Arlington and Clifford, 

who was chairman of a House of Commons committee 

investigating the supposed depression in English maritime 

commerce agreed that Dutch commercial competition had to be 

stifled, even if this led to war with the United Provinces, as 

they considered the United Provinces were a greater threat to 

English interests than was France. 

They coordinated their efforts in order to reduce Dutch 

competition through a policy of reprisals against Dutch ships, 

which were captured in significant numbers. and expected 

significant personal gain from this policy. James, the Duke of 

York, headed the Royal African Company and hoped to seize 

the possessions of the Dutch West India Company, including 

New Amsterdam.  

This aggressive policy was supported by the English 

ambassador in The Hague, Sir George Downing, who acted as 

agent for James, Arlington and Clifford From his position in 

the Hague, Downing gave a full and detailed account of all the 

political affairs in the United Provinces to Charles as well as 

James and his associates. Downing reported back to London 

that the Republic was politically divided and that the Dutch 

would submit to English demands rather than go to war. Even 

after the English fleet began seizing Dutch ships and an attack 

on Dutch possessions in West Africa, he reported in August 

1664 that the Dutch would probably accept reducing their 

share of overseas trade in favour of England, although 



Pre–United States History: 1600–1699, Volume 4 

844 

 

contemporary Dutch sources reported strengthening Dutch 

resistance to these provocations. Since 1661, Downing had 

been in contact with the Orangists, who he believed would 

collaborate with England against their enemy, the republican 

States faction. However, although some Orangists entered into 

treasonable correspondence with England in an attempt to end 

the war and overthrow de Witt, the rapid arrest and execution 

of de Buat showed their weakness.  

Charles was influenced by James and Arlington as he sought a 

popular and lucrative foreign war at sea to bolster his 

authority as king. Many naval officers welcomed the prospect 

of a conflict with the Dutch as they expected to make their 

name and fortune in battles they hoped to win as decisively as 

in the previous war.  

War agitation 

As enthusiasm for war rose among the English populace, 

privateers began to join navy ships in attacking Dutch ships, 

capturing them and taking them to English harbors. By the 

time that the United Provinces declared war on England, about 

two hundred Dutch ships had been brought to English ports. 

Dutch ships were obligated by the new treaty to salute the 

English flag first. In 1664, English ships began to provoke the 

Dutch by not saluting in return. Though ordered by the Dutch 

government to continue saluting first, many Dutch 

commanders could not bear the insult.  

Whether to secure concessions from the Dutch or provoke open 

conflict with them, James already in late 1663 had sent Robert 

Holmes, to protect the interests of the Royal African Company. 
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Holmes captured the Dutch trading post of Cabo Verde in June 

1664 and confiscated several ships of the Dutch West India 

company in West Africa, allegedly as reprisals for English 

ships captured by that company, and England refused any 

compensation for these captures, for disrupting that company's 

trading operations or for other hostile acts. Slightly later, the 

English invaded the Dutch colony of New Netherland in North 

America on 24 June 1664, and had taken control of it by 

October.  

The States General responded by sending a fleet under Michiel 

de Ruyter that recaptured their African trading posts and 

captured most of the English trading stations there, then 

crossed the Atlantic for a punitive expedition against the 

English in America. In December 1664, the English suddenly 

attacked the Dutch Smyrna fleet. Though the attack failed, the 

Dutch in January 1665 allowed their ships to open fire on 

English warships in the colonies when threatened.  

The war was supported in England by propaganda concerning 

the much earlier Amboyna Massacre of 1623. In that year, ten 

English factors, resident in the Dutch fortress of Victoria and 

ten Japanese and Portuguese employees of the Dutch East 

India Company on Ambon were executed by beheading 

following accusations of treason. After their arrest, many of the 

English prisoners were, according to the trial records, tortured 

by having a cloth placed over their faces, upon which water 

was poured to cause near suffocation, now called 

waterboarding. Other, more sadistic, tortures were alleged 

although denied by the Dutch. The incident provoked a major 

crisis in Anglo-Dutch relations at the time and continuing 

popular anger, although the matter had been be officially 
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settled with the Treaty of Westminster. The East India 

Company set out its case against the Dutch East India 

Company in a pamphlet published in 1631, which was used for 

anti-Dutch propaganda during the First Anglo-Dutch War and 

revived by pamphleteers as a second war neared. When De 

Ruyter recaptured the West African trading posts, many 

pamphlets were written about presumed new Dutch atrocities, 

although these contained no basis in fact.  

Another cause of conflict was mercantile competition. The 

major monopolistic English trading companies had suffered 

from a loss of trade on the 1650s, which they attributed to 

illegal contraband trading and Dutch competition. They wished 

the government to exclude the Dutch from trading with British 

colonies, and force those colonies to trade only with the 

licensed English trading companies. The Dutch, whose 

maritime trade was substantially that of an intermediary, 

rejected the policies of Mercantilism in favour of the mare 

liberum where it was in their interest to do so, while enforcing 

a strict monopoly in the Dutch Indies, and attempted to 

expand it to their other settlements.  

Dutch Republic 

Preparedness 

After their defeat in the First Anglo-Dutch War, the Dutch 

became much better prepared. From 1653, De Witt began to 

make plans for a "New Navy" to be constructed, with a core of 

sixty-four new, heavier ships of the line with 40 to 60 guns 

and 90 smaller convoy escorts, and more professional captains 

were sought for these. However, even the heavier Dutch ships 
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were much lighter than the ten "big ships" of the English navy 

and, in 1664, when war threatened, the decision was taken to 

expand the core Dutch fleet with still heavier ships, although 

on the outbreak of war in 1665, these new vessels were mostly 

still under construction, and the Dutch only possessed four 

heavier ships of the line. 

At the time of the Battle of Lowestoft, the Dutch fleet included 

eighteen older warships reactivated after being laid up after 

the First Anglo-Dutch war, and several very large Dutch East 

India Company built hybrid ships which could be used for 

carrying cargo or in battle, although not as strongly built as 

pure warships. During the second war, the Dutch Republic was 

in a better financial position than England and quickly 

completed the new ships, whereas England could only build a 

dozen ships, due to financial difficulties. However, de Witt saw 

that men, not materiel, were critical, and attempted to deal 

with the insubordination, lack of discipline and apparent 

cowardice among captains at the start of the war.  

In 1665, England boasted a population about four times as 

large as that of the Dutch Republic. This population was 

dominated by poor peasants, however, and so the only source 

of ready cash were the cities. The Dutch urban population 

exceeded that of England in both proportional and absolute 

terms and the Republic would be able to spend more than 

twice the amount of money on the war as England, the 

equivalent of £11,000,000. The outbreak of war was followed 

ominously by the Great Plague and the Great Fire of London, 

hitting the only major urban centre of the country. These 

events, occurring in such close succession, virtually brought 

England to its knees, as the English fleet had suffered from 
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cash shortages even before these calamities, despite having 

been voted a record budget of £2,500,000 by the English 

parliament. 

However, as Charles lacked effective means of enforcing 

taxation; those taxes voted were collected neither in full nor 

quickly. For much of the war, Charles was dependent on loans 

raised in the City of London at interest rates which increased 

as the war progressed, to cover both collection delays and for 

expenditure in excess of the budget. Although the Duke of York 

had attempted to reform the finances of the Navy Board, cash 

flow remained a problem, and sailors were not paid wholly in 

cash, but mainly with "tickets", or debt certificates, which were 

only redeemed after long delays when cash was available. 

Receipts from the sale of goods carried by Dutch ships 

captured by Royal Navy warships and the ships themselves or, 

to a lesser extent, by privateers, were a valuable source of 

funds to finance for the Navy Board, and the attack Dutch East 

Indies fleet at Bergen had this as at least one of its objectives. 

However, a large part of the proceeds of these captures was 

retained by the captors, either illegally or returned to them as 

prize money and, although it has been claimed that English 

financial penury made the war's outcome dependent on the 

fortunes of its privateers, this was never more than an 

irregular windfall, and opportunities for capturing Dutch 

merchant vessels were greatest before and just after war was 

declared, diminishing as the war forced them to stay in port. 

Far fewer prizes were taken by the Royal Navy than in the First 

Anglo-Dutch War and, overall and particularly after 1665, 

Dutch privateers would be the more successful.  
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France 

A Franco-Dutch treaty had been signed in 1662, which 

involved a defensive alliance between the two countries, giving 

the Netherlands protection against an English attack and 

assuring France that the Netherlands would not assist Spain in 

the Spanish Netherlands. Although Louis XIV of France had 

signed this treaty, he considered that an Anglo-Dutch war was 

likely to obstruct his plans to acquire Habsburg territory there. 

Charles' ambassador in France reported the French opposition 

to the outbreak of such a war gave him the hope that, if the 

Dutch were provoked into declaring war, the French would 

evade their treaty obligations, and refuse to be drawn into a 

naval war with England. In the summer of 1664, Louis 

attempted to avert the threatened Anglo-Dutch war or, failing 

that, to confine it to Africa and America. These efforts to 

mediate an agreement failed, and the war commenced with a 

declaration of war by the Dutch on 4 March 1665, following 

English attacks on two Dutch convoys off Cadiz and in the 

English Channel.  

Even after the war began, Louis attempted to evade his 

obligation by strengthening the French embassy in London 

with two envoys  under the name of the célèbre ambassade, 

which included an Ambassador Extraordinary in addition to 

the resident ambassador, to begin negotiations for a settlement 

of the Anglo-Dutch conflict. Its instructions were to offer terms 

including the restitution of each country's ships captured off 

America and Africa, and of their West African bases, and also 

financial compensation for English ships captured earlier in 

West Africa. However, the instructions did not propose that the 

New Netherlands should be included in any treaty, but settled 
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by local fighting that would not involve a European War. The 

Dutch complained that these terms denied their rights to the 

New Netherlands.  

Hostilities 

First year, 1665 

At the start of the war, both sides considered an early decisive 

battle was desirable, as English government finances could not 

sustain a long war, and an English blockade of Dutch ports 

and attacks on their merchant and fishing fleets would soon 

bring about their economic ruin. De Witt and the States 

General put pressure on their commander Jacob van 

Wassenaer Obdam to seek out the English fleet and bring it 

into battle, although his fleet was inferior in organisation, 

training, discipline and firepower to the English fleet. In their 

first at the Battle of Lowestoft on 13 June 1665, the Dutch 

suffered the worst defeat in the history the Dutch Republic's 

navy, with at least sixteen ships lost, and one-third of its 

personnel killed or captured.  

However, the English were unable to capitalise on their victory 

at Lowestoft, as the majority of the Dutch fleet escaped. The 

leading Dutch politician, the Grand Pensionary of Holland 

Johan de Witt, attempted to restore confidence by joining the 

fleet personally and dealt with failed or ineffective captains by 

executing three and exiling and dismissing others. Michiel de 

Ruyter was appointed to lead the Dutch fleet in July 1665, 

despite the previous appointment of Cornelis Tromp as acting 

commander in chief, and he formalised new tactics. The Spice 

Fleet from the Dutch East Indies managed to return home 
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safely after the battle of Vågen, although it was at first 

blockaded at Bergen, causing the financial position to swing in 

favour of the Dutch.  

In the summer of 1665 the bishop of Münster, Bernhard von 

Galen, an old enemy of the Dutch, was induced by promises of 

English subsidies to invade the Republic. At the same time, the 

English made overtures to Spain. Louis XIV was now concerned 

by the attack by Münster and the prospect of an English–

Spanish coalition, and the effect this might have on his 

conquering the Spanish Netherlands. He first arranged for 

other German states to obstruct the passage of Munster troops 

and promised to send a French army corps to Germany. Louis 

was still unwilling to act against England under the 1662 

defensive treaty, so he revived his attempts to mediate a 

settlement. The French ambassadors, with de Witt's assent, 

offered to accept the loss of the New Netherlands and of two 

West African posts seized by Holmes and to return a third post 

seized by de Ruyter. However, the English fleet's success at 

Lowestoft prompted Charles and his ministers to reject this 

offer and demand further surrenders of territory and a Dutch 

agreement to bear the costs of the war. When, in December 

1665, Charles refused a French counter-offer, Louis withdrew 

both his ambassadors, signalling his intention to declare war.  

These events caused consternation at the English court. It now 

seemed that the Republic could end up as either a Habsburg 

possession or a French protectorate: either outcome would be 

disastrous for England's strategic position. Clarendon was 

ordered to make peace with the Dutch, quickly and without 

French mediation. Downing used his Orangist contacts to 

induce the province of Overijssel, whose countryside had been 
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ravaged by Galen's troops, to ask the States General for a 

peace with England The Orangists naively wished to gain peace 

by conceding the English demand that the young William III 

should be made captain-general and admiral-general of the 

republic, which would ensure his eventual appointment to the 

stadtholderate. De Witt's position was, however, too strong for 

this Orangist attempt to seize power to succeed. In November, 

he promised Louis never to conclude a separate peace with 

England. On 11 December he openly declared that the only 

acceptable peace terms would be either a return to the status 

quo ante bellum, or a quick end to hostilities under auti 

possidetis clause.  

At the end of 1665, Henri Buat a Frenchman with connections 

to the House of Orange became involved in unofficial 

correspondence with Sir Gabriel Sylvius, who was acting on 

behalf of Lord Arlington, a minister of Charles II. Their 

correspondence was a means for the Dutch and English 

governments to explore possibilities of peace without 

commitment. 

At an early stage, Buat made the Grand Pensionary Johan de 

Witt fully aware of this correspondence, and Buat added 

material provided by de Witt to his letter, including possible 

peace terms, although de Witt was unsure whether Charles was 

genuinely seeking peace. Moreover, 1665 had seen Scotland 

enter the war, principally in a privateering capacity in which 

they proved to be particularly successful. However, Scottish 

privateering activities in 1665 were limited, because of delays 

in the Scottish Admiral issuing regular Letters of marque at 

the start of the war.  
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Second year, 1666 

After Battle of Lowestoft, Louis XIV was concerned that the 

destruction of the Dutch fleet would allow the English fleet to 

interfere with his plans in the Spanish Netherlands, so he 

again offered mediation, but as his credibility as mediator been 

undermined, this offer was rejected by England. Louis declared 

war on England on 16 January 1666, and the anti-English 

alliance was strengthened in the winter of 1666, when, in 

February, Frederick III of Denmark also declared war after 

receiving a large subsidy. Next, Brandenburg which had earlier 

been prompted by France to offer mediation, threatened to 

attack Münster from the east: as the promised English 

subsidies had remained largely hypothetical, Von Galen made 

peace with the Republic in April at Cleves.  

By February 1666, the negotiations using Buat as an 

intermediary had progressed to the stage where de Witt invited 

Charles II to start formal peace negotiations. An outline of the 

English peace proposals was forwarded through Buat but 

rejected by de Witt pending clarification of its terms. No 

clarification was provided, only repeated English insistence 

that someone duly authorised should be sent to London to 

negotiate peace. Both the States of Holland and the French 

ambassador rejected this proposal. During these negotiations, 

Buat was in contact with leading Orangists, including the Lord 

of Zuylestein and the Rotterdam regent Johan Kievit, although 

the Prince himself was not involved.  

By the spring of 1666, the Dutch had rebuilt their fleet with 

much heavier ships, thirty of them possessing more cannon 

than any Dutch ship available in early 1665, and threatened to 
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join forces with the French. The greater part of the French fleet 

was in the Mediterranean under the duc de Beaufort, and 

Louis intended that much of this would be brought into the 

Atlantic to join up with the Atlantic squadron commanded by 

Abraham Duquesne. The combined fleet would then, it was 

intended, link up with the Dutch in the English Channel and 

outnumber the English fleet.  

Despite administrative and logistic difficulties, an English fleet 

of some eighty ships, under the joint command of the Duke of 

Albemarle and Prince Rupert of the Rhine, set sail at the end of 

May 1666. The French intention to bring the bulk of their 

Mediterranean fleet to join the Dutch fleet at Dunkirk was 

known to Prince Rupert by 10 May and discussed by Charles 

and his Privy Council on 13 May. When the Duke of Albemarle 

was informed, he agreed to detach a squadron of 20 generally 

fast or well-armed ships under Prince Rupert to block the 

Strait of Dover, provided he were left with at least 70 ships to 

fight the Dutch. Rupert was detached on 29 May (Julian 

calendar) to prevent Beaufort passing through the English 

Channel to join the Dutch fleet. In the event the French fleet 

did not appear, because Beaufort, who had left Toulon in April 

1666 with 32 fighting ships, delayed at Lisbon for six weeks, 

during which time the English and Dutch fleets fought the 

Four Days' Battle, one of the longest naval engagements in 

history.  

Leaving the Downs, Albemarle came upon De Ruyter's fleet of 

85 ships at anchor, and he immediately engaged the nearest 

Dutch ship before the rest of the fleet could come to its 

assistance. The Dutch rearguard under Lieutenant-Admiral 

Cornelis Tromp withdrew upon a starboard tack, taking the 
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battle toward the Flemish shoals, compelling Albemarle to turn 

about to prevent being outflanked by the Dutch rear and 

centre. This culminated in a ferocious unremitting battle that 

raged until nightfall. At daylight on 2 June, Albemarle's 

strength of operable vessels was reduced to 44 ships, but with 

these, he renewed the battle tacking past the enemy four times 

in close action. With his fleet in too poor a condition to 

continue to challenge, he then retired towards the Thames 

Estuary with the Dutch in pursuit. 

The following day Albemarle ordered the damaged ships to 

lead, protecting them from the Dutch fleet by stationing his 

most powerful ships as a rearguard on the 3rd, until Prince 

Rupert, returning with his twenty ships, joined him. During 

this stage of the battle, Vice-Admiral George Ayscue, 

accidentally grounded in the Prince Royal, one of the nine 

remaining "big ships", and surrendered. This was the last time 

in history that an English admiral surrendered in battle. After 

this loss and the return of several badly damaged ships to 

port, Albemarle, reinforced by Rupert's fresh squadron had 52 

ships to face the Dutch with 57 ships. After Rupert broke the 

Dutch line and, with Albemarle attacked Tromp with superior 

numbers, de Ruyter decided the battle on the fourth day, by a 

surprise all-out attack when Tromp seemed about to be 

defeated. When the English retreated, De Ruyter was reluctant 

to follow, perhaps because of lack of gunpowder.  

The battle ended with both sides claiming victory: the English 

because they contended Dutch Lieutenant Admiral Michiel de 

Ruyter had retreated first, the Dutch because they had 

inflicted much greater losses on the English, who lost ten 

ships against the Dutch four. Although the Dutch claim seems 
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more valid, their rejoicing was out of proportion to what had 

been achieved. It had taken four days to force a weaker, and 

before Rupert's return much weaker, English opponent that 

had close to defeating them on the second and fourth days. 

and their belief that the English fleet was destroyed as a 

fighting force was shown to be false a few weeks later.  

One more major sea battle would be fought in the conflict. St. 

James's Day Battle of 4 and 5 August ended in English victory, 

but failed to decide the war as the Dutch fleet escaped 

annihilation, although suffering heavy casualties. At this 

stage, simply surviving was sufficient for the Dutch, as the 

English could hardly afford to replace their losses even after a 

victory. Tactically indecisive, with the Dutch losing two ships 

and the English one, the battle would have enormous political 

implications. Cornelis Tromp, commanding the Dutch rear, had 

defeated his English counterpart, but was accused by De 

Ruyter of being responsible for the plight of the main body of 

the Dutch fleet by chasing the English rear squadron as far as 

the English coast. As Tromp was the champion of the Orange 

party, the conflict led to much party strife. Because of this, 

Tromp was fired by the States of Holland on August 13.  

In addition to proposing peace to de Witt, Arlington and 

Sylvius had plotted to provoke Orangist coup d'état against the 

Republic, to restore the stadtholderate, overthrow de Witt and 

end the war. Five days after St. James's Day Battle, Charles 

sent another peace offer, again using Buat as an intermediary. 

Sylvius also sent Buat details of the plot: these were for his 

contacts in the Orange party but were mistakenly included by 

Buat with the peace offer handed to the Grand Pensionary. 

Buat was arrested and those most involved in the conspiracy, 
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including Kievit, fled to England. De Witt used the evidence of 

the plot to isolate the Orange movement and reaffirm his 

commitment to the French alliance. Buat was condemned for 

treason and beheaded in October 1666.  

The mood in the Republic now turned very belligerent, because 

on 19 August, the English Vice-Admiral Robert Holmes raided 

the Vlie estuary and destroyed up to 150 merchantmen 

sheltering there valued at around £1 million, with only ten 

escaping, in an action later known as Holmes's Bonfire. 

The next day Holmes' men also landed on the island of 

Terschelling and, finding little of value, they burnt the small 

town of West-Terschelling to the ground, an act regarded by 

the Dutch as senseless destruction of a harmless fishing 

village. In this, he was assisted by a Dutch captain, Laurens 

Heemskerck, who had fled from the Netherlands for cowardice 

shown during the battle of Lowestoft, and was afterwards 

condemned in absentia to perpetual banishment from the 

Netherlands.  

After the Fire of London in September, the Navy Board was 

unable to pay the wages of the fleet and began to discharge 

many sailors without paying their wages, ensuring that it 

would be impossible to send out a major fleet in 1667. Swedish 

mediation was offered in the autumn and informal discussions 

began, which led to the opening of formal negotiations in the 

following March. Charles was prepared to make some 

concessions, although he still required the return of the 

nutmeg island of Pulau Run and certain indemnities. The 

Dutch were unwilling to concede even his reduced demands, 

although discussions continued.  
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The extent of Scottish privateering greatly increased in this 

year with the issue of twenty-five commissions in the three 

months from April 1666, the start of an intense 17-month 

period in which 108 Dutch, French and Danish vessels were 

recorded as captured by twenty or so Scottish privateers. 

Their success arose from the strategic position of Scotland, 

once most of the Atlantic seaborne trade of northern Europe 

was diverted around Scotland to avoid the English Channel, 

and the Dutch whaling and herring fleets operated in waters 

north and east of Scotland, so they were vulnerable to Scottish 

privateers. Apart from ships of the Dutch East India Company, 

many Dutch merchant ships and of its Danish ally were poorly 

armed and undermanned.  

Third year, 1667 

By early-1667, the financial position of the English crown had 

become desperate. The kingdom lacked sufficient funds to 

maintain their fleet's seaworthiness, so it was decided in 

February that the heavy ships were to remain laid up at 

Chatham, with only a small Flying Fleet manned to attack 

Dutch merchant shipping, which lowered morale in the fleet 

and prevented merchant ship from sailing and colliers from 

reaching London without fear of Dutch interception. Clarendon 

informed Charles as to his only two options: to make very 

substantial concessions to Parliament, or to initiate peace 

talks with the Dutch under their conditions, which began in 

March. Charles had wished for peace talks to be held in 

England or, failing that, at the Hague, but the Dutch offered 

three other cities where support for the House of Orange was 

less and Charles selected Breda, in the southern Generality 



Pre–United States History: 1600–1699, Volume 4 

859 

 

Lands. In the meantime, a Dutch fleet was assembled in the 

Texel under the command of William Van Ghent. One of the 

motives was to destroy the Scottish privateering fleet in the 

Firth of Forth. In a series of running encounters with Scottish 

privateers at sea, and various shore batteries (particularly at 

Burntisland) the Dutch were seen off with the loss of three 

ships damaged.  Thereafter, Scottish privateers followed the 

Dutch into the North Sea where they picked off stragglers 

without any difficulty. In the southern part of Britain, things 

did not go so well.  

As England was also at war with France, Charles sent envoys 

to Paris in March for unofficial preliminary talks on peace 

terms. In view of deteriorating Franco-Dutch relations, these 

talks turned to a third option not considered by Clarendon: a 

secret alliance with France. In April, Charles concluded his 

first secret treaty with Louis, stipulating that England would 

not enter into alliances that might oppose a French conquest of 

the Spanish Netherlands. In May, the French invaded, starting 

the War of Devolution. Charles hoped, by means of stalling the 

talks at Breda, to gain enough time to ready his fleet to obtain 

concessions from the Dutch, using the French advance as 

leverage.  

De Witt was aware of Charles's general intentions – though not 

of the secret treaty. He decided to attempt to end the war with 

a single stroke. Ever since its actions in Denmark in 1659, 

involving many landings to liberate the Danish Isles, the Dutch 

navy had made a special study of amphibious operations; the 

Dutch Marine Corps was established in 1665. After the Four 

Days' Battle, a Dutch marine contingent had been ready to 

land in Kent or Essex following a possible Dutch victory at sea. 
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The Dutch fleet was, however, unable to force a safe passage 

into the Thames as navigational buoys had been removed and a 

strong English squadron was ready to dispute their passage. 

But now there was no English fleet able to contest a similar 

attack. De Witt conceived the plan for a landing of marines, to 

be overseen by his brother Cornelius, at Chatham where the 

fleet lay effectively defenceless, to destroy it.  

In June, De Ruyter, with Cornelis de Witt supervising, 

launched the Dutch raid on the Medway at the mouth of the 

River Thames. After capturing the fort at Sheerness, the Dutch 

fleet went on to break through the massive chain protecting 

the entrance to the Medway and, on the 13th, attacked the laid 

up English fleet.  

The daring raid remains one of the largest disasters in the 

history of the Royal Navy and its predecessors. Fifteen of the 

Royal Navy's remaining ships were destroyed, either by the 

Dutch or by being scuttled by the English to block the river. 

Three of the eight remaining "big ships" were burnt: Royal Oak, 

the new Loyal London and Royal James. The largest English 

flagship, HMS Royal Charles, was abandoned by its skeleton 

crew, captured without a shot being fired, and towed back to 

the United Provinces as a trophy. Its counter decoration 

depicting the royal arms is on display in the Rijksmuseum. 

Fortunately for the English, the Dutch marines spared the 

Chatham Dockyard, at the time England's largest industrial 

complex; a land attack on the docks themselves would have set 

back English naval power for a generation. A Dutch attack on 

the English anchorage at Harwich had to be abandoned 

however after the battle of Landguard Fort ended in Dutch 

failure.  
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The Dutch success made a major psychological impact 

throughout England, with London feeling especially vulnerable 

just a year after the Great Fire of London. However, for a 

second time, the Dutch had been unable to land substantial 

land forces in Britain, or even do substantial damage to the 

Chatham dockyard. The raid did, together with the English 

financial crisis, speed up negotiations. All this, together with 

the cost of the war, of the Great Plague and the extravagant 

spending of Charles's court, produced a rebellious atmosphere 

in London. Clarendon ordered the English envoys at Breda to 

sign a peace quickly, as Charles feared an open revolt.  

War in the Caribbean 

The Second Anglo-Dutch war had spread to the Caribbean 

islands, and in late 1665 an English force, mainly consisting of 

buccaneers under the command of Lieutenant-colonel Edward 

Morgan, the Deputy Governor of Jamaica, assisted by his 

nephew Thomas Morgan, quickly captured the Dutch islands of 

Sint Eustatius and Saba. After his uncle's death in December 

1665, Thomas Morgan was appointed as governor of these two 

islands. Also in late 1665, an English force from Jamaica and 

Barbados captured the Dutch possession of Tobago. The 

French declaration of war on the side of the Dutch altered the 

balance of power in the Caribbean and facilitated a Dutch 

counterattack. 

The first successes of the new allies were the French recapture 

of Tobago in August 1666, a joint Franco-Dutch recapture of 

Sint Eustatius in November 1666 and a French capture of the 

English island of Antigua in the same month. The arrival of a 

French squadron under Joseph-Antoine de La Barre in January 
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1667 allowed the French to occupy the English half of St Kitts 

and Montserrat, leaving only Nevis of the Leeward Islands in 

English hands, together with Jamaica and Barbados to the 

west.  

A Dutch force under Admiral Abraham Crijnssen, organised by 

the province of Zeeland, not the States General, arrived at 

Cayenne in February 1667 and captured Suriname from the 

English in the same month. Crijnssen delayed in Suriname 

until April, then sailed to Tobago, which had been vacated by 

the French after expelling the English garrison, where he 

rebuilt the fort and left a small garrison. Although Crijnssen 

was instructed not to delay, it was not until early May that he 

and de La Barre combined forces, agreeing to a Franco-Dutch 

invasion of Nevis, which sailed on 17 May 1667. However, their 

attack was repelled in the Battle of Nevis on 17 May by a 

smaller English force. This confused naval action was the only 

one in this war where all three navies fought: it failed largely 

through de la Barre's incompetence. After this failed attack, 

Crijnssen left in disgust and sailed to the north to attack the 

Virginia colony, while the French, under de la Barre, moved to 

Martinique. The Battle of Nevis restored English naval control 

in the Caribbean and allowed the early recapture of Antigua 

and Montserrat and an unsuccessful attack on St Kitts soon 

after.  

In April, a new English squadron of nine warships and two 

fireships under the command of Rear-Admiral Sir John Harman 

sailed for the West Indies, reaching them in early June. 

Harman encountered the French with seven larger and 14 

smaller warships and three fireships under la Barre anchored 

under the batteries of Fort St Pierre, Martinique. He attacked 
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on 6 July and sunk, burnt or captured all but two the French 

ships. With the French fleet neutralised, Harman then attacked 

the French at Cayenne on 15 September forcing its garrison to 

surrender. 

The English fleet then went on to recapture Fort Zeelandia in 

Suriname in October. News of these English victories only 

reached England in September, after the Treaty of Breda had 

been signed, and possessions captured after 31 July had to be 

returned. Crijnssen sailed back to the Caribbean only to find 

the French fleet destroyed and the English back in possession 

of Suriname.  

Treaty of Breda 

On 31 July 1667, what is generally known as the Treaty of 

Breda concluded peace between England and the Netherlands. 

The treaty allowed the English to keep possession of New 

Netherland, while the Dutch kept control over Pulau Run and 

the valuable sugar plantations of Suriname and regained 

Tobago, St Eustatius, and its West African trading posts. This 

uti possidetis solution was later confirmed in the Treaty of 

Westminster. 

The Act of Navigation was modified in favour of the Dutch by 

England agreeing to treat Germany as part of the Netherlands' 

commercial hinterland, so that Dutch ships would now be 

allowed to carry German goods to English ports.  

In the same date and also at Breda, a public treaty was 

concluded between England and France that stipulated the 

return to England of the former English part of St Christopher 
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and the islands of Antigua and Montserrat, all of which the 

French had occupied in the war, and that England should 

surrender Acadia to France, although the extent of Acadia was 

not defined. This public treaty had been preceded by a secret 

treaty signed on 17 April in which, in addition to these 

exchanges of territory, Louis and Charles agreed not to enter 

into alliances opposed to the interests of the other, by which 

Louis secured the neutrality of England in the war he planned 

against Spain.  

The order of priorities whereby the Dutch preferred to give up 

what would become a major part of the United States, and 

instead retain a tropical colony, would seem strange by 

present-day standards. However, in the 17th century tropical 

colonies producing agricultural products which could not be 

grown in Europe were deemed more valuable than ones with a 

climate similar to that of Europe where Europeans could settle 

in comfort.  

The peace was generally seen as a personal triumph for Johan 

de Witt and an embarrassment to the Orangists, who seemed 

reluctant to support the war and eager to accept a 

disadvantageous early peace. The Republic was jubilant about 

the Dutch victory. De Witt used the occasion to induce four 

provinces to adopt the Perpetual Edict of 1667 abolishing the 

stadtholderate forever. 

He used the weak position of Charles II to force him into the 

Triple Alliance of 1668 which again forced Louis to temporarily 

abandon his plans for the conquest of the southern 

Netherlands. But de Witt's success would eventually produce 

his downfall and nearly that of the Republic with it. Both 
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humiliated monarchs intensified their secret cooperation and 

would, joined by the bishop of Münster, attack the Dutch in 

1672 in the Third Anglo-Dutch War. De Witt was unable to 

counter this attack, as he could not create a strong Dutch 

army for lack of money and for fear that it would strengthen 

the position of the young William III. That same year de Witt 

was assassinated, and William became stadtholder.  
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